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PART I

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Interest income:

LLOBIIS. ...ttt sttt sttt sttt b et bbb stk b e e be e ne st ne et b e e b $ 515 $ 471 $ 1016 $ 935
1SS U ] 1= OSSR 223 194 423 401
TradiNG SECUITIES......cviieiie ettt st et e e sb e e 91 65 186 113
ShOrt-terM INVESIMENES ..o b 26 20 48 36
@13 1= TS 14 12 29 22
I r= 0] (=] (=TS A T Todo] 4T 869 762 1,702 1,507
Interest expense:
D= 010 = 54 36 100 71
Short-term DOITOWINGS .....cc.eiieeiee e e 11 10 22 16
LONG-TEM AEDL ... e 173 152 340 322
@13 1= TS 5 (109) 8 (94)
TOtal INTEIESt EXPENSE.....cviicviiecteieete sttt sttt st se s sae e b e e s te e te e eteeas 243 89 470 315
NEL TNEErESE INCOME .....eeeieeiieete ettt e 626 673 1,232 1,192
ProvisSion for Credit I0SSES.......ciiiiieiciece et ere (6) 85 47 101
Net interest income after provision for credit [0SSES........ccoeveeevevecvecicicecececes 632 588 1,185 1,091
Other revenues:
Credit Cart fEES ..ottt sae e 11 13 21 27
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ........coerverieieieeeeere e sreees 190 182 372 355
THRUSE INCOMIE...c ettt et ettt 46 32 81 63
LI o [ W =YL= LU 24 15 57 148
Net other-than-temporary impairment 10SSeS™Y.............oeveeevereseeiee s — (5) — 7)
Other securities gains (I0SSES), NEL......cccuriererirere e e 35 (") 58 15
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.........ccovoviivinninccnccecrec 53 51 109 98
Residential mortgage banking reVENUE.............coveireeneenee e 15 22 34 70
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives........... 56 (44) 141 (16)
(@1 0T g o) 1= TS 27) 2 (6) 8
TOtal OtNEE FEVENUES.......cviieiesecti ettt st st sttt 403 261 867 761
Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee DENEFITS...... ..o 267 223 513 438
Support services from HSBC affiliates.......oocvveeveiriinireneeceeseesees 385 385 737 739
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL.....iieeeeieeesteeieeseeesteetesree e eseesseeseeeeesreeeesseeneesneensesseens 59 52 115 109
(@1 L= o= 1S =S 139 216 262 340
Total OPErating EXPENSES......ccveiveiriereitestereeee e e ete s e e sre e ste st e besbesaessesee e e e esessessesrenras 850 876 1,627 1,626
Income (10SS) DEfOre INCOME taX........coeirireierere e e 185 (27) 425 226
Income tax eXpPenSe (DENEFIL) ..o s 98 (206) 174 (57)
NEEINCOME ...ttt e ee e e e s e s s s en s e s s s sn s s s s snen s s s s anannas $ 87 $ 179 $ 251 $ 283

@ During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, there were no other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") losses on securities recognized in other
revenues and no OTTI lossesin the non-credit component of securities recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI"), net of tax.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, OTTI losses on securities held-to-maturity totaling $5 million and $7 million, respectively, were
recognized in other revenues. There were no OTTI losses in the non-credit component of such impaired securities recognized in AOCI, net of tax.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
NEL INCOME .. ..evteteececeetct ettt e e ss s s s s s s e e e s s s s enen e $ 8 $ 179 $ 251 $ 283
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax:
INVESEMENT SECUMTIES ...ttt sttt (213) 175 (241) 305
Other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity..........c..cccue.ee — 2 — 3
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges..........coveeneiieinennenseseseeee 31 (15) 12 (35)
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans..........ccoeoveeieiiennensereeseeee — — 1 —
Total other comprehensive INCOME (10SS).......ccuveueiriereeieireereeeeeeeeeeeee e (182) 162 (228) 273
Comprenensive iNCOME (I0SS) .......cvoveueuieeieerie et e st s st seenens $ (95 $ 341 $ 23 $ 556

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)
June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions, except share
data)

Assets®

Cash and dUE FIOM DENKS........cviuiiiieiieecee ettt ettt ettt ettt $ 1,077 % 891
Interest bearing depoSitS With DANKS...........cccouiiiiiicicc et ee 20,059 30,807
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementSto reSell........coovvveeieveeiseiesesceseesee e 16,112 1,413
TTAOING BSSELS.... e veueiteietiiteti ettt s et st ettt et et et e e st e seesessese st ase et e s et e s b ese et e s eseeEensebesaese et ensabeseenesbe e ebeseeneabaseenesternaran 17,771 21,092
SECUNTIES AVAI AN E-FOM-SAIE......c.iieece bbbt bbbt neetn 33,085 30,140
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $14.3 billion and $13.7 billion at June 30, 2015 and December 31,

2014, respectively) 14,160 13,469
0 OSSRt 83,617 77,741
Less—allowance for credit |osses. 648 680

Loans, net 82,969 77,061
Loans held for sale (includes $315 million and $384 million designated under fair value option at June 30,

2015 and December 31, 2014, FESPECHIVEIY)....c.vrirurieiririeieererieiee sttt ettt seenan 518 612
Properties and EQUIPMENT, NMEL..........cii ittt eae et te e eae st et ae st ese s b e e e sessesesae s esesbenessesesessanessenen 241 247
INEANGIDIE ASSELS, NEL ...ttt ettt a et b e e e st b e e ae et e se et e e e be e e Re e be s ese b eneebe s eressanensenen 202 206
L7000 11 SRSt 1,612 1,612
(011 = 55 SOt 8,812 7,989
TOAL ASSBES. ...ttt e ettt et e et et e e e st e saeeseeesaeeeeeesaeeeeeseesaeesaeesaeeseeesaeeeseeeseeseeaeeeateeneesaeeeaeeseeeereesreeereeereereenns $ 196,618 $ 185,539
Liabilities®™ -
Debt:

Deposits in domestic offices:
NONINEEIESt DEAING ...ttt ettt sttt e st e et se e s s e e s s s naen $ 30950 $ 29,715
Interest bearing (includes $6.6 billion and $7.3 hillion designated under fair value option at June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, FESPECHIVEIY) .....cuvvieeeeceecrereeseeeeteseesee et sse s snes 80,376 71,191
Depositsin foreign offices:
NONINEENESE DEAITING ...ttt sttt b e s et e e b e st e s e et e e eae e b e seeb e e ebe st eseese s esesbeneesenee 736 850
R L= ==l o= 4 oo ST SRS 10,485 14,362
B0z 0 = o0 LS 1 OO OSSOSO 122,547 116,118
Short-term borrowings (includes $2.1 billion designated under fair value option at June 30, 2015 ............... 12,728 12,795
Long-term debt (includes $8.9 billion and $8.8 billion designated under fair value option at June 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014, FESPECHIVEIY) ....cuvvuvieeereeeeeeeeeseeseeseseeesss s ts st ssesssssssssssssssssssssssessssesssssnsesansasans 30,567 27,524
QL0120 = o OSSPSR 165,842 156,437
TrAOING HADHITIES.....cvieeeiieicte et a ettt e se st e e et e saese st eneebeseenesbe s eneseenesba e enestennarans 6,448 8,164
Interest, taxes and Other [1ADIHTITIES .........c.iiriiieire bbb 3,675 3,971
TOTAI THADIIITIES. ...ttt bbbt bbbkt b bbbt e 175,965 168,572
Shareholders' equity
PrEFEITEA SEOCK ...tttk bbbttt b et e bkt e bttt ne e 1,265 1,565
Common shareholders' equity:
Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 714 and 713 shares issued and outstanding at June
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, reSPECHIVEIY) ....c.oiueiiieieei ettt es — —
Additional Paid-iN CAPITAL ........coueueeereieerr ettt ettt s et ne e naenn 18,169 14,170
S =TT aTc o = g 1T o TS 1,448 1,233
Accumulated other COMPrENENSIVE IOSS........c.ciieeieireeerer ettt e e e neenen (229) Q)
Total commMON SNArENOIAEIS EOUILY .....eeeueieeeteeeereeet ettt s e e e e e e e see e eaeseenesbe e eneseeneenens 19,388 15,402
TOtal SHArENOIAEIS” BOUILY......ceeuicteieteeieec ettt ettt ettt be et et e saesesba e ebeseenesbe e eaeseensebaseenesseneatans 20,653 16,967
Total liabilities and sShareholders” EUILY.........c.ccoueeieuiecec ettt st e be e ae b ebans $ 196,618 $ 185539

@ The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated variable interest entities ("VIES") as of June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assetsand liabilities excludeintercompany balancesthat eliminatein consolidation. See Note 16, "Variable
Interest Entities," for additional information.
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June 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Assets
- $ 355 % 380
$ 355 % 380
Liabilities -
[0l To o 1= 44 0L o PP $ 92 % 92
Interest, taxes and other liabilities.... 84 75
B0 = IR TT= o1 =S TSSRTRPRN $ 176  $ 167

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

2014

(dollars are in millions)

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning Of PEMIOG. ...ttt ee s e e b ese e e s ene e eennnen $ 1565 $ 1,565
Preferred StOCK redEMPLION. ..o ettt et e et b ettt e e ae st e e b e e enesbeneebe e eneen (300) —
[2F = aTorcT A= g o ol 1= o o SRS 1,265 1,565
Common stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PEITOA ........c.ciriiiriee e — —
Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning Of PEITOA.........c.uiiiieeee ettt ettt ae st be e ne e e e be e ne s 14,170 14,106
Capital CONLIIDULION FrOM PAIENT ........ceieieeeeerere et nn e 4,000 —
EMPIOyee DENEFIT PIANS ....oveiicee bbb 1) —
2 F = aTorcT = g o ol = o o H SRS 18,169 14,106
Retained earnings

Balance at beginning Of PEITOA. ..ottt st e b et b et be b b e e 1,233 952
[N = T o USRS 251 283
Cash dividends declared 0N Preferred StOCK ..o e (36) (36)
2F = aTorcT A= g o ol = o o SRS 1,448 1,199
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance at beginning Of PEMIOG. ...ttt 1) (159)
Other comprehensive income (10SS), NEL Of 18X ......vcveiriririrerreeenereeee et neees (228) 273
2 T =0T [ 0 4 oo ST (229) 114
Total common shareholders' equity 19,388 15,419
Total SHArENOIAEIS’ EOUILY ......eiviieiisiciee ettt se b b e e e s b e e es e s e sessenentensenenean $ 20,653 $ 16,984

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

2014

(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities

N B 00T OSSP $ 251 $ 283
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 77 56

Provision for credit 10SSes........c.cocovvrreveririene, 47 101

Other-than-temporary impairment related to securities held-to-Maturity .........c.coeeenrieiinnnen e — 7

Net realized gains on securities availabl €-fOr-SAlE.........couieirreeireee e (58) (15)

Net change in other assets and [HahilitIES ..........cvrvrirereiere e es (564) (538)

Net changein loans held for sale:

OFQINALTIONS OF 10BNS.....c.cviteiiiieitetire ettt b et b et h e b bt s b bt st b et e et (1,341) (654)
Sales and collection of 10aNS hEld fOr SAIE..........ciiiiiie e 1,276 537

Net changein trading assetS and [HabiliTtIES..........ccivieieiiiicece e 1,605 1,678

Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for Sale..........cciiiirciiinniesc s 9 —

Loss (gain) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives. (141) 16
Net cash provided by Operating @CtiVItIES .........c.ciiirieiireere bbbt 1,161 1,471
Cash flows from investing activities
Net changein interest bearing deposits With DanKS..........co.oeeiiii e 10,748 (4,332
Net change in federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementSto resell ..........ccoovvoereineneieneirenieens (14,699) (2192)
Securities available-for-sale:

Purchases of securities available-fOr-Sale ..o s (13,190) (6,512)

Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale 8,692 15,999

Proceeds from maturities of securities available-fOr-Sal@...........ccuiiiiiiiiicne e 995 1,541
Securities held-to-maturity:

Purchases of SecuritieS NElO-t0-MEEUNILY .........cerririeeeirereeer ettt eene s (1,995) —

Proceeds from maturities of securities held-t0-MELUIILY ...........coo oo 1,288 153
Changeinloans:

Originations, NEL OF COHBCLIONS ........cuiiriiieiiiririet ettt bbbttt bbbt e et (5,943) (5,441)

[0z g IR o) Lo B (ol { gl o o 7= 1= SO SRTSTRSTSRN 130 692
Net cash used for acquisitions of Properties and EQUIPIMENE ..........cccorreerrireerrieeeresie et sbe e (25) (10)
OENET, NMEL ...t ettt s e b et e te b e seebe st esesbeasebe s ese et ensebe s esseeensebeseenesbeseebesbensebeseeaesteneeteseenin (387) 10
Net cash provided by (Used in) INVESIING 8CHVITIES.........cciiueerireeeereree et neens (14,386) 1,908
Cash flows from financing activities
N T= Qo= TaTo TR g e (= o £SO 6,428 2,755
Debt:

Net change in Short-terM DOMTOWINGS.......c.cciiieiiiieicieiei ettt se bbb e e b e s se st e e esesneneas (69) (6,229)

1SSUANCE OF [ONG-TEIMN AEIL ...ttt b e bbb e e b e b e e e be b e e ebeeneneas 12,128 3,887

Repayment of long-term debt (8,739) (2,392
Preferred StOCK FEAEMPLION. ..ottt ettt be e be st e se et e e e ae s e e se b e e esesbeneesensesessanessensaneas (300) —
Capital CONLIIDULTION FrOM PAIENT .......coviveiiiieeiecer ettt bbbt b ekt ne b b e et es 4,000 —
Other decreases in Capital SUMPIUS ........c.oveiiiieiiee ettt et ae st eebesbese et e e enesaeneebeeenas 1) —
DIVIAENAS PEIG........vevetereteieter ettt e bbb bbb e bbb bbb A b b e bbb e e b b et b b e e bbb (36) (36)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 13,411 (2,015)
Net change in cash and due frOmM DANKS..........co.coiiieeee et sb e b e e s nsene s 186 1,364
Cash and due from banks at beginning Of PEFTOM............ceiiireiiere s 891 961
Cash and due from banks at eNd OF PEFIOU............cciieiiirieierieie ettt besae e be e enas $ 1077 $ 2325

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financia statements.
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1. Organization and Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, isaNew York State based bank holding company and
anindirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North AmericaHoldingsInc. ("HSBC North America'), whichisanindirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of HSBC USA and its subsidiaries (collectively "HUSI") have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financia
information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, aswell asin accordance with predominant
practices within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all norma and recurring
adjustments considered necessary for afair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim
periods have been made. HUSI may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financial statements as "we", "us" or
"our". These unaudited interim consolidated financial statementsshould bereadin conjunctionwith our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for theyear ended December 31, 2014 (the"2014 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been madeto prior period amounts
to conform to the current period presentation.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered
indicative of resultsin future periods.
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2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Trading assets:
U.S. TIEASUIY ...ttt ettt sttt sttt ettt be e e bt e st s e e b et e e et besesese b et esess et et ese s ssebesenessssetete e nane $ 298 $ 2,675
U.S. Government agency issued Or QUAraNtEEA..........ccviuerievierierieriereeeeeee ettt neens 6 3
U.S. Government SPONSOred ENEENPHSES™...........ouuureereeeeeieseeseesssesessosssesssesesesssessssssssesssessssssssssseens 152 45
Obligations of U.S. states and political SUBJIVISIONS ........ccooeiriiieiniineereee e 581 591
ASSEL DACKE SECUITIES ...ttt 457 481
Corporate and fOreigN DONAS ..........oocii bbb et st 7,510 9,681
(@10 = o1 ) =SS 18 22
PrECIOUS MELAIS ...ttt b ettt 2,128 1,992
DS A7 (A= o1 USRS 3,931 5,602
TOtal trAdING @SSELS......cuciiiiietieeiecieteeee ettt ettt sttt et be e et eb e e e et et esese st sebensssebebene e sebenis $ 17,771 $ 21,092
Trading liabilities: -
Securities Sold, NOt YEL PUICNESEM...........cciuiiiiieeeeee ettt bbb bbb $ 669 $ 683
Payables for PreCioUS MELAIS .........ciiiiree e bbb — 22
DIENVALIVES, NEL ...ttt b bbb s re bRt p et n b b 5,779 7,459
Total trading [1@DIITIES..........cuiiieee bbb $ 6448 $ 8,164

@ Consists of mortgage backed securities of $152 million and $45 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA") at
June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, thefair value of derivativesincludedintrading assetsisnet of $4,678 million and $4,811
million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master netting
agreements with derivative counterparties.

At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of derivativesincluded in trading liabilitiesis net of $1,021 million and
$1,724 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting
agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments,” for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral.

10
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3. Securities

Our securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios consisted of the following:

Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
June 30, 2015 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. TFEASUIY .ot $10,738 $ 207 $ (125) $ 10,820
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES .........cvcvvirreccers s 699 — (13) 686
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........coeerererererenereee e 160 — — 160
Direct agency Obligations..........ccvirriirineiene e 4,039 178 (6) 4,211
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES .........cccvirreecerr s 11,893 53 177y 11,769
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........ccoeererrerereneseneeeseee e 564 6 2 568
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions..........c.ccceoveverreieinnennns 818 6 (12) 812
Asset backed securities collateralized by:
CommErCial MOMGAgES ......cverveeerieeriee et s 27 — — 27
HOME EOUILY ...ttt 91 — (8) 83
OLNEN ..o 108 — (14) 94
FOreign Dt SECUIMTIESD ...t ees e s e 3,703 5 (16) 3,692
EQUITY SECUFTIES......ui ittt sttt 162 3 2 163
Total available-for-Sale SECUNLIES..........ovciirrecieese s $ 33,002 $ 458 $  (375) $ 33,085
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES .........cvcvvirreecrr s $ 5059 $ 115 $ (10) $ 5,164
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES .........cvcvvirreecrr s 3,565 11 (14) 3,562
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........ccoeereerererereneseee e 5,507 71 (8) 5,570
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions..........c.ccccveeerecrneenenne 20 1 — 21
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 9 1 — 10
Total held-to-Maturity SECUNTIES.......c.cvieierereeerercicee et $ 14160 $ 199 $ (32) $ 14,327
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Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2014 Cost Gains Losses Value

(in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TTEASUMNY ..veveeieteteesesteteesestetesesessssesesesessste e e ssesesasesassssasesessssesessssnsesens $11,793 $ 276 $ (58) $ 12,011
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®

Mortgage-backed SECUMTIES..........ccovuieiciiiii s 520 5 ) 524

Collateralized mortgage obligations..........ccevvevenenereneereereeeeese e 35 — — 35

Direct agency obligationS..........ccoceverereiesese e e snens 3,995 217 (6) 4,206
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES........cccvviiere et eneas 7,985 101 (27 8,059

Collateralized mortgage obligations............ceovveverenenenereeeceeeeese e 329 3 2 330
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........ccccceeevvveieniennnnens 661 10 (4 667
Asset backed securities collateralized by:

CommeErcial MOMGAgES. ....veiereeeeeeeeeetes e sre e e e re e sae e e e e e resresresnens 43 — — 43

[ [0 TC =0 1] RN 97 — (8 89

@ 13T T 110 — (16) 9%
Foreign debt SECUMIESD)............oeeeeeeee e e 3921 6 (12) 3915
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt s 165 3 (N} 167

Total available-for-sale SECUNTIES........viviirire e $29654 $ 621 $ (135) $ 30,240

Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES.......ccivviieie et erea $ 4868 $ 120 $ () $ 4,987

U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES.......ccivviieie et erea 3,700 53 (D 3,752
Collateralized mortgage obligations...........ceovvevenenereneieeeceeeeese s 4,867 54 (1) 4,920
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........ccccceevevvevenienennns 23 1 — 24
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 11 1 — 12
Total held-to-mMaturity SECUFTIES........cccveiirere e $ 13469 $ 229 $ (3 $ 13,695

@ Includes securities at amortized cost of $826 million and $521 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively,
and $33 million and $34 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC") at June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.

@ At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, foreign debt securities consisted of $692 million and $689 million, respectively, of securities fully backed by
foreign governments. The remainder of foreign debt securities represents public sector entity, bank or corporate debt.

®  Includes securities at amortized cost of $3,406 million and $3,185 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, and $1,653 million and $1,683 million issued and guaranteed by FHLMC at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Net unrealized gains decreased within the available-for-sale portfolio in the six months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to rising
yieldson longer-term U.S. Treasury and U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities coupled with increased investments
in these securities aswell as sales of U.S. Treasury securities that were in a net unrealized gain position at December 31, 2014.
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Thefollowing table summarizesgrossunrealized | ossesand rel ated fair val uesas of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 classified
asto the length of time the losses have existed:

June 30, 2015

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury ......cc.c.....

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Asset backed securities.
Foreign debt securities..
Equity securities............

Securities available-for-sale.........cccocvvveeenennne.

Securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Securities held-to-maturity

December 31, 2014

(dollars are in millions)

33 $ (114 $ 4322 4 $ (11 $ 347
158 (16) 937 18 3) 189
62 (171) 6,883 9 (8) 119
45 7 419 21 (5) 164
— — — 9 (22) 192
7 (16) 2,439 1 — 196
2) 157 — — —
306 $ (326) $ 15,157 62 $ (49) $ 1,207
257 $  (10) $ 851 49 $ — 3 —
132 (22) 2,246 713 — 1
1 — 1 3 —
300 $ (32) $ 3,008 765 $ — 3
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year

Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

Securities available-for-sae:

U.S Treasury ................

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Asset backed securities.
Foreign debt securities..
Equity securities............

Securities available-for-sale...........coccecvevinee.

Securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises......
U.S. Government agency issued or

guaranteed .................

Obligations of U.S. states and political

subdivisions...............
Securities held-to-maturity

(dollars are in millions)

6 $ (470 $ 3459 4 $ (1) $ 1546
2 (1) 128 24 (6) 391
30 (20) 2,046 10 9) 213
34 2 146 23 2) 194
1 — 3 9 (24) 199
5 ) 1,805 3 ©) 898
1 (1) 158 — — —
79 $ (80) $ 7,745 73 % (55 $ 3441

144 $ @ $ 394 47 $ — 3 —
103 ) 985 800 — 2
— — — 3 — 1
247 $ 3 $ 1,379 850 $ — $ 3

Although the fair value of aparticular security isbelow its amortized cost, it does not necessarily result in acredit loss and hence
an other-than-temporary impairment. The decline in fair value may be caused by, among other things, theilliquidity of the market.
We have reviewed the securities for which thereisan unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance with our
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accounting policies, discussed further below. At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, wedo not consider any of our debt securities
to be other-than-temporarily impaired as we expect to recover their amortized cost basis and we neither intend nor expect to be
required to sell these securities prior to recovery, evenif that equatesto holding securitiesuntil their individual maturities. However,
other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future periods if the credit quality of the securities deteriorates.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On aquarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether there have been any
events or economic circumstancesto indicate that asecurity with an unrealized | oss has suffered other-than-temporary impairment.
A debt security is considered impaired if itsfair value is less than its amortized cost at the reporting date. If impaired, we assess
whether the impairment is other-than-temporary.

If we intend to sell the debt security or if it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the debt security before the
recovery of its amortized cost basis, the impairment is considered other-than-temporary and the unrealized loss is recorded in
earnings. Animpairment isalso considered other-than-temporary if acredit lossexists(i.e., the present value of the expected future
cash flowsisless than the amortized cost basis of the debt security). In the event a credit |oss exists, the credit 1oss component of
an other-than-temporary impairment is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss attributable to
factors other than credit lossis recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income (l10ss).

For al securities held in the avail able-for-sal e or held-to-maturity portfolios for which unrealized |osses attributed to factors other
than credit existed, we do not have the intention to sell and believe will not be required to sell the securities for contractual,
regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. For a compl ete description of the factors considered when analyzing debt
securities for impairments, see Note 5, "Securities,”" in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no material changesin our process
for assessing impairment during 2015.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, none of our debt securitieswere determined to have either initial other-than-
temporary impairment or changes to previous other-than-temporary impairment estimates relating to the credit component, as
such, there were no other-than-temporary impairment |osses recognized related to credit loss.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, none of our debt securities were determined to have initial other-than-
temporary impairment while two held-to-maturity asset-backed debt securities, which were previously determined to be other-
than-temporarily impaired, had changes to their other-than-temporary impairment estimates related to the credit component. The
additional credit loss associated with the impaired debt securities, which reflects the excess of amortized cost over the present
valueof expected futurecash flows, was$5 millionand $7 million during thethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2014, respectively,
and was recorded as a component of net other-than-temporary impairment losses in the accompanying consolidated statement of
income.

The following table summarizes the rollforward of credit |osses which have been recognized in income on other-than-temporary
impaired securities that we do not intend to sell nor will likely be required to sell:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, 2014 June 30, 2014
(in millions)

Beginning balance of credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities for which a
portion of an other-than-temporary impairment was recognized in other
COMPrehensive iNCOME (I0SS) .....c.urueuiiririeiirerieiee sttt $ 63 $ 61
Increase in credit losses for which an other-than-temporary impairment was
Previously FECOGNIZEM ........c.eiveiiieeirieerieer ettt ettt ene e 5 7
Ending balance of credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities for which a
portion of an other-than-temporary impairment was recognized in other
COMPrehensive iNCoME (I0SS) ........cueiiiiiieeiieiteee sttt saens $ 68 $ 68

At June 30, 2015, we held 14 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also wrapped
by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $176 million of the total
aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $204 million at June 30, 2015. The gross unrealized losses on these monoline
wrapped securities were $22 million at June 30, 2015. We did not take into consideration the value of the monoline wrap of any
non-investment grade monolineinsurersas of June 30, 2015 and, therefore, we only considered thefinancial guarantee of monoline
insurers on securities for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary impairment on securities with afair value of $82 million.

At December 31, 2014, we held 15 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $183 million of
thetotal aggregatefair value of asset-backed securities of $226 million at December 31, 2014. The grossunrealized losseson these
monolinewrapped securitieswere $23 million at December 31, 2014. We did not take into consideration the value of the monoline
wrap of any non-investment grade monoline insurers as of December 31, 2014 and, therefore, we only considered the financial
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guarantee of monoline insurers on securities with a fair value of $89 million for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary
impairment.

As discussed above, certain asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio have an embedded financia guarantee
provided by monolineinsurers. Becausethefinancial guaranteeisnot aseparate and distinct contract from the asset-backed security,
they are considered as a single unit of account for fair value measurement and impairment assessment purposes. The monoline
insurers are regulated by the insurance commissioners of the relevant states and certain monoline insurers that write the financial
guarantee contracts are public companies. In evaluating the extent of our reliance on investment grade monoline insurance
companies, consideration is given to our assessment of the creditworthiness of the monoline and other market factors. We perform
both a credit aswell asaliquidity analysis on the monoline insurers each quarter. Our analysis also compares market-based credit
default spreads, when available, to assess the appropriateness of our monoline insurer’s creditworthiness. Based on the public
informationavailable, including theregulatory reviewsand actionsundertaken by the stateinsurance commissionsand the published
financial results, we determine the degree of reliance to be placed on the financial guarantee policy in estimating the cash flows
to be collected for the purpose of recognizing and measuring impairment loss.

A credit downgrade to non-investment gradeis key but not the only factor in determining the credit risk or the monoline insurer’s
ability to fulfill its contractual obligation under the financial guarantee arrangement. Although a monoline may have been down-
graded by the credit rating agencies or have been ordered to commuteits operations by the insurance commissioners, it may retain
the ability and the obligation to continue to pay claimsin the near term. We evaluate the short-term liquidity of and the ability to
pay claims by the monoline insurers in estimating the amounts of cash flows expected to be collected from specific asset-backed
securities for the purpose of assessing and measuring credit loss.

Other securities gains (losses), net Thefollowing table summarizesrealized gainsand | osses on investment securitiestransactions
attributable to available-for-sale securities:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
GroSSrealiZEA GAINS.......coiiieeeieree et $ 43 $ 25 % 73 $ 68
GroSSrEaliZEA IOSSES.......c.civeerteeste ettt 8) (32) (15) (53)
Net realized gaiNS (I0SSES) ....covevirieirieirieirieerieerie sttt $ 35 $ @) 58 $ 15
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Contractual Maturities and Yields The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair values of securities available-for-
sal e and securities held-to-maturity at June 30, 2015 by contractual maturity. Expected maturities differ from contractual maturities
because borrowers have theright to prepay obligations without prepayment penaltiesin certain cases. Securities available-for-sale
amounts exclude equity securities asthey do not have stated maturities. The table bel ow al so reflects the distribution of maturities
of debt securities held at June 30, 2015, together with the approximate taxable equivalent yield of the portfolio. The yields shown
are calculated by dividing annualized interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the amortization of premiums, by
the amortized cost of securities outstanding at June 30, 2015. Yields on tax-exempt obligations have been computed on ataxable
equivalent basis using applicable statutory tax rates.

After One After Five
Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years
Taxable Equivalent Basis Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury ....ccceveeveeeeeeeeeseseesresienns $ — —% $ 3,357 76% $ 4254 225% $ 3,127 3.22%
U.S. Government sponsored
ENLENPrISES ..ovveveveeeerieesieesiees e — — 2,066 3.12 1,790 2.60 1,042 3.02
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........ccveeereereienenneenes — — 7 421 39 389 12,411  2.68
Obligations of U.S. states and political
Subdivisions .........ccccceeeeiieiecice, — — 71 417 268 2.82 479 340
Asset backed securities.........ccooovvevenee. — — — — — — 226 332
Foreign debt securities..........ccoovvvveennene 406 2.35 3297 134 — - — _
Total amortized COSt.......ccvveevvrerirriiinnen $ 406 235% $ 8,798 156% $ 6,351 2.38% $ 17,285 2.83%
Total fair value......cccoooeoeveiececeeceiee $ 406 $ 8,896 $ 6471 $ 17,149

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

ENLEIPIISES cvuvivirrvereereree et $ — —% $ 92 139% $ 612 262% $ 4,355 2.96%
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........ccveeereeereieneneneenes — — 1 771 45 291 9,026 2.35
Obligations of U.S. states and political
sSubdivisions .........ccccoeeiieiiecece, 2 476 8 3.96 6 382 4 533
Asset backed securities.........ocoovveerenene — — — — — — 9 6.53
Total amortized COSt.......ccoovevreriiieiieee $ 2 476% $ 101 165% $ 663 265% $ 13,394 2.55%
Total fair value.......cceeveeeeeeeceiececece s $ 2 $ 102 $ 669 $ 13,554

Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock of $331 million and $632 million, respectively,
were included in other assets at June 30, 2015. Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock
of $108 million and $483 million, respectively, were included in other assets at December 31, 2014.
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4, Loans

L oans consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESIALE.........ccvii i e ens $ 11520 $ 10,300
Business and corporate Danking .............ccocoiicc s 19,712 17,819
GIOBE DANKING™ ...t et ss e ee e e es et ee s se e eneeee 28,942 26,387
Other COMIMEITIAN ... oottt ae et e s eesaesbesbeseeseente st e e eneeneens 3,422 3,581
TOtAl COMMIEICIAL........eeeeeeeeeeeee et st se e e e e e besbesresresbeseesretenteseensenseneeneens 63,596 58,087
Consumer loans:
RESIAENLIEI MOMGBgES ......eveveeetirietireeirieesie ettt e et s et st be e be e seens 17,233 16,661
HOME EQUITY MOIGAJES ..ot e 1,686 1,784
(@=L =0 SRS 692 720
OFNEI CONMSUMIEY ......eeeieieeeee ettt eeste s eesee st e e s e e e en e e e e e eseeseeaeeseetesaesaesbesbeseessenseneeneeneeneenes 410 489
QI o0 015 U011 RSSO 20,021 19,654
TOLE TOBMS. ... s $ 83617 $ 77,741

@ Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on a global basis. Also includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $4,607 million and $4,821 million at June 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively. See Note 13, "Related Party Transactions," for additional information regarding loans to HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination fees totaled $52 million and $34 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. At June
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we had a net unamortized premium on our loans of $12 million and $10 million, respectively.
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Aging Analysis of Past Due Loans The following table summarizes the past due status of our loans at June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014. The aging of past due amountsis determined based on the contractual delinquency status of payments under
the loan. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been made in accordance
with theloan terms. Delinquency statusis affected by customer account management policies and practices such asre-age, which
results in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency status to current.

Past Due
Total Past Due
At June 30, 2015 30-89days 90+days 30Daysor More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate..........cccoeeveveeveeeevenene $ 14 $ 21 % 35 $ 11485 $ 11,520
Business and corporate banking ..........ccccceeeeeereenenienenennn. 23 7 30 19,682 19,712
Global banKing.........ccoovvereiievereereeeee e — — — 28,942 28,942
Other COMMEICIA ......ceeeeieie e s 4 6 10 3,412 3,422
Total COMMEICIA ........ccoeieeiteceeeeece e 41 34 75 63,521 63,596
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages......covveereveererereereeeseseeeseseeseenes 356 831 1,187 16,046 17,233
Home equity MOMgagES. ... ..cvrvevereeereeereeeseeseseeeseeseeseseenes 13 52 65 1,621 1,686
(O o ] o o S 9 9 18 674 692
Other CONSUMET .......oeiiieie et 7 8 15 395 410
TOtal CONSUMEY......cceiiieeieiteete ettt et sre e s sre e 385 900 1,285 18,736 20,021
TOtal OGNS .....ciciceieececece et e $ 426 $ 934 $ 1,360 $ 82,257 $ 83,617
Past Due

Total Past Due
At December 31, 2014 30-89days 90+days 30Daysor More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate..........cooveeveveeieecesnenns $ 25 3 2 $ 47 $ 10,253 $ 10,300
Business and corporate banking ..........cccoceeeeeeieeerencnennn. 32 9 41 17,778 17,819
Global banKing..........cccceveveiieveeeeee e — — — 26,387 26,387
Other COMMEICIAl ....cveeevviereeeeecee e 15 6 21 3,560 3,581
Total COMMEICIA ........ccoeiieecrecieececre e 72 37 109 57,978 58,087
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages.......coveeveveereriereeeeeseee e 390 931 1,321 15,340 16,661
Home equity MOrgages..........ccoveerrriccenerscee s 21 56 77 1,707 1,784
Credit Cards.... ..o 11 10 21 699 720
Other CONSUMET .......cccvieetieeteeereeeteeeee et sre e e ereseereeeseeennes 9 9 18 471 489
TOtal CONSUMES.......c.eiitie ittt ettt seeere e 431 1,006 1,437 18,217 19,654
TOtal |OANS......cciiiiiece e e $ 503 $ 1,043 $ 1546 $ 76,195 $ 77,741

@ Loanslessthan 30 days past due are presented as current.
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Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans, including nonaccrual loans held for sale, and accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent
consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Construction and Other rEal ESLALE...........c.cucvcuiieeeeteeeee ettt benas $ 64 $ 65
Business and corporate Danking..........cocecveeeeieeisiesie s ieseseesaeee e e e se et s reste st sreae e seeaenens 47 74
Commercial nonaccrual 10ansS held fOr SAlE.......ooi i 30 43
Total commercial 141 182
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages™@® ... ..o s s 798 847
Home equity MOMGAgES TP ..........ooeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeseee e sses e ssees s ees s ees e sssessessnsseneens 70 68
Consumer nonaccrual [0anS held fOr SAlE.........couiiviiciie s 3 4
B0 = o0 1S o 0= S 871 919
Total NONACCIUING JONS..........oieeeeeeeeeceeeeeteee ettt ettt e aeetestesaeebesteseesrensesensenseneenes 1,012 1,101
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and Corporate DaNKiNgG ...........coeriiriiees e 1 1
I oo 0= o - 1 1
Consumer:
(O [ Ao o OO 9 10
L1 = o701 U 0T 9 10
B0 = ot 1S o = 18 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days OF MOFE...........cccceeeeeeeeeeeee e 19 21

Total nonperforming loans 1,031 $ 1,122

@ AtJune 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loansinclude $755 million and $817 million, respectively, of loansthat are carried
at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter
7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or serviceis 90 or more days contractually delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed |oans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association
("GNMA"). Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk
characteristics from the rest of our consumer loan portfalio.

The following table provides additional information on our nonaccrual loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual loans had been

current in accordance with contractual terms during the period..........ccccooeveenieneieene. $ 23 $ 22 % 44 $ 46
Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual |oans and included in interest
iNCOME dUriNg the PEIIOM ........cooiriiirere e e 6 6 12 14
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Impaired Loans A loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are also considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings TDR Loans represent loans for which the origina contractual terms have been modified to provide
for termsthat are less than what we would be willing to accept for new loans with comparable risk because of deterioration in the
borrower’s financia condition.

Modifications for consumer or commercial |oans may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited
to, achangeininterest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal or accrued interest . A substantial amount of our modificationsinvolveinterest rate reductionswhich lower the amount
of interest income we are contractually entitled to receive in future periods. Through lowering the interest rate and other loan term
changes, we believe we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately be collected from the loan, given the
borrower’s financial condition. TDR Loans are reserved for either based on the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loans' original effective interest rates which generally resultsin a higher reserve requirement for these loans or
in the case of certain secured loans, the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. Once a consumer loan is classified asa
TDR Loan, it continues to be reported as such until it ispaid off or charged-off. For commercia loans, if subsequent performance
isin accordance with the new terms and such terms reflect current market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be
reported asa TDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014
there were no commercial loans that met this criteria and were removed from TDR Loan classification.

The following table presents information about loans which were modified during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015
and 2014 and as aresult of this action became classified as TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and Other real ESLALE..............cccvvvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ 4 $ — 4 & —
Business and corporate banking..........cc.ceeeeerererenene e 24 11 50 11
Global DANKING......coveiieiiii s — — 13 —
Other COMMEICIAL.......ccuiieicieie s e eresreers — — — 10
Total COMMEICIAL......ccueiieeiectieeee ettt e b et s ae e eesreesreeneas 28 11 67 21
Consumer loans:
ReSIdential MOMGAgES. ......coevrieiirieirieerie sttt st e st 35 46 70 79
HOME EQUILY MOIMQAOES ... coeeueeuerieeieeiesie sttt s sbe e 1 1 1 2
Credit CAIOS ...c.vieeeecteceecte ettt sttt e e ae e be e e sbeeaesaeetesbeentesreens 1 1 2 3
1= o001 U101 37 48 73 84

LIS L= OSSP ST ST TS URTR PP PTURTPPPTPPRPTN $ 65 $ 59 $§ 140 $ 105

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer loans which became classified as TDR Loans during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2015 was 1.90 percent and 1.84 percent, respectively, compared with 1.52 percent and 1.51 percent
during thethree and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. The wei ghted-average contractual rate reduction for commercial
loans was not significant in either the number of loans or rate.
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The following tables present information about our TDR Loans and the related credit loss reserves for TDR Loans:

June 30,
2015

December 31,

2014

TDR LoansV®@:
Commercia loans:

Construction and Other real ESIALE.........cccvii i e eneas
Business and corporate banking.............cccveerennennineeneseeseeene
Global banKing........ccccceeeieieeece e
Total COMMEICIA .......cceeieceeeceeece e e

Consumer loans;

Residential mortgages™..............cocuoreeoeceereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeees s
Home equity MOMGAgES™ ..o see e
Credit CardS.....cuecieeeceeeeeee e e
TOLA CONSUMEN .....cviietireete sttt st st st seene e

Total TDR Loans®

Commercial loans:

Construction and OtEr FEAl ESEALE. .........ccueeeeie et s e e sb e sbe e sare e
Business and corporate banking.............cccveerernennineeneseeseeee
Total COMMEICIAL .......eeeeeiiie e

Consumer loans:

Residential MOrgagesS.......cocvvuevuereeieeerere e
HOME EqUItY MOMGAgES .....covevevieeieieierieesieer e
(O o ] oo ST
TOtal CONSUMEY ... oottt et e et st ra e beeaee s
Total allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans

(6]

(in millions)

Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans®:

120 $ 186
68 24

13 —
201 210
1,021 972
21 20

6 6
1,048 998
1249 % 1,208
2 % 4

5

6 9

41 43

2

2

43 47
49 $ 56

TDR Loansare considered to beimpaired loans. For consumer loans, all suchloansare considered impaired loansregardlessof accrual status. For commercial

loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDR Loans which totaled $39 million and $85 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,

respectively.

@ TheTDR Loan balances included in the table above reflect the current carrying amount of TDR Loans and includes basis adjustments on the loan, such as
unearned income, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated loans, partial charge-offsand premiums or discounts on purchased loans. Thefollowing

table reflects the unpaid principal balance of TDR Loans:

June 30,
2015

December 31,

2014

Commercial loans:

Construction and OtNEr FEAl ESEALE ..........ceiiieiieeeesteeeee ettt r e b e b s b e e ae et e s e sesae st eneesesbe s eneeran

Business and corporate banking

GlObEl DANKING .....vvveieeci bbb
I e w0 01011 o - | SR

Consumer |oans:
Residential mortgages
Home equity mortgages.

CrEit CAIdS.......cuecviieieicieeeeeete ettt sa et st saeneeresbe e neenenan

(in millions)

139 $ 201
75 51

13 —
227 252
1,189 1,139
46 44

6 6
1,241 1,189
1,468 $ 1,441

®  Includes $775 million and $763 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, of loans that are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or

fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.
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@ Includes $471 million and $485 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, of loans which are classified as nonaccrual.
®  Included in the allowance for credit losses.

The following table presents information about average TDR Loans and interest income recognized on TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Average balance of TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real EStaLe..........ccceveveveieiiieicreeceeeeee et $ 149 $ 220 $ 161 $ 244
Business and corporate banking...........coecverrinninniesecse s 56 23 45 22
Global BANKING .....oviviecieieere e 13 — 9 17
Other COMMENCIAL ......ccvieieeieceee ettt st st ereens — 5 — 12
TOtal COMMEICIAL.....ccciveieeeeceeee s resresnenre 218 248 215 295
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMgagES.........courueeirieirieriereerie e 999 929 988 928
HOME EQUILY MOIMQAOES .....cceeuerierieetenierie sttt sbe s se 20 19 20 19
Credit CAIOS ....ocviceecee ettt et e e e sre e e sreeeesan e teereens 6 8 6 8
LI L= o0 1S U0 1= 1,025 956 1,014 955
Total average balance of TDR LOANS........c.cccvieeieiieicieeiete ettt $ 1243 $ 1204 $ 1,229 $ 1,250

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Construction and other real ESLALE ..........ccvvvveeeererieee e $ 1 % 2 % 2 $ 8
Business and corporate Danking...........coeoverrinrineeneee e — — 1 —
TOtal COMMENTIAL.....cecvereeeireee e 1 2 3 8
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMGAgES .........cvrveeiriererieirieesi sttt 9 8 18 17
HOME EQUILY MOMQBOES ... cceeveeeireceeeeresee e e st e e ee e e sse e eresre e snens 1 1 1 1
TOLAl CONSUMES ...ttt sttt sbe b b sne 10 9 19 18
Total interest income recognized 0N TDR LOBNS......c.cururururerermemrereeiereeeerereseeseesesnenens $ 11 $ 11 $ 22 $ 26

The following table presents loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which for commercial
loans became 90 daysor greater contractually delinquent or for consumer loansbecame 60 daysor greater contractually delinquent
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESLALE............c.cveveveeeeeeeeeeeee et $ — 3% — 3 2 $ 12

Business and corporate banking..........cccceveeerieresenieseseeseeseseeseeeees e ees 2 — 3 —

Total COMMIEICIAL......ccue ettt et sae e eesreesreeneas 2 — 5 12
Consumer loans:

Residential MOMQagES......coveverirere s st s e e resresresreneas 8 9 17 17

TOtAl CONSUMEY ......cvieieiiecie ettt et ettt et re et e s e s te s e e s beeaeesbeeseesteenseeneeneesneesreennas 8 9 17 17
TOML ..ottt ettt ettt ae et e te et e teete et et et et e e eaeereereeteetes $ 10 $ 9 % 22 $ 29
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Impaired commercial loans The following table summarizesimpaired commercia loan statistics:

Amount
Amount with without Total Impaired
Impairment Impairment Commercial Impairment
Reserves Reserves Loans(l)(z) Reserve
(in millions)

At June 30, 2015
Construction and other real estate..........cccceevveveereveeeseeeveee e $ 13 $ 119 $ 132 % 3
Business and corporate banking..........ccoceoeveireeneineinee e 13 75 88 3
Global BaNKiNgG .......cooviireircee e — 13 13 —
Other COMMENCIA .......coeeieiiceee e 1 6 7 1
Total COMMENCIAL........coeueeeercececeeeee et $ 27 $ 213 $ 240 $ 7
At December 31, 2014
Construction and other real estate.......cooovveeeeeeerecieceecee e $ 18 $ 179 $ 197 $ 5
Business and corporate banking..........ccccveeereeeenecvee e ecee e 72 18 20 24
Global DANKING ......ccovreieireer s — — — —
Other COMMENCIA .......ccoeeieeceee e e 2 6 8 1
Total COMMECIAL.........occeeeceee et st $ 2 $ 203 $ 295 $ 30
&)

2014, respectively.
@)

Includes impaired commercial loans that are also considered TDR Loans which totaled $201 million and $210 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31,

The impaired commercial loan balances included in the table above reflect the current carrying amount of the loan and includes basis adjustments, such as

partial charge-offs, unamortized deferred feesand costs on originated loans and any premiums or discounts. The following table reflects the unpaid principal

balance of impaired commercial loans included in the table above:

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014
(in millions)
Construction and OtNEr FEAl ESEALE...........eveirieieeiiriee sttt se e sttt nese et e e e s et et saeba e s ntene s $ 156 $ 224
BUSINESS aNd COMPOTate DANKING. .......eveeireseeire ettt bbbttt 120 122
GlODEL DANKING. ... caceieneieeie et ettt ettt ettt 13 —
OFNEr COMMEITIAL.......eeuereeteiiestet ettt bbb b s s b he e e e b et se b e b e nEebe s e e b e b e se b et b b et ne e b et s et e ne s 7 8
TOtAl COMMEICIAL .....oecueeieiteeeeeee ettt ete et ettt et e et e bt eaesaeebeeaseeaeeasenbeebeeseesaeebeesseasesaeenbeabeeseestesaeensensesasensentenseennn $ 206 $ 354

The following table presents information about average impaired commercial loan balances and interest income recognized on

the impaired commercial loans:

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Average balance of impaired commercial loans:
Construction and Other real BSALE..........ceueveriererrree s $ 166 $ 237 $ 176 $ 269
Business and corporate banking..........ccoceeeeerereieenene e 92 36 91 37
Global DANKING ..o 13 — 9 22
Other COMMENTIA .......covrvereiirerrereter s 7 15 7 24
Total average balance of impaired commercial [0ans...........cccoceeeeeeceeceenenns $ 278 $ 288 $ 283 $ 352
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: -
Construction and Other real BSALE..........ceueurerierererreie s $ 1 % 2 $ 2 % 8
Business and corporate banking..........ccoceeeeerererienene e — — 1 —
Total interest income recognized on impaired commercia loans..........ccccocvverenees $ 1 % 2 % 3 % 8
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Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan

portfolio:

Criticized loans Criticized loan classifications are based on the risk rating standards of our regulator. Problem loans are assigned
variouscriticized facility grades. We al so assign obligor grades which are used under our allowance for credit |osses methodol ogy.

The following facility grades are deemed to be criticized:

«  Special Mention — generally includes loans that are protected by collateral and/or the credit worthiness of the customer, but
are potentially weak based upon economic or market circumstances which, if not checked or corrected, could weaken our

credit position at some future date.

» Substandard —includes loans that are inadequately protected by the underlying collateral and/or general credit worthiness of
the customer. These loans present a distinct possibility that we will sustain some lossif the deficiencies are not corrected.

»  Doubtful —includes loans that have all the weaknesses exhibited by substandard loans, with the added characteristic that the
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full of the recorded loan highly improbable. However, although the possibility
of lossis extremely high, certain factors exist which may strengthen the credit at some future date, and therefore the decision

to charge off the loan is deferred. Loans graded as doubtful are required to be placed in nonaccruing status.
The following table summarizes criticized commercial loans:

Special Mention  Substandard Doubtful Total
(in millions)

At June 30, 2015

Construction and other real estate............cccevveeereceeieceseeeeeceee e, $ 158 $ 213 % 2 $ 373
Business and corporate banking............coceoerereneneneneneneeeeeeenee 1,060 447 4 1,511
Global banKing........ccccveieieieeceec e 2,088 218 — 2,306
Other COMMENCIal.........ccouiiieecee e 2 7 1 10
Total COMMENICIAl ....c.coeeeeeiee e $ 3,308 $ 885 $ 7% 4,200
At December 31, 2014 - -
Construction and other real estate.........ccceveeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 310 $ 230 $ 7 % 547
Business and corporate banking..........ccocooeveennensnenseeeeee 1,001 238 22 1,261
Global banKing.......ccccoeveeeeeerecce e 1,770 202 — 1,972
Other COMMENCIal.........ccoiieeeeee e e 1 6 — 7
Total COMMEICIAl ....ceeeeeeeeeeeeecece e w $—676 $—29 m
Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our commercial loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)

At June 30, 2015

Construction and other real estate........cccceveveeeeeveecee i $ 11,456 $ 64 $ — % 11,520
Business and corporate banking ..........c.cooeovevnennenniennene 19,664 47 1 19,712
Global banKing .......c.coeevviivieii i 28,942 — — 28,942
Other COMMEICIA .......occveeeieie e e 3,422 — — 3,422
Total COMMECIAl .......ccoeeeeiictee e $ 63,484 $ 111 $ 1 $ 63,596
At December 31, 2014

Construction and other real estate........cccceeeveeeeeceecreecieeeee $ 10,235 $ 65 $ — % 10,300
Business and corporate banking .........cccoceeveeeeievesenesiesenennns 17,744 74 1 17,819
Global BanKing .........cccoeereriieee s 26,387 — — 26,387
Other COMMEICIAl .......cceeeeiiiceeese e 3,581 — —_ 3,581
Total COMMECIAl .......ccoeeereeceeeeee e $ 57,947 $ 139 $ 1 % 58,087
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Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercia loan portfolio:

Non-
|nvestm%nt Investment
Grade( ) Grade Total

(in millions)

At June 30, 2015

Construction and other real EStAE ........covvereereee e $ 8946 $ 2574 $ 11,520
Business and corporate DanKIiNg ..........cccoeeeereireereese e 10,491 9,221 19,712
GlObEl BANKING ... e e eneas 23,767 5,175 28,942
Other COMMENTIEL .......coeiiiire 1,796 1,626 3,422
TOtal COMMEICIAL ......ccoviiieeii ettt st st e s aee st e e st e sbeenseebeenneereennes $ 45000 $ 18596 $ 63,596
At December 31, 2014 -
Construction and other real EStALE .........cecviiiece e e $ 7820 $ 2480 $ 10,300
Business and corporate DanKing ..........coeeererereriereeeeeereee e e 8,835 8,984 17,819
Global BANKING ......eveeeicececee et es 23,400 2,987 26,387
Other COMMEICIAL .....ecveeceeeciee ettt srte e ae e sar e e beeeaee e beeenneenreesans 1,873 1,708 3,581
TOtal COMMEICIAL .......cieieeciececte ettt st et et e et e et e enbeebeereeaeennas $ 41928 $ 16,159 $ 58,087

@ Investment grade includes commercial loans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.

Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total
loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our consumer loan portfolio:

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Delinquent  Delinquency  Delinquent  Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio
(dollars are in millions)
Residential Mortgages™®@ ... $ 903 523% $ 1,013 6.07%
Home equity Mortgages™@ ..., 56 3.32 62 3.48
(O 0[] oo 13 1.88 14 1.94
(@191 g o015 U 0 1= S 11 2.21 14 2.52
TOtAl CONSUMET .......oieeieeeee ettt ettt ettt et te e es st eesbe e tesaeesbesreesteereeaes $ 983 488% $ 1,103 5.59%

@ At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $873 million and $936 million, respectively, of loans that are
carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage |oans include $634 million and $658 million, respectively, of loans that were in the process

of foreclosure.
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Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our consumer loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)

At June 30, 2015

Residential MOMgageS........c.covueevevereteeeeeeeeeee et $ 16435 $ 798 $ — $ 17,233
HOME eqUIity MOMGagES ....ceveverereerireeiereeeseeese e 1,616 70 — 1,686
(O o ] oo 683 — 9 692
(@115 w0101 0 11 SR 401 — 9 410
TOtal CONSUMES ...t te e s sresnesrenes $ 19,135 $ 868 $ 18 $ 20,021
At December 31, 2014 - -
Residential MOrtgages........covveereerieerieerieese e $ 15814 $ 847 $ — $ 16,661
Home equity MOIMGagES .......ccereriereeieieree e 1,716 68 — 1,784
Credit CardS .....coveieecieceeecee e e 710 — 10 720
(@101 e 010151 0= SR 479 — 10 489
TOtAl CONSUMES ...ttt ettt eeaeeeares $ 18,719 $ 915 $ 20 $ 19,654

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our loan portfolio included interest-only residential
mortgage loans totaling $3,643 million and $3,531 million, respectively. An interest-only residential mortgage loan allows a
customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for aperiod of time which resultsin lower payments during the
initial loan period. However, subsequent events affecting a customer's financial position could affect the ability of customers to
repay the loan in the future when the principal payments are required which increases the credit risk of thisloan type.
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5. Allowance for Credit Losses

The following table summarizes the changesin the allowance for credit losses by product and the related |oan balance by product
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:

Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages Card Consumer Total
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2015
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PEXIOT ..o $ 0 $ 295 $ 128 $ 21 $ 95 $ 29 $ 35 $ 10 $ 703
Provision charged (credited) to income.... 3) ) 2 ©)] (6) — 4 2 (6)
Charge offs.......cccevncenenicereeeeenes 1) (38) — — (10) (3) (8) 4) (64)
RECOVENTES ... 3 5 — — 4 1 2 — 15
Net (charge offs) recoveries.............c....... 2 (33) — — (6) 2 (6) (4) (49)
Allowance for credit losses —end of
PEIOT ..o $ 89 $ 260 $ 130 $ 18 $ 83 $ 27 $ 33 § 8 $ 648
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PENIOO oo $ 93 $ 129 $ 67 $ 19 $ 156 $ 52 $ 45 $ 13 $ 574
Provision charged (credited) to income.... 6 56 29 9) 7 ()] 4 — 85
Charge offs.......cocevneennicereeeeenes (5) (6) — — (29) 3) (12 3) (48)
Recoveries — 1 — 5 1 2 1 13
Net (charge offs) recoveries 5) 5) — 3 (14) 2 (10) 2 (35)
Allowance for credit losses —end of
PEMIOO. ..o $ 94 $ 180 $ 9% $ 13 $ 149 $ 2 $ 39 % 11 $ 624
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PEXIOT ..o $ 8 $ 275 $ 107 $ 21 $ 107 $ 32 $ 39 % 10 $ 680
Provision charged (credited) to income.... @) 22 23 ) (6) 2) 7 6 47
Charge offS......cceereeeeeeeeeeeea ) (44) — (1) (24) (5) (16) (10) (102)
RECOVENES ... 3 7 — — 6 2 3 2 23
Net (charge offs) recoveries..........ccuue.. 1 (37) — 1) (18) 3) (13) 8) (79)
Allowance for credit losses —end of
PEIOT ..o $ 89 $ 260 $ 130 $ 18 $ 83 $ 27 $ 33 § 8 $ 648
Ending balance: collectively evaluated
for impairment .........c.ccoeeveveeerenenenennn. $ 86 $ 257 $ 130 $ 17 $ 42 3 26 $ 32 % 8 $ 598
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment ..........cccocoeeevenieennenns 3 3 — 1 41 1 1 — 50
Total allowance for credit losses.............. $ 89 $ 260 $ 130 $ 18 $ 83 $ 27 $ 33 $ 8 $ 648
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment..... $ 11,388 $ 19,624 $28,929 $ 3415 $ 15478 $ 1610 $ 686 $ 410 $81,540
Individually evaluated for impairment®... 132 88 13 7 262 5 6 — 513
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair valuelesscost to sell .........ccceueeneee —_ —_ —_ — 1,493 71 — — 1,564

Total [0anS........ccocvvieiriieene $ 11520 $ 19,712 $28,942 $ 3422 $ 17233 $ 1686 $ 692 $ 410 $83,617
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Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages Card Consumer Total
(in millions)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
Allowance for credit losses — beginning

(o)1 7< 1o o [N $ 108 $ 112 $ 68 $ 20 $ 186 $ 49 $ 5 $ 13 $ 606
Provision charged (credited) to income.... 8 75 36 (13) 9) (6) 9 1 101

Charge offS......ceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeces (24) (11) (©)] — (36) (8) (23) 5) (215)
RECOVENES ...t 2 4 — 6 8 7 3 2 32

Net (charge offs) recoveries..........cceunne. (22) ) (8) 6 (28) 1) (20) 3) (83)
Allowance for credit losses — end of

PENOA .. $ 9 $ 180 $ 96 $ 13 % 149 % 42 $ 39 % 11 $ 624
Ending balance: collectively evaluated

for impairment ... $ 90 $ 172 $ 9% $ 1 $ 93 $ 40 $ 37 % 11 $ 550
Ending balance: individually evaluated

forimpairment .........ccccoeeveveveveevevevennne 4 8 — 2 56 2 2 — 74
Total alowance for credit losses.............. $ 9 $ 180 $ 96 $ 13 3 149 $ 2 $ 39 3 11 $ 624
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment..... $ 9469 $ 15913 $24268 $ 3117 $ 14355 $ 1830 $ 673 $ 473  $70,098
Individually evaluated for impairment®.. 213 43 — 10 215 19 8 — 508
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair valuelesscost to sell ..o — — — — 1,527 65 — — 1,592
Total 10aNS.....cciviis $ 9682 $ 15956 $24268 $ 3127 $ 16097 $ 1914 $ 681 $ 473  $72,198

@ For consumer loans and certain small business loans, these amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow
methodology. Eachloanisindividually identified asaTDR L oan and then grouped together with other TDR Loanswith similar characteristics. Thediscounted
cash flow analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. Loans individually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR loans that are carried at the
lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled $775 million and $725 million at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

6. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)

COMMECIAI JOANS ...ttt ettt et e st e e e et e e st e e te e beesabeeaseesabeesseeasseesbesenseebessnbeenseesareans $ 407 $ 528
Consumer loans:

RESIAENL Al MOTTGAGES ..o e eeeete ettt sttt se et e e s e e aeeaesaesbesbeseesbesteseensenseneeneeneas 23 18

(@1 = 0T 1S W 0 88 66

0 = I o0 1Yo 4= SRS 111 84
01 I (0= ] a1 o I (L= [ $ 518 $ 612

We originate commercia loans in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent of
selling the loans to unaffiliated third parties. We al so purchase commercial loans from the secondary market and hold the loans as
hedges against our exposureto certain total return swaps. The commercial loans under these programs are classified ascommercial
loans held for sale and are recorded at fair value as we have elected to designate these loans under the fair value option. The fair
vaue of these commercial loans held for sale was $315 million and $384 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Commercial loansheldfor salealsoincluded $30 million and $44 million of global bankingloansat June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively, which weretransferred to held for sale during 2014, aswell ascommercial real estateloanstotaling $62 million
and $100 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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We sdll al our agency eligible loan originations servicing released directly to PHH Mortgage Corporation ("PHH Mortgage™).
Gains and losses from the sale of residential mortgage loans are reflected as a component of residential mortgage banking revenue
in the accompanying consolidated statement of income. Also included in residential mortgage loans held for sale are subprime
residential mortgage loanswith afair value of $4 million at both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 which were acquired from
unaffiliated third partiesand from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance") with theintent of securitizing or selling theloans
to third parties.

Loans held for sale are subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market conditions, as well as the credit environment. PHH Mortgage is obligated to purchase agency eligible loans
from us as of the earlier of when the customer locks the mortgage |oan pricing or when the mortgage [oan application is approved.
As such, we retain none of the risk of market changesin mortgage rates for these loans.

Other consumer loans held for sale includes student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value. The valuation allowance on consumer loans held for sale was $11 million and $15 million at June
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $18 million at
June 30, 2015 compared with $5 million allowance at December 31, 2014.

7. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
MOrtQage SEVICING FIONES ....cveiieeiiieeiiie ettt sttt sttt st se et e seebeseebeseebesaeseseeneneas $ 158 $ 159
Purchased credit card relationNShiPS.........coveueieieirere e st 44 47
Total INtANGIDIE BSSELS......ieeiieiriere ettt bbbt $ 202 % 206

Mortgage Servicing Rights (""MSRs") A servicing asset is a contract under which estimated future revenues from contractually
specified cash flows, such as servicing fees and other ancillary revenues, are expected to exceed the obligation to service the
financial assets. We recognize the right to service mortgage loans as a separate and distinct asset at the time they are acquired or
when originated loans are sold.

MSRs are subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in these
economic variables. Interest rate risk is mitigated through an economic hedging program that uses securities and derivatives to
offset changesin thefair value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involvestrading activity, risk isquantified and managed using
anumber of risk assessment techniques.

MSRs areinitially measured at fair value at the time that the related loans are sold and remeasured at fair value at each reporting
date. Changes in fair value of MSRs are reflected in residential mortgage banking revenue in the period in which the changes
occur. Fair valueis determined based upon the application of valuation models and other inputs. The valuation modelsincorporate
assumptions market participants would use in estimating future cash flows. The reasonableness of these valuation models is
periodically validated by reference to external independent broker valuations and industry surveys.

The following table summarizes the critical assumptions used to calculate the fair value of MSRs:

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
Annualized constant prepayment rate ("CPR™).....ooei e 14.2% 15.9%
CONSLANT AISCOUNT FAEE.......eteee ittt ettt sttt e e e e e e e e e eaeeaeeaeebesbesbesaesbesbeseesenseeenneneas 13.1% 14.1%
Weighted average life (IN YEaIS) ......cv ittt 45 41
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The following table summarizes M SRs activity:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Fair value of MSRs:
BeginNiNg DAlANCE .....c.cveieieeeeceeee e $ 140 $ 205 $ 159 $ 227
Changes in fair value due to changes in valuation model inputs or assumptions... 19 (12 8 (24)
Reductions related to CUSIOMEr PAYMENES ....c.vvveiriereeeriee e (D) (7) 9 a7)
ENAING DAlANCE .....cveieeeeiriecicececicic ettt enneeeas $ 158 $ 186 $ 158 $ 186

The outstanding principa balance of serviced for others mortgages, which are not included in the consolidated balance sheet,
totaled $21,249 million and $23,101 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Servicing fees collected are included in residential mortgage banking revenue and totaled $15 million and $30 million during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $17 million and $35 million during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2014, respectively.

During 2013, we completed the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage. Under the
terms of the agreement, PHH Mortgage provides us with mortgage origination processing services as well as the sub-servicing of
our portfolio of owned and serviced for others mortgages with an outstanding principal balance of $39,566 million and $40,889
million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Although we continue to own both the mortgages on our balance
sheet and the mortgage servicing rights associated with the serviced | oans at the time of conversion, wenow sell our agency eligible
originations to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis which results in no new mortgage servicing rights being recognized.

Purchased credit card relationships 1n 2012, we purchased from HSBC Finance the account rel ationships associated with $746
million of credit card receivables which were not included in the sale to Capital One Financial Corporation at afair value of $108
million. Approximately $43 million of this value was associated with the credit card receivables sold to First Niagara and was
written off at thetimeof sale. Theremaining $65 million wasincluded inintangibl e assetsand isbeing amortized over the estimated
useful life of the credit card relationships which isten years.

8. Goodwill

Goodwill was $1,612 million at both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Included in goodwill for these periods were
accumulated impairment losses of $670 million. During the first half of 2015, there were no events or changesin circumstances
to indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair values of any of our reporting units have reduced below their respective
carrying amounts.

9. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments entered into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, a derivative instrument is designated in one of the following categories: (a) financial
instruments held for trading, (b) hedging instruments designated as a qualifying hedge under derivative and hedge accounting
principlesor (c) anon-qualifying economic hedge. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting arrangements with
counterparties, the master netting arrangements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

Thefollowing table presentsthefair value of derivative contracts by major product typeon agrossbasis. Grossfair values exclude
the effects of both counterparty netting aswell as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, aswell as
cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable credit support agreements that do not meet the criteria for
netting. Derivative assets and liabilitieswhich are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to anetting
agreement that we have not yet determined to be enforceable, have not been netted in the table below. Where we have received or
posted collateral under credit support agreements, but have not yet determined such agreementsareenforceabl e, therel ated collateral
also has not been netted in the table below.
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June 30, 2015

December 31, 2014

Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
assets liabilities assets liabilities
(in millions)
Derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges®
OTC-CIEAEAD ........oooooeeeeeeeeeeee oo eesesees e eesesees e eeseeee s 116 $ 175 $ 1% 206
Bilateral OTCP ...........covovvveveeeerisssseeee e sessssesssssssssss e sssssssssssssssss s sssssssssssssssss s 1 184 4 268
INTEreSt FAte CONTIACTS .......cciieieeceseste e s sa s sennens 127 359 5 474
Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges®
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC@ ..o s seeeeeeeees 56 — 45 —
3 12 8 6
— 114 — 161
3 126 8 167
Total derivatives accounted fOr s NEAGES...........ccvvevveeeievreeeee et 186 485 58 641
Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
EXChANGETA0E0P .............ovooooeevvceseeese e ssseesssessses e essssssssssssssesssseseesssssssssssssssse e 33 38 46 43
OTC-CIEAEID ..o seeeess s ss st seseesssssssenneesses 16,323 15,908 16,862 17,557
BilGEral OTCP ..o s seeeees s sees s seeeees s seseeess s 21,703 22,208 28,370 28,398
INTEIrESt FALE CONTIACES ........ccvicvicieiie sttt ettt ettt sttt e et e st reeaesaeenaenbeebeennn 38,059 38,154 45,278 45,998
EXChANGELrA0EAP ..ot s s esseeee s see s ees e s ees s neseesees s eee s 7 — — 13
BlAEral OTCP ....... .o ese e ss s 20,897 19,322 22,219 20,826
Foreign eXChange CONTIACTS ...........c.ccoveveuieeieeceeee ettt as 20,904 19,322 22,219 20,839
Equity contracts - Dilateral OTC@ ..........oooveovcreeeeseeeeseeeeeeeeesesseseessesseseesseseseessesseseeesees 1,545 1,540 1,635 1,632
EXChANGELrA0EAP ..ot s s esseeee s see s ees e s ees s neseesees s eee s 52 32 59 18
BilGtEral OTCP .........ooooeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeee e eesssss s eess s eseeeess s 717 466 1,013 591
Precious metals contracts 769 498 1,072 609
OTC-CIEAEID ..o eeeesees e eeeeevessseeeesssens e eesssesseeseesssenseeenesnees 667 828 604 730
BilGteral OTCP ......oooooeoeeeeeeoeeeeeeee oo ees oo eessses e s 2,794 2,587 3518 3,288
CrEdit CONTIACTS .......cvviciecieteee ettt s et es s sen st en s s enaes 3,461 3,415 4,122 4,018
Other derivatives not accounted for as hedges®)
Interest rate contracts - Bilateral OTCP ... ese e 670 92 768 88
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC@ ............ooivooeeceeeeeseeeceseeeeeseeeesseseesseresnees — 56 — 44
Equity contracts - Dilateral OTC® ..........ooooooveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeses s eesse s sesee e 638 270 757 167
Precious metals contracts - bilateral OTC® ............ooo.comiveereeereeeeeseeeeseeeeeeeeeesseeeseeeeseees — 1 — 5
Credit contracts - bilateral OTCP .........coooovecoeoeveecoeeeeeeceeeeeeesseesee e ese e sseessesseeeen 55 8 73 9
TOAl AEFIVALIVES.........c.eecveeeeeeteteeecteee ettt ettt et ae et saebesseneteseasstebennesenens 66,287 63,841 75,982 74,050
Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforceable master netting
agreemMents® s 56,129 56,129 63,913 63,913
Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to enforceable master
NEtiNG AGIEEMENTSTI®) | .. oo eeeese s e see e eee e ees e ses s ses s neseeeees e ses s 4,678 1,021 4811 1,724
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet ..................... 5,480 6,691 7,258 8,413
Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted subject to
enforceable master netting agreements but not offset in the consolidated balance sheet. 1,363 3,324 1,837 4,398
Net amounts of derivative assets / lIabIlIties ...........ccocceeveeeeeeeeeeeceeeee e 4117  $ 3,367 $ 5421 $ 4,015

@ Derivative assets/ liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded

in other assets/ interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

@ QOver-the-counter (OTC) derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or
central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through master netting agreements and obtaining collateral.
OTC-cleared derivatives are executed bilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central clearing
counterparty becomes the counterparty to both of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized exchange
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that provides pre-trade price transparency. Credit risk is minimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining
required by central clearing counterparties.

®  Trading related derivative assets/liabilities are recorded in trading assets/trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
@ Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.
®  Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable credit support agreements.

®  Netting is performed at a counterparty level in cases where enforceable master netting and credit support agreements are in place, regardless of the type of
derivative instrument. Therefore, we have not attempted to allocate netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral," for further information on offsetting related to resale and
repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires usto identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities aswell asforecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using aregression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument ishighly effectivein offsetting
changesin the fair value or the cash flows attributabl e to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the rel ationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate (U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar denominated) assets and liabilities
fluctuates in response to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates. We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and
futures contracts and foreign currency swaps to minimize the effect on earnings caused by interest rate and foreign currency
volatility. The changesin the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item (basis adjustment). If the hedging relationship is terminated and the hedged item continuesto
exist, the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.

We recorded basis adjustments for active fair value hedges which decreased the carrying amount of our debt by $12 million and
$12 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with decreases of |ess than $1 million
and $1 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. We amortized $2 million and $3 million of basis adjustments
related to terminated and/or re-designated fair value hedge relationships of our debt during the three and six months ended June
30, 2015, respectively, compared with $2 million and $5 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. The tota
accumul ated unamorti zed basi s adjustments amounted to increasesin the carrying amount of our debt of $5 million and $21 million
as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Basisadjustmentsfor activefair valuehedgesof available-for-sale (" AFS") securitiesdecreased the carrying amount of the securities
by $397 million and $178 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with increases of
$162 million and $338 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. The total accumulated unamortized basis
adjustments for active fair value hedges of AFS securities amounted to increases in the carrying amount of the securities of $219
million and $458 million as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in fair value hedges and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their location on the consolidated statement of
income:

Net Ineffective

Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) on Derivative Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items Recognized
Interest Income Interest Income
(Expense) Other Income (Expense) Other Income Other Income
(in millions)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (49) $ 453 $ 93 3 437) $ 16
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 6 (12) (22) 12 —
TOtAl c.oeecec e $ 43) $ 441 % 71 $ (425) $ 16
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ 64 $ (188) $ % $ 189 $ 1
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 2 — Q) — —
TOA o $ (62 $ (188) $ % % 189 $ 1
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (103) $ 205 $ 181 $ (197) $ 8
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 9 (12) (33) 12 —
TO@ oo $ 94) $ 193 $ 148 $ (185) $ 8
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (127 $ (407) $ 198 $ 401 $ ©)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 6 @ (16) 1 —
L O $ (121) $ (408) $ 182 $ 402 $ (6)

Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. Asapart of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changesin fair value of aderivative instrument associated
with the effective portion of a qualifying cash flow hedge are recognized initially in other comprehensive income (loss). When
the cash flows for which the derivative is hedging materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss
from the hedging derivative previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is reclassified into earnings
in the same accounting period in which the designated forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. If a cash flow hedge
of aforecasted transaction is de-designated because it is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship is terminated, the
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging derivative to that date will continue to be reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) unlessit is probable that the hedged forecasted transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time
period as documented at the inception of the hedge, at which time the cumulative gain or lossis released into earnings.

As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, active cash flow hedge relationships extend or mature through July 2036. During
the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, $2 million and $5 million of losses related to terminated and/or re-
designated cash flow hedge rel ati onshi pswere amortized to earningsfrom AOCI compared with | osses of $2 million and $3 million
during thethree and six months ended June 30, 2014. During the next twelve months, we expect to amortize $9 million of remaining
losses to earnings resulting from these terminated and/or re-designated cash flow hedges. The interest accrual related to the
derivative contract is recognized in interest income.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instrumentsin cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from all terminated cash flow hedges) and their [ocations
on the consolidated statement of income:

) ) Gain (Loss)
SR Sk Lomtnorcan e
in AOCI on . . From AOCI (Loss) Recognized on the
Derivative Location of Gain into Income in Income Derivative
(Effective (Loss) Reclassified (Effective on the Derivative (Ineffective
Porton Portion) __ (nefeciyo Portanand.__portion)
2015 2014 (Effective Portion) 2015 2014 Effectiveness Testing) 2015 2014
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30,
Interest income
Foreign exchange contracts.... $ 1 $ — (expense) $ — $ — Otherincome $ — $ —
Interest income
Interest rate contracts.............. 48 (25) (expense) 2 2 Other income — —
o= $ 49 $ (25 $ 2% (9 $ — $ —
Six Months Ended June 30,
Interest income
Foreign exchangecontracts.... $ 1 $ 1 (expense) $ — $ — Otherincome $ — $ —
Interest income )
Interest rate contracts.............. 15 (61) (expense) (5) 3 Other income — —
TOtal ..o $ 16 $ (60) $ 5% (3 $ — $ —

Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities Inaddition to risk management, weenter into derivativeinstruments
for trading and market making purposes, to repackage risks and structure trades to facilitate clients’ needs for various risk taking
and risk modification purposes. We manage our risk exposure by entering into offsetting derivativeswith other financial institutions
to mitigate the market risks, in part or in full, arising from our trading activities with our clients. In addition, we also enter into
buy-protection credit derivatives with other market participants to manage our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter
into derivatives for trading purposes, realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in trading revenue or residential
mortgage banking revenue. Credit osses arising from counterparty risk on over-the-counter derivative instruments and offsetting
buy protection credit derivative positions are recognized as an adjustment to the fair value of the derivatives and are recorded in
trading revenue.

Our non-qualifying hedging activities include:
» Derivative contracts related to the fixed-rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments, including all structured

notes and structured deposits, for which we have elected fair val ue option accounting. These derivative contracts are non-
qualifying hedges but are considered economic hedges.

e Credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan portfolio. In the
event of animpairment |ossoccurring inaloan that iseconomically hedged, theimpairment lossisrecognized asprovision
for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income.

»  Forward purchase or sale of to-be-announced ("TBA") securities designated to economically hedge mortgage servicing
rights. Changesin thefair value of TBA positions, which are considered derivatives, are recorded in residential mortgage
banking revenue.

Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value through
profit and loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in gain (1oss) on instruments designated at fair value and
related derivatives, other income or residential mortgage banking revenue while the derivative asset or liability positions are
reflected as other assets or other liabilities.
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Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gainsand losses on derivativeinstrumentsheld for trading purposes and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

Location of Gain (Loss)

Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest rate CoNtractS.........coveveereereeneenenncns Trading revenue $ 717 $ (89 $ 541 $ (32
Interest rate CONtractS.......coovverererererererenenes Residential mortgage banking revenue (18) 22 6 37
Foreign exchange contracts...........ccccceeueee. Trading revenue 207 58 (149) 83
Equity CONLractS.......ccovevveveeererereeieenereneenas Trading revenue 4 — 3 —
Precious metals contracts...........c.cccceeenen. Trading revenue (27) 10 19 18
Credit CONractS.......covovveveereereresrereeresenenns Trading revenue 4 (108) a7 (115)
TOEA .o $ 241 $ (107) $ 403 $ (9)

Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging activities
and their locations on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

Location of Gain (Loss) June 30, June 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Interest rate CONtractsS........cervereeeeernerereenn. Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives $ (142) $ 111 $ (33) $ 227
Interest rate CoNtracts..........cocevevveveeeeenens Residential mortgage banking revenue 1 — 1 —
Foreign exchange contracts.............c.coev.... Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives 6 9 5 13
Equity CONracts ........coovererrereceerrereeereennes Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives (125) 258 132 339
Precious metals contracts..........ccoovveerennes Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives — 8 1 24
Credit CONracts.........cceeevrererrereneresenennee Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives 3) — 3) 1
Credit coNtracts........cooevereererereeeeeeee Other income (45) (7 (23) 1D
TOEl oo $ (308 $ 379 $ 80 $ 593

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features We enter into total return swap, interest rate swap, cross-currency swap and credit
default swap contracts, amongst others which contain provisions that require us to maintain a specific credit rating from each of
the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part of broader structured product
transactions. If HSBC Bank USA, National Association's ("HSBC Bank USA") credit ratingswereto fall below the current ratings,
the counterpartiesto our derivative instruments could demand us to post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral
required to be posted will depend on whether HSBC Bank USA is downgraded by one or more notches. The aggregate fair value
of al derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that were in aliability position as of June 30, 2015, was
$6,165 million for which we had posted collateral of $5,017 million. The aggregate fair value of al derivative instruments with
credit-risk-related contingent features that were in aliability position as of December 31, 2014, was $7,006 million for which we
had posted collateral of $6,136 million. Substantially all of the collateral posted isin the form of cash or securities available-for-
sale. See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral," for further details.
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Thefollowing tablessummarize our obligationto post additional collateral (fromthecurrent collateral level) in certain hypothetical
commercially reasonabledowngradescenariosof our longtermratings. It isnot appropriateto accumul ateor extrapol ateinformation
presented in the tables below to determine our total obligation because the information presented to determine the obligation in
hypothetical rating scenarios is not mutually exclusive.

Single-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade
Moody’s Aa3 Al
(in millions)
Amount of additional collateral to be posted Upon downgrade ............cooveereieneieneieneic e $ — 3 59
Single-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade
Standard & Poor's (""'S&P") A+ A
(in millions)
Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade...........covverereereereeceeereese e $ 50 $ 97

Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts:

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
(in millions)

Interest rate:

FULUIrES aNd fOIWAITS. ....c.cuveiicecicseceee e $ 166,415 $ 87,406
SWVBIIS ...vveteiesteseete e te e et s et e se et st et sa et sa st e st e et e e R et E et R e naeEene et e naeRenaeRenReneeteneete e ereeas 2,733,613 3,096,382
(07 0]1T0) 0153 Y] 110 o 79,440 70,903
(O] 0]110) 1Y 0 0o 7= < = o [ 92,279 83,524
3,071,747 3,338,215
Foreign Exchange:

Swaps, FULUreS and fFOrWArdS ..........coceeeerirere e 1,006,234 866,835
(0701103 Y 1 1= o TSRS 95,635 117,088
OPLiONS PUICNESEA ...ttt ettt st b et ebe e 92,147 118,350
S o0 OSSPSR 65,164 58,700
1,259,180 1,160,973

Commaodities, equities and precious metals:
Swaps, FULUreS and fFOrWArdS ..........coceeeirirece e 44,811 48,263
(0701103 Y 1 1= o TSRS 15,821 18,015
OPLiONS PUICNESEA ...ttt ettt st b et ebe e 26,794 23,452
87,426 89,730
Credit AENVALIVES ...ttt ettt e et s s nans 216,805 240,737
Lo ST $ 4,635,158 $ 4,829,655

10. Fair Value Option

We report our results to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"),
which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). We typically have elected to apply fair value option ("FVQO")
accounting to selected financial instruments to align the measurement attributes of those instruments under U.S. GAAP and the
Group Reporting Basis and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financia instruments. We elected to apply FVO
accounting to certain commercial loans held for sale, certain securities sold under repurchase agreements, certain fixed-rate long-
term debt issuances and hybrid instruments which include al structured notes and structured deposits. Changes in fair value for
theseassetsand liabilitiesarereported asgain (10ss) oninstrumentsdesignated at fair valueand rel ated derivativesin the consolidated
statement of income.
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Loans We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial syndicated loans which are originated with the intent to sell
and certain commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain
total return swapsand include theseloans asloans held for salein the consolidated balance sheet. The el ection allows usto account
for these loans at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Interest from these loans
isrecorded asinterest income in the consolidated statement of income. Because a substantial majority of the loans elected for the
fair value option are floating rate assets, changesin their fair value are primarily attributable to changesin loan-specific credit risk
factors. The components of gain (loss) related to |oans designated at fair value are summarized in the table below. As of June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, noloansfor whichthefair value option hasbeen el ected are 90 daysor morepast due or on nonaccrual
status.

Short-term Borrowings We elected to apply FV O accounting to certain securities sold under repurchase agreements (“repurchase
agreements") which are trading in nature. The election allows us to account for these repurchase agreements at fair value which
is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. The fair value of the repurchase agreements is determined
using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and maturities. Interest on these
repurchase agreements is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (10ss)
related to repurchase agreements designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FVO accounting for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we
had applied or otherwise would elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows usto achieve asimilar accounting
effect without having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. The own debt i ssuancesel ected under FVV O aretraded in secondary
markets and, as such, thefair valueis determined based on observed pricesfor the specific instruments. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of changes to our own credit spreads and interest rates. Interest on the fixed-rate debt
accounted for under FVO is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (10ss)
related to long-term debt designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply FVO accounting to all of our hybrid instruments issued, inclusive of structured notes
and structured deposits. The valuation of the hybrid instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded
within the instruments. Cash flows of the hybrid instrumentsin their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted
at an appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied
to structured notes are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in the primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and structured note rates in recent executions while the credit spreads applied to structured deposits are
determined using market rates currently offered on comparable depositswith similar characteristics and maturities. Interest on this
debt is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related to hybrid
instruments designated at fair value which reflect the instruments described above are summarized in the table below.

The following table summarizes the fair value and unpaid principal balance for items we account for under FVO:

Unpaid Principal

Fair Value Balance
(in millions)
At June 30, 2015
Commercial 10aNS held fOr SAlE.......ccoviiee e e e $ 315 $ 325
REPUIChESE a0rEEIMENES......oiviiieree e b 2,070 2,068
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt ..o 2,011 1,750
Hybrid instruments:
SIrUCTUrEd AEPOSITS ...ttt st sa e b e 6,632 6,563
SETUCEUMEA NOLES......veiieeectie ittt ettt tee st et see et ee e sbe e sbe s ssbessbessabessbeesnbessbessneesrensn 6,890 6,735
At December 31, 2014
Commercial 10anSheld fOr SAlE.......coviieicec e $ 384 $ 390
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt ..o 2,179 1,750
Hybrid instruments:
SIrUCTUrEd AEPOSITS ...ttt ettt b e s b e sbe s 7,346 7,176
S 0o LU =0 I o (= 6,612 6,275
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Components of Gain (Loss) on Instruments at Fair Value and Related Derivatives Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair
value and related derivatives includes the changes in fair value related to interest, credit and other risks as well as the mark-to-
market adjustment ontherelated derivativesand thenet realized gainsor | osseson these derivatives. Thefollowing table summarizes
the components of gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives related to the changes in fair value
of the financial instrument accounted for under FVO:

Hybrid
Instruments
and
Long-Term  Repurchase
Loans Debt Agreements Total

(in millions)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

Interest rate and other components'™? ............cooveereeeeeeeeeeseeseesssnnees $ — 3 132 $ 210 $ 342

Credit risk component@® ..o, 2 48 (72) (22)
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair

VBIUB. ...ttt e et 2 180 138 320
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives.........ocoovveeveevcenccneces — (127) (154) (281)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 17 — 17
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related

[0 S A RYZ= (VL= T $ 2 $ 70 $ (16) $ 56
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014

Interest rate and other COmMPONENES™ ...........o.vvveveeeeeeeeeeeeseeseseean. $ — 3 (61) $ (330) $ (391)

Credit risk component@® ... ..o — (46) 7 (39)
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAIUB ...ttt ettt b e na bt nesa et e st b s — (107) (323) (430)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives.........coovevveverercreseccene, — 50 319 369
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 17 — 17
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
AENVALIVES.......coiiciiiici s $ — 3 (40) $ 4 $ (44)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Interest rate and other COmMPONENtS™ ...........c.ovveeeeeeeeeeeeeeresseeseesseenn. $ — 3 50 $ (78) $ (28)

Credit risk component@® ... ..o (8) 118 (43) 67
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair

VAIUB....oouiietetii ettt st et sttt sa ettt nene s 8) 168 (121) 39
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives.............ocooveveicicicicicinene, — (57) 125 68
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 34 — 34
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related

(0 (= V2 Y= TSSO $ 8 $ 145 $ 4 % 141
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014

Interest rate and other components™ ..............cooorrvveenrereeinnreessenee $ — $ (143 $ (483) $  (626)

Credit risk component@® ... ..o — @7 33 6
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAU ..ot — (170) (450) (620)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives..........coooveiveercnccncces — 120 450 570
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 34 — 34
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
ENVALIVES.......cvcveiisistee ettt $ — $ (16) $ — % (16)
@

Asit relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the gainsin the credit risk component for long-term debt were attributable to the widening of our own
credit spreads while the losses during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 were attributable to the tightening of our own credit spreads.

@)
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®  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the losses in the credit risk component for hybrid instruments and repurchase agreements were
attributable to changesin estimates associated with the val uation techniques used to measure the fair value of certain structured notes and deposits, partially
offset by the widening of credit spreads on structured deposits and, in the year-to-date period, the widening of our own credit spreads related to structured
notes. During the three months ended June 30, 2014, the gain in the credit risk component for hybrid instruments and repurchase agreements was attributable
to the widening of credit spreads on structured deposits partially offset by the tightening of our own credit spreads related to structured notes. During the
six months ended June 30, 2014, the gain in the credit risk component for hybrid instruments was attributable primarily to the widening of our own credit
spreads related to structured notes.

11.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of
shareholders' equity. The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balances:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014
(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at Beginning Of PEITOU. ........ccviiiiiiii ettt ettt ettt bttt bttt sttt $ 130 $ 112
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(117) million and $110 million, respectively .................. (198) 171
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses realized in net income, net of tax of $(13) million and $3 million,
TESPECHIVEIY ™ ... oooeoeeseesaesasteesassaesassae (22) 4
Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, Net of taxX OF $4 MIIION ...t sss s sssssesssss s s sess s s sensssssensssssan 7 —
Total other comprehensive iNCOME (10SS) fOF PEITOM........courueuiiririeereeieiee ettt sb e b e s (213) 175
Balance at end of period (83) 287
Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:
Balance at Beginning Of PEITOU.........cci ittt ettt ettt ettt bttt — (59)
E(Iaﬁll(a;?]sglcatl on adjustment related to the accretion of unrealized other-than-temporary impairment, net of tax of $1 5
Total other comprenensive INCOME FOr PEITOU.........c.ciiiriirieee ettt b et b bbb b e — 2
Balance at €nd OF PEMTOM. ..ot s — (57)
Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PEIIOQ............ovuiueicicieieie bR (175) (103)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $19 million and $(10) million, respectively..........ccoverernicennennenne 30 (16)
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $1 million and $1 million, respectively®.......... 1 1
Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period 31 (25)

Balance at €nd OF PEMOU...........couiuiiiiiee e (144) (118)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:

Balance at beginning and €Nd Of PEIOT .........cciriiiiiii ettt ettt bttt ) 2
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) at end of PEriOQ.........c.cuciieiciceieicc e $ (229) $ 114
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Six Months Ended June 30,

2015 2014

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at DEgiNNiNG Of PEITO.........c.iiieeeiiie ettt bbbt e b b e b b et b b et se e b bt e ss e b et et s e e et ene e benene

Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(128) million and $202 million, respectively ..................
Recl assification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of $(22) million and $(6) million, respectively® ...

Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
INCOME, NEL OF taX OF $7 MITION®D .........oeeeoeeeee oo eee e eee e ee s e ee e e e eeeesee e eeeees s see e ee s eeeesenresneene

Total other comprehensive iNCOME (10SS) fOF PEITOM. .......couiueuriiririeirieiee ettt ettt b bbbt

BalanCe @t €N OF PEIOA........ccoiiiiiiei bbbttt

Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:

Balance at beginning Of PEITOU.........ciiiieeirieeiriste ettt e e se et e et e s et e e e sesese s eseseseeteseness et enesaesnsenenseseensnsnns

Balance at end of period

Recl as%];lcatl on adjustment related to the accretion of unrealized other-than-temporary impairment, net of tax of $3
L0011 Tl 0 T T U TP TUPTPTPTTPPOO

Total other comprehensive iNCOME fOr PEITOM...........ciiviiriiirir e

Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

Balance at beginning Of PEITOU. ........coui ittt ettt ettt ettt

Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $7 million and $(23) million, respectively ..........ccccoovriunne
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $2 million and $1 million, respectively®®
Total other comprehensive inCome (10SS) FOr PEMTOU.........coiririirrire ettt

(S = aTer Rz = aTo o) o= oo TSRS
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:

Balance at DEgiNNING OF PEITO.........c.iiieeeeiieie ettt bbb b b e b et s b h e se b bt s se e b et b s e e e neene e benene

Other comprehensive income for period:
Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liability, net of tax of lessthan $1 Million.........ccccceerieieieeieieieieieieenens
Total other comprehensive iINCOME fOr PEITOM. ........cuivriiririiririe sttt

(S = aTe R = TaTo =0T o) o 4 oo TSRS
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) at end Of PEFIOd..........cccuiiiiiiiiiiiie e

@
@

(©)]
@

Amount reclassified to net incomeisincluded in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income.

(in millions)

158 $ (18)
(217) 315
(36) (10)
12 —
(241) 305
(83) 287
— (60)
— 3
— 3
— (57)
(156) (83)
(37)

2

12 (35)
(144) (118)
®3) 2

1 —

1 _

(2) 2
(229) $ 114

Amount amortized to net income is included in interest income in our consolidated statement of income. During the third quarter of 2014, we transferred
securities from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. At the date of transfer, AOCI included net pretax unrealized losses of $234 million related to the
transferred securities which will be amortized over the remaining contractual life of each security as an adjustment of yield in a manner consistent with the

amortization of any premium or discount.

Amount reclassified to the carrying value of the debt securities isincluded in securities held-to-maturity in our consolidated balance sheet.

Amount reclassified to net income isincluded in interest income (expense) in our consolidated statement of income.
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12. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan The components of pension expense for the defined benefit pension plan recorded in our
consolidated statement of income and shown in the table below reflect the portion of pension expense of the combined HSBC
North America Pension Plan (either the "HBSC North America Pension Plan" or the "Plan™) which has been allocated to us.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Service cost — benefits earned during the Period ..., $ 1% 13 3 % 2
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation...........ccvvveiriiriiri e 16 18 33 36
Expected return 0N plan @SSELS.........cocveiiiieneeee e (23) (21) (46) (42)
Amortization of net actuarial 10SS......cc.ocviririrre e 10 9 19 19
PENSION EXPENSE....cvvuiueeeeereseesesesesesesesesesesesesssssssesessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssens $ 4 % 7% 9 $ 15

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC North America made an additional contribution of $46 million to the Plan.

Mortality rates, which attempt to predict the expected life of plan participants, are a key input in establishing the HSBC North
America Pension Plan liability. During the second quarter of 2015, we completed a review of our mortality assumptions using
periodic demographic studies of the Plan and mortality data provided by the Society of Actuaries which will result in an increase
to pension expense, of which our share is expected to be $3.5 million per quarter beginning in the third quarter of 2015.

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions The components of net periodic benefit cost for our postretirement plans other than
pension are as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation...........c.ccceeveeeeveeeeceeceeee e $ — 3 19 1 3 1
Net periodic postretirement DENEfit COSL........ovuviriniriririnirireiereeeee et $ — 9 19 1 $ 1
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13. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. These transactions occur at prevailing
market rates and terms and include funding arrangements, derivative transactions, servicing arrangements, information technology
support, centralized support services, banking and other miscellaneous services. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit
exposures of) HSBC Bank USA to other HSBC affiliates (other than Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insured
banks) are legally required to be secured by eligible collateral. The following tables and discussions below present the more
significant related party balances and the income (expense) generated by related party transactions:

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash and dUE frOM BANKS........c.cieiiicietiicceteee ettt ettt sttt ae e $ 265 $ 140
Interest bearing deposits With DaNKS™ ..o e ee e 906 928
Securities purchased under agreements to reSell@............coouoveeeeeeeeseeeeeeeee s 4,000 —
TIAOING BSSELS ..ot n ettt en e 16,916 20,194
[0 7= 1 TP P OO PSPPSR 4,607 4,821
ONEI et 855 983
LI L= = 53T S $ 27549 $ 27,066
Liabilities: -
DIEDOSIES. ...vvvcuceetetereteserese sttt ae bbb bbb e b et ebe b e b b e b et e b e b e b e b et et e b et e b e b et et e b e b e b e b et et et e b e b e b et et et e b e b et et et et ebebetetane $ 13286 $ 16,596
Trading lIADHTIEST ..ot es e ses s sens s 18,019 21,130
ShOrt-tErM BOMTOWINGS ...t sa e st e e sre st e et e e enneneens 2,504 847
LONG-TEIMN AEDL ...ttt bbb e b b e et e e eneas 1,828 3,981
OB .ot 511 459
QLo = I T o 1 TR $ 36148 $ 43,013

@ Includesinterest bearing deposits with HSBC Mexico S.A. of $650 million and $800 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
@ Reflects overnight purchases of U.S. Treasury securities which HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI") has agreed to repurchase.

®  Trading assetsand trading liabilitiesdo not reflect theimpact of netting which allowstheoffsetting of amountsrelating to certain contractsif certain conditions
are met. Trading assets and liabilities primarily consist of derivatives contracts.

@ Other assets and other liabilities primarily consist of derivative contracts.
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Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Income/(Expense):

INEEIESE INCOIME........eiiiiitiiet ettt ettt e $ 28 $ 15 $ 58 $ 29

[NEEIESE EXPENSE. ... s (8) (19) (22) (37
Net interest iNCOME (EXPENSE).......cueruereriererieerieeriee sttt 20 4 36 (8)
Trading rEVENUE (EXPENSE).....civevereeeereeierieesieesie st st sesteseeteseesesaesesaenesbenesseessenens 221 (247) 369 705
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates:

HSBC BaNK PIC......cuiuiiiiiiieiettttee ettt 18 $ 10 37 $ 26

HSBC FiNance COrPOration ..........ccoeeererisiesierieseesieseeseeseeeeseeseeesesesnessessesseseeseas 13 26 29 41

HSBC Markets (USA) INC. ("HMUS") .....cooicirreeerereeeses e 6 3 13 7

Other HSBC affili@eS......vcueieeeieeeririeice st 16 12 30 24
Total servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.........ooovveereivcvnineienes 53 51 109 98
Gain (loss) on instruments designed at fair value and related derivatives................... (128) 266 130 364
Support services from HSBC affiliates:

HMUS L.t bbbtttk e ettt (69) (54) (133) (111)

HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU")....ccooiiininineeeeeeeeeneee (264) (271) (504) (524)

Other HSBC affili@eS......vcueveerieeerir ettt (52) (60) (100) (104)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccccocviiiiciiiccccrcccccccns (385) (385) (737) (739)
Stock based compensation expense With HSBC®W.............ooovrveereceinnneeeeeneeeii, (15) (10) (28) (18)

@ Employees may participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in salaries and employee benefits
in our consolidated statement of income. Employees also may participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement plans sponsored by
HSBC North Americawhich are discussed in Note 12, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits.”

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

Weuse HSBC affiliatesto fund aportion of our borrowing and liquidity needs. At December 31, 2014, long-term debt with affiliates
reflected $4.0 billion in floating rate senior debt with HSBC North America. During the first quarter of 2015, we repaid this debt
infull. At June 30, 2015, long-term debt with affiliates reflected $1.0 billion in floating rate senior debt and $0.9 billionin floating
rate subordinated debt with HSBC North America. These borrowings were issued during the second quarter of 2015 and mature
in December 2016 and May 2025, respectively. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,”" for
additional details.

We have a $150 million uncommitted line of credit with HSBC North Americalnc. ("HNAI") although there was no outstanding
balance at either June 30, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

We have also incurred short-term borrowings with certain affiliates, largely securities sold under repurchase agreements with HSI
In addition, certain affiliates have also placed deposits with us.

Lending and Derivative Related Arrangements Extended to HSBC Affiliates:
At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we have the following loan balances outstanding with HSBC affiliates:

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
HSBC FiNanNCe COMPOILON .........cucuiiieteteiecieteeeeie et see ettt s bbb s s bt e s se bt ese s b besesssnsseseneas $ 3014 $ 3,014
HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") and SUDSIAIANES ........cceveereeeeeneeecese e 334 563
HSBC BaNK Brasil S.A. ...ttt sttt sttt se e eae e et s ae s re et e besae st e tene e eneeneenens 1,108 1,108
Other short-term affiliate |eNAiNG........covoeiiririree s 151 136
L1020 7= $ 4607 $ 4,821

HSBC Finance Corporation We have extended a $5.0 billion, 364-day uncommitted unsecured revolving credit agreement to
HSBC Finance which expires during the fourth quarter of 2015. The credit agreement allows for borrowings with maturities of
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up to 5 years. At both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, $3.0 billion was outstanding under this credit agreement with $0.5
billion maturing in September 2017, $1.5 billion maturing in January 2018 and $1.0 billion maturing in September 2018. We have
also extended a committed revolving credit facility to HSBC Finance of $1.0 billion which did not have any outstanding balance
at either June 30, 2015 or December 31, 2014. This credit facility expiresin May 2017.

HMUS and subsidiaries We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the
amount of $6.7 billion at both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, of which $334 million and $563 million,
respectively, was outstanding. The maturities of the outstanding borrowingsrange from overnight to three months. Each borrowing
isre-evaluated prior to its maturity date and either extended or allowed to mature.

HSBC Bank Brasil S.A. We have extended uncommitted lines of credit to HSBC Bank Brasil in the amount of $1.2 hillion, of
which $1.1 billion was outstanding, at both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The outstanding balances mature
at various stages between 2016 and 2018.

We have extended lines of credit to various other HSBC affiliatestotaling $2.3 billion which did not have any outstanding balances
at either June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

Other short-term affiliate lending In addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may
extend loans to affiliates which are generally short term in nature. At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, there were $151
million and $136 million, respectively, of these loans outstanding.

HUSI isalso committed to provide liquidity facilitiesto backstop the liquidity risk in Regency, an asset-backed commercial paper
conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate, in relation to assets originated in the U.S. The notional amount of theliquidity facilities
provided by HUSI to Regency was approximately $3.0 billion as of June 30, 2015, which is less than half of Regency's tota
liquidity facilities.

As part of aglobal HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with certain securities, debt issues and
derivative contractswith unaffiliated third parties, weroutinely enter into derivative transactionswith HSBC Finance, HSBC Bank
plc and other HSBC &ffiliates. The notional value of derivative contracts related to these transactions was approximately $1,056.4
billion and $1,082.6 billion at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined as the net fair
value of derivative assets and liabilities) related to the contracts was approximately $1,170 million and $1,166 million at June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Our Globa Banking and Markets business accounts for these transactions on a mark
to market basis, with the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially offset by the change in value of related
contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.

Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multiple service level agreements, we provide servicesto and receive services from various HSBC affiliates. Thefollowing
summarizes these activities:

e Servicing activities for residential mortgage |oans across North America are performed both by us and HSBC Finance. As a
result, we receive servicing fees from HSBC Finance for services performed on their behalf and pay servicing feesto HSBC
Finance for services performed on our behalf. The fees we receive from HSBC Finance are reported in servicing and other
feesfrom HSBC affiliates. Feeswe pay to HSBC Finance are reported in support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates. Thisincludes
fees paid for the servicing of residential mortgage loans (with a carrying amount of $768 million and $837 million at June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively) that we purchased from HSBC Finance in 2003 and 2004.

» HSBC North Americastechnology and certain centralized support services including human resources, corporate affairs, risk
management, legal, compliance, tax, finance and other shared servicesthat are centralized within HTSU. HTSU also provides
certain item processing and statement processing activities to us. The fees we pay HTSU for the centralized support services
and processing activitiesareincluded in support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates. We also receive feesfrom HTSU for providing
certain administrative services to them. The fees we receive from HTSU are included in servicing and other fees from HSBC
affiliates. In certain cases, for facilities used by HTSU, we may guarantee their performance under the lease agreements.

*  Weuse HSBC Global Resourcing (UK) Ltd., an HSBC affiliatelocated outside of the United States, to provide various support
services to our operations including among other areas, customer service, systems, collection and accounting functions. The
expenses related to these services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates.

* Weutilize HSI for broker dealer, debt underwriting, customer referrals, loan syndication and other treasury and traded markets
related services, pursuant to servicelevel agreements. Feescharged by HSI for broker deal er, |oan syndication services, treasury
and traded markets related services areincluded in support services from HSBC affiliates. Debt underwriting fees charged by
HSI are deferred as areduction of long-term debt and amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt. Customer
referral fees paid to HS| are netted against customer fee income, which isincluded in other fees and commissions.
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Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates

Wereceived revenuefrom our affiliatesfor rent on certain office space, which hasbeen recorded asacomponent of support services
from HSBC ffiliates. Rental revenue from our affiliatestotaled $14 million and $29 million during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $13 million and $27 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014,
respectively.

14. Business Segments

We have four distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB"). There have been no changes in the basis of our
segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Our segment results are presented in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which apply IFRS and, as
a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the Group Reporting Basis (a
non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about
allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. However, we continue to monitor capital adequacy,
establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencieson aU.S. GAAP basis.

We are currently in the process of re-evaluating the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and
content of the U.S. GAAPfinancial data being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changesto this
reporting in 2015, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

A summary of differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are presented in Note 23,
"Business Segments,” in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since December 31, 2014 in the differences
between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis.
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The following table summarizes the results for each segment on a Group Reporting Basis, as well as provides a reconciliation of
total results under the Group Reporting Basisto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
_ Group Regor_ting
Adjustments/ Reporting asis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi-  Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustments®  fications® Totals
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2015
Net interest income® ........ $ 195 $ 211 $ 132 $ 50 G $ @B $ 580 $ (18) $ 64 $ 626
Other operating income...... 86 71 219 27 75 3 481 (15) (63) 403
Total operating income...... 281 282 351 77 70 — 1,061 (33) 1 1,029
Loan impairment charges... 15 4 4 1) — — 22 27) (1) (6)
266 278 347 78 70 — 1,039 (6) 2 1,035
Operating expenses® ......... 300 185 264 58 50 — 857 ) 2 850
Profit (loss) before income
QNS HR— $ (34 $ 93 $ 8 $ 20 20 $ — $ 182 $ 38 — % 185
Three Months Ended June 30, 2014
Net interest income®........ $ 212 $ 202 $ 109 $ 56 $ 78 $ 4 $ 653 $ (1e) $ 36 $ 673
Other operating income...... 104 64 151 25 (38) 4 310 (6) (43) 261
Total operating income...... 316 266 260 81 40 — 963 (22) %) 934
Loan impairment charges... 21 83 40 — — — 144 (52 @ 85
295 183 220 81 40 — 819 30 — 849
Operating expenses® ......... 298 174 239 61 28 — 800 76 — 876
Profit (loss) before income
X XPENSL. e § @) $ 908 (A9 $ 20 8 128  — 5 198 WS _— 5 @)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015
Net interest income® ......... $ 392 $ 412 $ 250 $ 99 (1) $ ® $ 1134 $ 32) $ 130 $ 1,232
Other operating income...... 173 148 485 51 157 8 1,022 (25) (130) 867
Total operating income...... 565 560 735 150 146 — 2,156 (57) — 2,099
Loan impairment charges... 37 14 12 1) — — 62 (13) ) 47
528 546 723 151 146 — 2,094 (44) 2 2,052
Operating expenses® ......... 581 354 523 116 77 — 1,651 (26) 2 1,627
Profit (loss) before income
tax exXpense........ccevevereenens $ (53) $ 192 $ 200 $ 35 $ 69 $ — $ 443  $ (18) $ — $ 425
Balances at end of -
period:
. $19,987 $31,940 $181541 $8174 $ 779 $ — $242421 $ (45,816) $ 13 $ 196,618
Tota loans, net.........cc....... 17,039 30,783 24,489 6,498 — — 78,809 906 3,254 82,969
GoodWill .....ccveeeiireicienene 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits™ ................ 30,504 21,844 30,343 12,766 — — 95457 (4512) 31,602 122,547
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Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
_ Group Regor_ting
Adjustments/ Reporting asis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustments®  fications® Totals

(in millions)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
Net interest income® ......... $ 410 $ 38 $ 206 $ 105 $ 65 $ 9 $ 1166 $ 3y $ 57 $ 1,192
Other operating income...... 217 132 445 50 (13) 9 840 (20) (69) 761
Total operating income...... 627 521 651 155 52 — 2,006 (41) (12) 1,953
Loan impairment charges... 23 90 55 (5) — — 163 (48) (14) 101

604 431 596 160 52 — 1,843 7 2 1,852

Operating expenses® ........ 577 332 478 116 53 — 1,556 68 2 1,626
Profit (loss) before income
taX EXPENSE...cevevrereererererens 27 $ 9 $ 118 $ 4 % 12 $ — % 287 $ 61) $ — 226
Balances at end of -
period:
Total assats.......ccceevveeenennne $19,169 $26,467 $175330 $8232 $ 826 $ — $230024 $ (47,570) $ (236) $ 182,218
Tota loans, net................... 16,315 25,239 19,957 6,069 — — 67,580 1,693 2,301 71,574
Goodwill ........ . 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits® .................. 29138 22,135 30,092 11,822 — — 93,187 (3128) 25462 115,521

@ Netinterestincome of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest paid on liabilities of the segment adjusted
for afunding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive afunding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer
deposits) based on equivalent market rates. The objective of these charges/credits isto transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit

in Balance Sheet Management and more appropriately reflect the profitability of segments.

@ Expenses for the segments include fully apportioned corporate overhead expenses.

®  During the second quarter of 2015, we concluded that brokered deposits would be better presented as debt under the Group Reporting Basis. As aresult, we
reclassified $1.8 billion of brokered depositsin the GB&M segment to debt at June 30, 2014 to conform with current year presentation.

®  Represents adjustments associated with differences between the Group Reporting Basis and the U.S. GAAP basis of accounting.
®  Represents differencesin financial statement presentation between Group Reporting Basis and U.S. GAAP.

15. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Bank dividends are a potential source of funds used for payment of shareholder dividends and other HSBC USA cash needs. Any
significant non-contractual dividend from HSBC Bank USA would require the approval of the Office of the Comptroller of the
Currency ("the OCC"). Approval is also required if the total of all dividends HSBC Bank USA declaresin any year exceeds the
cumulative net profits for that year, combined with the profits for the two preceding years reduced by dividends attributable to
those years. Under a separate restriction, payment of dividends is prohibited in amounts greater than undivided profits then on
hand, after deducting actual |ossesand bad debts. Bad debts are debts due and unpaid for aperiod of six monthsunlesswell secured,
as defined, and in the process of collection.
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The following table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance
with banking regulations in effect as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Capital Well-Capitalized Actual Capital Well-Capitalized Actual
Amount Ratio” Ratio Amount Ratio Ratio

(dollars are in millions)

Total capital ratio:®

HSBC USA ..o, $ 24,670 10.00%  16.31% $ 21,017 10.00%  15.78%

HSBC Bank USA..........coomeneeeen. 26,828 10.00 18.44 22,760 10.00 17.86
Tier 1 capital ratio:®

HSBC USA ..o 18,859 6.00 12.47 15,205 6.00 11.41

HSBC Bank USA.........coounneee... 22,212 8.00 15.26 17,215 8.00 1351
Common equity Tier 1 ratio:®

HSBC USA ..o 17,810 450 @ 11.77 13,754 450 @ 1033

HSBC Bank USA.........coomeeneeen. 19,857 6.50 13.65 17,215 6.50 13,51
Tier 1 leverageratio:

HSBC USA oo 18,859 400 @ 950 15,205 400 @ 854

HSBC Bank USA.........ccooeneee.n. 22,212 5.00 11.58 17,215 5.00 10.06
Risk weighted assets;®

HSBC USA ..o, 151,286 133,211

HSBC Bank USA.........coomenneeen. 145,521 127,456

@ HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as "well-capitalized,” as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized aswell-capitalized under
regulatory guidelines, abanking institution must have theratiosreflected in the above tabl e, and must not be subject to adirective, order, or written agreement
to meet and maintain specific capital levels. Theregulatory ratiosfor an institution to be well-capitalized under Basel 111 became effective beginning January
1, 2015 and the new ratios are shown for both periods.

@ There are no common equity Tier 1 or Tier 1 leverage ratio components in the definition of awell-capitalized bank holding company. The ratios shown in
both periods are the required regulatory minimum ratios beginning in 2015.

®  Risk weighted assets are calculated under the Basel 111 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015, replacing the Basel | risk-based
approach used in 2014.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulatorsissued afinal rule implementing the Basel 111 capital framework in the U.S. ("the Basel 111 final
rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, took effect January 1, 2014 with
certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. As a result, the capital ratios in the table above are
reported in accordance with the Basel 111 transition rules within the final rule. In addition, the Basel 111 final rule introduced the
Standardized Approach for risk weighted assets, which replaced the Basel | risk-based guidance for determining risk weighted
assets for banking organizations and came into effect on January 1, 2015.

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previously issued to HSBC North
Americaand HSBC Bank U SA repaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issued toHSBC USA. In conjunction
with these repayments, HSBC USA received acapital contribution of $4,000 million fromitsimmediate parent, HNAI, in exchange
for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributionsto its subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA, of $2,400 million
in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares of non-cumulative preferred stock.
These capital actionswere taken to support our growth strategy and to strengthen the Basel 111 regulatory capital positions of both
HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA exercised the option to call $560 million of junior subordinated debentures
previously issued by HSBC USA to HSBC USA Capital Trusts|, Il and 111 at the contractual call prices of 100.781 percent, 100.84
percent and 100.732 percent, respectively, which resulted in anet loss on extinguishment of approximately $11 million. Thetrusts
used the proceeds to redeem the trust preferred securities previously issued to third party investors. During the second quarter of
2015, HSBC USA aso redeemed all of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative
Preferred Stock at their stated values of $100 per share and $50 per share, respectively, resulting in atotal cash payment of $300
million. Under the Basel 111 final rule, the trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock will fully phase out
of Tier 1 capital to Tier 2 capital by January 1, 2016. In addition, the trust preferred securitieswill start phasing out of Tier 2 capital
in 2016 and fully phase out by January 1, 2022. In response to these rule changes, the capital instruments were redeemed and
HSBC USA issued $850 million of Tier 2 subordinated debt to HSBC North America
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16. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPES") primarily to structure financial products
to meet our clients investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPES based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. An SPE isa VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rightsto direct the activitiesof theentity that most significantly impactstheentity'seconomic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of aVIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could be potentially significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or inthe aggregate could be significant enough to warrant our designation asthe primary beneficiary and hencerequire
usto consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be significant
where we, among other things, (i) provide liquidity put options or other liquidity facilities to support the VIE's debt obligations;
(ii) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from the assets held by the VIE; (iii) provide a
financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilitiesissued; (iv) design, organize and structure the transaction; and (v) retain a
financial or servicing interest inthe VIE.

We are reguired to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In aimost all
cases, aqualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder isrequired to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIES as of June 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014 which are consolidated on our balance sheets. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that
eliminate on consolidation.

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Consolidated ~ Consolidated  Consolidated ~ Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)
Low income housing limited liability partnership:
Other @SSELS ...c.viciieiiceeteeee et $ 355 $ — % 380 $ —
LONg-termM debt........coveecieececeecec e — 92 — 92
Interest, taxes and other liabilities..........ocveeveecee i — 84 — 75
LI 1 $ 355 % 176 $ 380 $ 167

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, al low income housing investments held by us at the time were
transferred to a Limited Liability Partnership ("LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while a third party invested cash for an
equity interest that is mandatorily redeemable at a future date. The LLP was created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax
benefits from these low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity
investment at risk to finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
of the LLP due to the nature of our continuing involvement and, as a result, consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest
issued to thethird party investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLPin other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The
investments held by the LLP represent equity investments in the underlying low income housing partnerships. As a practical
expedient, we amortize the investments in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the proportional amortization method of
accounting and present such benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense. The LLP does not consolidate the
underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the partnershipsthat most significantly impact
the economic performance of the partnerships.
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Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIES that are not consolidated because we are not the primary
beneficiary. The following table provides additional information on these unconsolidated VIEs, including the variable interests
held by us and our maximum exposure to loss arising from our involvementsin these VIEs, as of June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014

Variable Interests Variable Interests Total Assets in Maximum
Held Classified Held Classified Unconsolidated Exposure
as Assets as Liabilities VIEs to Loss
(in millions)

At June 30, 2015
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits...........cccc....... $ 57 $ — 3 11,121 $ 3,046
Structured Note VENICIES.......ccveeveeceeceee e 2,855 8 5,887 5,879
Low income housing partnerships...........cccceeeeeeerereneenn 50 44 192 50
TOAl. .o e e e $ 2962 $ 52 % 17,200 $ 8,975
At December 31, 2014
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits...........c.ccue..... $ 29 $ — 3 10984 $ 2,685
Structured Note VENICIES.......ccueevveeceiecee e 2,841 7 5,867 5,860
Low income housing partnerships.........cccceeeeeeeeeeereereenn 44 39 141 44
LI L $ 2914 $ 46 $ 16,992 $ 8,589

Information on the types of variable interest entities with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable
interests held in those entities is presented below.

Asset-backed commercial paper ("ABCP") conduits We provide liquidity facilities to Regency, a multi-seller ABCP conduit
consolidated by an HSBC affiliate. Customerssell financial assets, such astrade receivabl es, to Regency, which fundsthe purchases
by issuing short-term highly-rated commercial paper collateralized by theassetsacquired. We, alongwith other financial institutions,
provideliquidity facilitiesto Regency intheform of linesof credit or asset purchase commitments. Theseliquidity facilities support
transactions associated with a specific seller of assetsto the conduit and we would only be required to provide support in the event
of certain triggers associated with those transactions and assets. Our obligations are generally pari passu with those of other
institutions that also provide liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same transactions. We do not provide any program-
wide credit enhancements to ABCP conduits.

Each seller of assets to an ABCP conduit typically provides credit enhancements in the form of asset overcollateralization and,
therefore, bears the risk of first loss related to the specific assets transferred. We do not transfer our own assets to Regency. We
also do not provide the majority of theliquidity facilitiesto Regency. We have no ownership interestsin, perform no administrative
dutiesfor, and do not service any of the assetsheld by Regency. We are not the primary beneficiary and do not consolidate Regency.
Credit risk related to the liquidity facilities provided is managed by subjecting these facilitiesto our normal underwriting and risk
management processes. The $3,046 million maximum exposure to loss presented in the table above represents the maximum
amount of loans and asset purchases we could be required to fund under the liquidity facilities. The maximum loss exposure is
estimated assuming the facilities are fully drawn and the underlying collateralized assets are in default with zero recovery value.

Structured note vehicles We provide derivatives, such as interest rate and currency swaps, to structured note vehicles and, in
certain instances, invest in the vehicles debt instruments. We hold variable interests in these structured note vehiclesin the form
of total return swaps under which we take on the risks and benefits of the structured notes they issue. The same risks and benefits
are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We earn a spread for facilitating the transaction. Since
we do not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and are not the primary beneficiary, we do not consolidate them. Our
maximum exposure to 10ss is the notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes. The maximum exposure to
loss will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notes is reduced to zero and, at the same time, the
counterparty of the back-end swap defaultswith zero recovery. In certain instances, wehold credit default swapswith the structured
note vehicles under which we receive credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange for the payment of a premium.
Through these derivatives, the vehicles assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets which are then passed on to the
holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the credit default swapswe hold are
not considered variable interests. We record al investments in, and derivative contracts with, unconsolidated structured note
vehicles at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

Low income housing partnerships Separately from the low income housing L LP discussed above, weinvest as alimited partner
in low income housing partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing projects and generate tax benefits, including federal
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low income housing tax credits, for investors. The partnerships are deemed to be VI Es because they do not have sufficient equity
investment at risk and are structured with non-substantive voting rights. We are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do
not consolidate them. Our investment in low income housing partnerships are recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance
sheet. As a practical expedient, we amortize the investment in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the proportional
amortization method of accounting and present such benefits net of investment amortization inincometax expense. The maximum
exposure to loss shown in the table above represents our recorded investment.

Beneficial interests issued by third-party sponsored securitization entities We hold certain beneficia interests such as mortgage-
backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization entities which may be considered VIEs. The investments are
transacted at arm's-length and decisionsto invest are based on a credit analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We
are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to direct the activities of these issuers. As such, we do not
consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other involvements in servicing or managing the collateral
assetsor providefinancial or liquidity support totheseissuerswhich potentially giverisetorisk of lossexposure. Theseinvestments
are an integral part of the disclosure in Note 3, "Securities," and Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements," and, therefore, are not
disclosed in this note to avoid redundancy.

17. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral

Guarantee Arrangements Aspart of our normal operations, weenter into credit derivativesand various off-bal ance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principaly in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.

The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangements as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Following the table is a description of the
various arrangements.

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Notional / Notional /
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss
(in millions)
Credit derVAtIVESD® ...ttt et s e $ (1,605) $ 105348 $ (1,484) $ 117,768
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations®®......................... — 6,022 — 5,358
Performance standby letters of credit, net of participations®® .................. — 3,283 — 3,083
Liquidity asset purchase agreements® ............cocoeeoomeeeeoneeseeseeeseesssseen. — 3,046 — 2,685
TOUAl oo et e e e e ee e e s s e eereeeeeeenen $ (1,605) $ 117,699 $ (1.484) $ 128,894

@ Includes $32,284 million and $32,688 million of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
@ Includes $980 million and $937 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

®  For standby letters of credit and liquidity asset purchase agreements, maximum |oss represents losses to be recognized assuming the letter of credit and
liquidity facilities have been fully drawn and the obligors have defaulted with zero recovery.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse
arrangements.

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees

Credit derivatives Credit derivativesarefinancial instrumentsthat transfer the credit risk of areference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
the form of credit default swaps, with variousinstitutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
protectionto acounterparty that holdsthereference obligation, thearrangement iseffectively afinancial guarantee onthereference
obligation. Under acredit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimbursethe credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of acredit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
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notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when acredit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.

We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net sell protection position at any time. The following table summarizes our net credit derivative positions as of June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014:

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Carrying / Fair Carrying / Fair
Value Notional Value Notional
(in millions)
Sell-protection credit derivative pOSitions...........ccveveereineieneeneenes $ (1,605) $ 105,348 $ (1,484) $ 117,768
Buy-protection credit derivative poSitions............ccoeveeeverevenenenenenens 1,774 111,457 1,741 122,969
NEE POSIEIOND ... $ 169 $ 6,109 $ 257 $ 5201

@ positionsare presented net in thetabl e aboveto provide acomplete analysisof our risk exposure and depict theway we manageour credit derivative portfolio.
The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.

Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit isissued to athird party for the benefit of a customer and is a guarantee that
the customer will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates us to pay a specified amount to
the third party beneficiary if the customer fails to perform the contractual obligation. We issue two types of standby letters of
credit: performance and financial. A performance standby letter of credit isissued where the customer isrequired to perform some
non-financial contractual obligation, such asthe performance of a specific act, whereasafinancial standby letter of credit isissued
where the customer's contractual obligation isof afinancia nature, such asthe repayment of aloan or debt instrument. As of June
30, 2015, thetotal amount of outstanding financial standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net
of participations) were $6,022 million and $3,283 million, respectively. Asof December 31, 2014, thetotal amount of outstanding
financial standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net of participations) were $5,358 million
and $3,083 million, respectively.

Theissuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing letters of credit commensurate with the customer's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other
liabilitiesare deferred fees on standby letters of credit amounting to $52 million and $50 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively. Also included in other liabilitiesis an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters of credit of $17
million and $16 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the credit ratings related to guarantees including the ratings of counterparties against which we
sold credit protection and financia standby letters of credit as of June 30, 2015 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors or the Transactions

Average
Life Investment ~ Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total
(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives

Single name credit default sSwaps ("CDS").....coceveveveveveeeevenenee. 26 $ 66,677 $ 18511 $ 85,188

Structured CDS........ooeececeee e 1.8 5,079 627 5,706

Index credit derivatiVeS.........oeecveeeieeeiee e 33 4,002 6,716 10,718

TOtal FEIUIN SWEPS.....ccveevereeieirieie e 25 3,332 404 3,736
SUBLOLEL ... 79,090 26,258 105,348
Standby Letters of Credit® ...........oooveeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeseeseeeseseeesennn 1.0 6,537 2,768 9,305
1 - $ 85627 $ 29026 $ 114,653

@ The credit ratings in the table represent external credit ratings for classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our interna groupings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based on
ascale which ranks the risk of default of a customer. The groupings are determined and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the customer's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performancetoindustry peersand perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratingsto outside
externa rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.

A non-investment grade rating of areferenced obligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Non Credit-Risk Related Guarantees and Other Arrangements

Liquidity asset purchase agreements We provide liquidity facilities to Regency, a multi-seller ABCP conduit consolidated by an
HSBC affiliate. Regency finances the purchase of individual assets by issuing commercial paper to third party investors. Each
liquidity facility is transaction specific and has a maximum limit. Pursuant to the liquidity agreements, we are obligated, subject
to certain limitations, to advance funds in an amount not to exceed the face value of the commercial paper in the event Regency
isunableor unwilling to refinanceitscommercial paper. A liquidity asset purchase agreement i seconomically aconditional written
put option issued to the conduit where the exercise price is the face value of the commercial paper. As of June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 we had issued $3,046 million and $2,685 million, respectively, of liquidity facilitiesto provideliquidity support
to ABCP conduits. See Note 16, "Variable Interest Entities,” for further information.

Clearinghouses and exchanges We are amember of various exchanges and clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or
derivativescontracts. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, membersof aclearinghouse
may be required to contribute to aguaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearinghouse. As a member, we may be
required to pay aproportionate share of thefinancial obligations of another member who defaultsonits obligationsto the exchange
or the clearinghouse. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had exhausted its resources.
Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated.

Securitization Activity Inaddition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage loans in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSI to facilitate HSI's
wholeloan securitization program which was discontinued in 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of such
loansto HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage Securitization Matters" in Note
28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2014 Form10-K for additional discussion of related exposure. There have been no
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significant changes with regards to this exposure since December 31, 2014. The outstanding principal balance on these loanswas
approximately $5.5 billion and $5.7 billion at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations Historically, weoriginated and sold mortgage loans, primarily to government sponsored
entities ("GSES"), and provided various representations and warranties related to, among other things, the ownership of the loans,
the validity of the liens, the loan selection and origination process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by
the agencies. In the event of a breach of our representations and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with
identified defects or to indemnify the buyers. Our contractual obligation arises only when the breach of representations and
warranties are discovered and repurchase is demanded. Asaresult of settlementswith FNMA and FHLMC during 2013 and 2014,
therepurchase exposure associ ated with these sal eshasbeen substantial ly resolved. In addition, with the conversion of our mortgage
processing and servicing operationsto PHH Mortgagein 2013, new agency eligible originationsare sold directly to PHH Mortgage
and PHH Mortgage is responsible for origination representations and warranties for all 1oans purchased.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider historical losses on
residual risks not covered by settlement agreements adjusted for any risk factors not captured in the historical losses aswell asthe
level of outstanding repurchase demands received. Outstanding repurchase demands received totaled $3 million at both June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014.

The following table summarizes the change in our estimated repurchase liability during the three and six months ended June 30,
2015 and 2014 for obligations arising from the breach of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Balance at beginning of PEiOd ... $ 23 36 $ 27 $ 99
Decreasein liability recorded through €arnings............ccoveieensecnnseeceseseeees ) — (5) (34)
REAIZEA 10SSES........ouiriiecrree ettt — 2 1) (31)
Balance at end Of PEriOd ... s $ 21 $ 34 $ 21 $ 34

During the first quarter of 2014, we entered into a settlement with the FHLMC for $25 million, reflected in realized losses in the
liahility rollforward above, which settled our liability for substantially al loans sold to FHLMC from January 1, 2000 through
2013. As aresult of the settlement and a re-assessment of the residual exposure, we released $34 million in repurchase reserves.
We continue to maintain repurchase reserves for exposure associated with residual risks not covered by the settlement agreement.

Our remaining repurchase liability of $21 million at June 30, 2015 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been incurred,
including interest, arising from breaches of representations and warranties associated with mortgage |oans sold. Because the level
of mortgage |oan repurchase losses is dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies and other external risk factors
such as housing market trends that may change, the level of the liability for mortgage loan repurchase losses requires significant
judgment. We continue to eval uate our methods of determining the best estimate of loss based on recent trends. As these estimates
are influenced by factors outside our control, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably possible that
they could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liahility is between zero and $25
million at June 30, 2015. Thisestimated range of reasonably possiblelosseswas determined based upon modifying the assumptions
utilized in our best estimate of probable losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible adverse assumptions.
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Pledged Assets
Pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest bearing deposits With DaNKS............ccccociiiii i $ 487 $ 415
TIAAING BSSELSY ..o s st eenaen e 3,195 2,886
Securities aVailable-fOr-SAED ...........coo.occeeieeseeseeeese e s s ees st ens s 17,523 22,023
SECUNtIES NEIA-TO-MELUIITY ...ttt b e e b e e e e 3,187 3,602
LOANS ...ttt ettt ettt e et ee et e s s eeeen e eereeresneeens 13,537 12,580
OUNEE BSSEES™ ...t ee e ee e ee e ee e e e se e ee e s e ee e 1,526 2,495
TOLAL. ..ottt e et er st ee e sttt en ettt en et ettt e s et en e $ 39455 $ 44,001

@ Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.

@ Securities available-for-sale are primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits, trust deposits and various short-term and long term borrowings,
as well as providing capacity for potential secured borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") and the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York.

®  Loans are primarily residential mortgage loans pledged against current and potential borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York.

@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to be reported on the consolidated
balance sheet. The fair value of securities available-for-sale that can be sold or repledged was $5,350 million and $8,348 million
at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that can be sold or repledged was $3,195
million and $2,886 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

The fair value of collateral we accepted but not reported on the consolidated balance sheet that can be sold or repledged was
$13,338 million and $6,765 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. This collateral was obtained under
security resale agreements. Of this collateral, $371 million and $2,226 million has been sold or repledged as collateral under
repurchase agreements or to cover short sales at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Securities Resale and Repurchase Agreements

We enter into purchases of securities under agreements to resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) identical or substantially the same securities. Resal e and repurchase agreements are accounted
for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
itisour policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreementsisregularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.
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The following table provides information about resale and repurchase agreements that are subject to offset as of June 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet™® Balance Sheet Instruments @ Pledged Net Amount ©
(in millions)

As of June 30, 2015:
Assets:

Securities purchased under

resale agreements................. $ 17,339 1,227 16,112 16,112 — 3 —
Liabilities:

Securities sold under

repurchase agreements......... $ 8,916 1,227 7,689 7,689 — 3 —
As of December 31, 2014:
Assets:

Securities purchased under

resale agreements................. $ 7,165 5,752 1,413 1,413 — $ —
Liabilities:

Securities sold under

repurchase agreements......... $ 13459 5,752 7,707 7,707 — 3 —

@ Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the
applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.
Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.

Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.

@)
(©)]

Thefollowingtableprovidestheclassof collateral pledged and remaining contractual maturity of repurchase agreementsaccounted
for as secured borrowings as of June 30, 2015:

Overnight
and Greater than
Continuous  Upto30days 30 to 90 days 90 days Total
(in millions)
As of June 30, 2015:
Assets:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and
SPONSOred ENLItIES.......c.covveveeeeeeeeceeee e $ 1243 $ 4453 $ 49 $ 3171 $ 8916
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18. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value
Framework™). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
"highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financial instruments do not have
aternativeuse and, assuch, thefair value of financia instruments should be determined using an “in-exchange” valuation premise.
However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of
agroup of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting credit risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would
receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of agroup of assets or liabilitiesif certain conditions are met. We elected to apply
the measurement exception to agroup of derivativeinstrumentswith offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate
to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and commodity price risk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not available, val uation techniques that incorporate rel evant transaction dataand market
parametersreflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration areapplied. Whereapplicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the marketsin which the transactions occur.
Thefair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit risk adjustment - The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financia liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the partiesto the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to afinancial liability isrecorded to reflect the default risk of HUSI.

Liquidity risk adjustment - Theliquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such away that results in a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of agroup of financial assets or financial liabilities. These adjustmentsrelate primarily to Level 2 assets.

Model valuation adjustment - Wherefair value measurements are determined using aninternal valuation model based on observable
and unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be a range of possible valuation
inputs that market participants may assume in determining the fair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement has
inherent measurement risk if one or more parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment is
necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different val uation techniques are avail abl e, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk. Model valuation adjustments are not material and relate primarily to Level 2 instruments.

We apply stress scenariosin determining appropriate liquidity risk and model risk adjustmentsfor Level 3fair valuesby reviewing
the historical data for unobservable inputs (e.g., correlation, volatility). Some stress scenarios involve a 95 percent confidence
interval (i.e., two standard deviations). Other stress scenarios may be performed using highly stressed historical inputs such as
credit spreads experienced during acredit crisis. We al so utilize unobservable parameter adjustments when instruments are valued
using internally developed models which reflects the uncertainty in the value estimates provided by the model.

Valuation of uncollateralized derivatives - During 2014, we adopted a funding fair value adjustment ("FFVA") to reflect the
estimated present value of the future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure
at rates other than the Overnight Indexed Swap ("OIS") rate. See"Valuation Techniques- Derivatives' below for additional details.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes a three-tiered fair value hierarchy asfollows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputsinclude quoted pricesfor similar assets or liabilitiesin active
markets, quoted pricesfor identical or similar assetsor liabilitiesin marketsthat are inactive, and measurements determined using
valuation model swhereall significant inputsare observable, such asinterest ratesand yield curvesthat are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.
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Level 3valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservableinputs for the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
input.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levelsin each reporting period. Transfers between leveling categories are assessed, determined and recognized at
the end of each reporting period.

Valuation Control Framework We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair values are either
determined or validated by afunction independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the determination
of fair values rests with Finance. Finance has established an independent price validation process to ensure that the assets and
liabilities measured at fair value are properly stated.

A vauation committee, chaired by the Head of Business Finance of GB&M, meets monthly to review, monitor and discuss
significant valuation matters arising from credit and market risks. The committee is responsible for reviewing and approving
valuation policies and procedures including any valuation adjustments pertaining to, among other things, independent price
verification, market liquidity, unobservable inputs, model uncertainty and counterparty credit risk. All valuation models are
reviewed by theval uation committeeintermsof model development, enhancementsand performance. All model sareindependently
reviewed by the Markets Independent Model Review function and applicable valuation model recommendations are reported to
and discussed with the valuation committee. Significant valuation risks identified in business activities are corroborated and
addressed by the committee members and, where applicable, are escalated to the Chief Financial Officer of HUSI and the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation procedures to substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotationsfrom at least
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.

The following factors are considered in determining fair values:

= dimilarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;

= collaboration of pricing by referencing to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark
indices;

= consistency among different pricing sources,

= thevaluation approach and the methodol ogies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;

= the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;

= the source of the fair value information; and

= whether the security istraded in an active or inactive market.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from deal ers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed and
adjustmentsto fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and thefair value measurement becomes|esstransparent, Finance will apply more detailed proceduresto understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the valuation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop afair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurementsaredetermined usinginternal valuation models, Financewill validatethefair valuemeasurement by either devel oping
unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date. Any significant val uation adjustments are reported to and discussed
with the valuation committee.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value estimates, methods and assumptions set forth below for our financial
instruments, including thosefinancial instruments carried at cost, are made solely to comply with disclosuresrequired by generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
included in this report.

The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financia instruments at June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014:

Carrying Fair
June 30, 2015 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financia assets:
Short-term financial aSSELS .......cocevvvvveeviresseee e $ 21,179 $ 21,179 $ 1,077 $ 20,059 $ 43
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
BOIEEIMENES. ...t eeeeee ettt sttt see bbb e b e e e e e e e e e e e e e enenaas 16,112 16,112 — 16,112 —
Non-derivative trading aSSetS........ccoovvvveveniesievesee e 13,840 13,840 2,988 7,757 3,095
DENVALIVES. ...ttt 5,480 5,480 8 5,440 32
SECUMTIES ...ttt nenas 47,245 47,412 19,565 27,847 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses................... 63,099 64,490 — — 64,490
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOF Sl . 315 315 — 315 —
Commercial loansheld for sale.........cocoviiniinineee e 92 92 — 92 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10Sses .........ccccveueeee. 19,870 18,679 — — 18,679
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages.........coovverererereeeniee s 23 23 — 19 4
Other CONSUMIE .......oiteeiieieeeeeeeiere sttt e 88 88 — — 88
Financia liabilities:
Short-term financia liabilities........cocvvvvvvrrvrrs s, $ 10,715 $ 10,715 $ — $10672 $ 43
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities........c.ccoeorreenenrneerrsee e 114,005 114,005 — 114,005 —
FiXed MatUMtieS......cccoeeiireree e 1,910 1,913 — 1,913 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ..........ccccceeeieeenccnnns 6,632 6,632 — 4,815 1,817
Non-derivative trading liabilities...........cccvevreinninicee 669 669 500 169 —
DENVALIVES. ..ot 6,691 6,691 7 6,661 23
Short-term borrowings designated under fair value option........... 2,070 2,070 — 2,070 —
LONG-terM dEDE ... 21,666 22,250 — 22,250 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ............cc........ 8,901 8,901 — 8,239 662
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Carrying Fair
December 31, 2014 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term finanCial aSSELS ........ceovrvrereivrerreee e $3L,746 $ 31,746 $ 891 $ 30807 $ 48
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
BOMEEIMENTS. ...ttt et eb e e 1,413 1,413 — 1,413 —
Non-derivative trading @SSetS .........ccerereieirere e 15,490 15,490 2,675 9,722 3,093
(DL A2 (Y= 7,258 7,258 10 7,200 48
SECUMTIES ..ttt 43,609 43,835 22,048 21,787 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses................... 57,595 58,891 — — 58,891
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FON SBIB et 384 384 — 384 —
Commercial loansheld for sale........ccoevvevveininre e 144 144 — 144 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10sses..........ccoeeee. 19,466 17,896 — — 17,896
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages.........cooeeerererrereniereneneseseeeseee e 18 19 — 14 5
Other CONSUMIES .......ccveeieceecie ettt 66 66 — — 66
Financia liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilities..........ccceveeeieeeeeeeeeeee e, $ 12861 $ 12861 $ — $12813 $ 48
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities.........coeereireinereses e 105,962 105,962 — 105,962 —
FiXed MaIUMTTIES ......cviveirieecees e 2,810 2,813 — 2,813 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ...........cocveveerrrereenn. 7,346 7,346 — 5,378 1,968
Non-derivative trading liabilities............coeieieneiiiieenee 705 705 653 52 —
DENVALIVES.....c.ccviieriieiisieti ettt renesnenes 8,413 8,413 8 8,376 29
LONg-tErM debt .....c..oeeeeieeeeeee e 18,733 19,524 — 19,524 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ............cccc..... 8,791 8,791 — 8,144 647

Loan values presented in the table above were determined using the Fair Value Framework for measuring fair value, which is
based on our best estimate of the amount within a range of value we believe would be received in a sale as of the balance sheet
date (i.e. exit price). The secondary market demand and estimated value for our residential mortgage loans has been heavily
influenced by the challenging economic conditions during the past severa years, including house price depreciation, elevated
unemployment, changes in consumer behavior, changes in discount rates and the lack of financing options available to support
the purchase of receivables. For certain consumer loans, investors incorporate numerous assumptions in predicting cash flows,
such as future interest rates, higher charge-off levels, slower voluntary prepayment speeds, different default and loss curves and
estimated collateral values than we, as the servicer of these loans, believe will ultimately be the case. The investor's valuation
process reflects this differencein overall cost of capital assumptions aswell as the potential volatility in the underlying cash flow
assumptions, the combination of which may yield asignificant pricing discount from our intrinsic value. The estimated fair values
at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 reflect these market conditions. The increase in the relative fair value of our residential
mortgageloanssince December 31, 2014 reflectsthe conditionsin the housing industry which have continued to show improvement
in 2015 due to improvements in property values as well as lower required market yields and increased investor demand for these
types of receivables.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, and indicates the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value:

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
June 30, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises.... $ 2,988 § 158 $ — $ 3146 $ — $ 3146
Obligations of U.S. States and political subdiviSions.............ccocveeenenieenne — 581 — 581 — 581
Collateralized debt Obligations............ccovreieiiirineierreeree e — — 240 240 — 240
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOMQagES ........cervreeuererireee ettt — 129 — 129 — 129
SHUENE LOBNS.......cociiiiiiiiiccrecnccrcne e — 88 — 88 — 88
Corporate and other domestic debt securities. — — 2,855 2,855 — 2,855
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:
COIPOIELE.... ettt ettt b ettt b bbb s — 63 — 63 — 63
Government-backed ... — 4,592 — 4,592 — 4,592
EQUILY SECUMTIES ...ttt s — 18 — 18 — 18
Precious MetalStrading ........c.coeeerreerineeree e — 2,128 — 2,128 — 2,128
Derivatives®:
INLErest rate CONIACLS..........ccovviviririiririere e 34 38,824 1 38,859 — 38,859
Foreign exchange CONLractS..........ccoreirrieeiireeee s 7 20,946 7 20,960 — 20,960
Equity contracts............. — 2,051 132 2,183 — 2,183
Precious metals contracts 52 717 — 769 — 769
Credit CONMTACES......cvvieererereeree ettt — 3,269 247 3,516 — 3,516
Derivatives netting — — — — (60,807) (60,807)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. .....cecveiieirecee et 93 65,807 387 66,287 (60,807) 5,480
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 19,565 8,649 — 28,214 — 28,214
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions...........ccccoveeineninenne — 812 — 812 — 812
Asset-backed securities:
Commercial mortgages... — 27 — 27 — 27
HOME EQUILY ...t — 83 — 83 — 83
OENEY ...ttt — 94 — 94 — 94
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities:
COIPOIELE.... vttt ettt b et b bbb ene e es — 359 — 359 — 359
Government-backed ...........ccceeiriiiinc s — 3,333 — 3,333 — 3,333
Equity securities. — 163 — 163 — 163
— 315 — 315 — 315
— — 158 158 — 158
$ 22646 $ 87399 $ 3640 $ 113685 $ (60,807) $ 52,878
Liabilities: -
DepOsits in OMESLC OFfiCES®..........vverereeeeeeeesesessesesssses s sesssesseenen $ — $ 4815 $ 1817 $ 6632 $ — $ 6,632
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives 500 169 — 669 — 669
Derivatives®:
INLErest rate CONIACLS..........ccovviriieriiriris e 38 38,693 — 38,731 — 38,731
Foreign exchange contracts.. — 19,371 7 19,378 — 19,378
EQUILY CONEFBELS. ...ttt — 1,668 142 1,810 — 1,810
Precious Metals CONIactS .........c.covieirccinecree e 31 468 — 499 — 499
Credit contracts... — 3,355 68 3,423 — 3,423
DENVAIVES NEHING ...c.ceevieeeiceicieeeeee e — — — — (57,150) (57,150)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. .....cecveiaiecieiecie et 69 63,555 217 63,841 (57,150) 6,691
Short-term borrowings™ .. — 2,070 — 2,070 — 2,070
Long-term debt® — 8,239 662 8,901 — 8,901
Total HabIlItIES....c.veeereereecire e $ 569 $ 78848 $ 2696 $ 82113 $ (57,150) $ 24,963
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 2,675 $ 48 % — $ 2723 % — $ 27723
Obligations of U. S. States and political subdiviSions...........cccccevevvrnneee — 591 — 591 — 591
Collateralized debt obligations — — 253 253 — 253
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOrtgages ..........coueuriieiiiiiiciiceeieieeeeeeeeneeeeneees — 142 — 142 — 142
Student 10aNS ......ccevevereeirreeerenes — 86 — 86 — 86
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUNtIES........ccvovvveeeireeeenreeiene — 1 2,840 2,841 — 2,841
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
Corporate................. — 184 — 184 — 184
Government-backed — 6,656 — 6,656 — 6,656
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt — 22 — 22 — 22
Precious metals trading — 1,992 — 1,992 — 1,992
Derivatives®:
INtErest rate CONEIACES.......cveiiiieiiiciieee e s 46 46,012 1 46,059 — 46,059
Foreign exchange contracts.. — 22,241 23 22,264 — 22,264
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.eeeieeiieeiecree ettt — 2,212 180 2,392 — 2,392
Precious MetalS CONLIACLS .......ccecveeveiireieeeerecie et 59 1,013 — 1,072 — 1,072
Credit contracts... — 3,899 296 4,195 — 4,195
DeriVatiVES NEHING ....cccveuiveiiiiiiiiiiiciericericeeie e — — — — (68,724) (68,724)
TOtaAl AENVALIVES.......eouiiieeeeeiee et 105 75,377 500 75,982 (68,724) 7,258
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 22,048 3,117 — 25,165 — 25,165
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions............cccccvvvevennneee. — 667 — 667 — 667
Asset-backed securities:
Commercial MOMGAgES........cvevrveveireereirieietee et — 43 — 43 — 43
— 89 — 89 — 89
— 94 — 94 — 94
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
COIPOIELE.......eceiitrirerie e — 517 — 517 — 517
Government-backed .... — 3,398 — 3,398 — 3,398
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt — 167 — 167 — 167
LOBNST ...eeeeeeois e seeeesssss s — 384 — 384 — 384
Mortgage servicing rights®.. — — 159 159 — 159
TOAl BSSES .. ueveeneieireree et $ 24828 $ 93575 $ 3752 $ 122,155 $ (68,724) $ 53,431
Liabilities: -
Deposits in domestic offices™................ . $ — $ 5378 $ 198 $ 7346 $ — $ 7346
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives............cccovvenvenvcnseresees 653 52 — 705 — 705
Derivatives®:
Interest rate contracts......... 43 46,683 1 46,727 — 46,727
Foreign exchange CONraCES..........coueveeririrerereee e s 13 20,847 23 20,883 — 20,883
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.eeeveeicieieesee et — 1,661 138 1,799 — 1,799
Precious metals contracts .. 18 596 — 614 — 614
Credit CONIACES.......cveiveieeiceeeeeece ettt s ae s — 3,941 86 4,027 — 4,027
DENVAIVES NEIEING -...voeeetirenceeireeeiereeie e — — — — (65,637) (65,637)
Tota derivatives.... 74 73,728 248 74,050 (65,637) 8,413
LONGEIM AEB® ...t eeeeees e — 8,144 647 8,791 — 8,791
Total HHabilitiES....c.eeeeeerereeceereee e $ 727 $ 87302 $ 283 $ 90892 $ (65637) $ 25255

@ Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes trading derivative assets of $3,931 million and $5,602 million and trading derivative liabilities of $5,779 million and $7,459 million as of June
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, as well as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives.
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®  Includes certain commercial loans held for sale which we have elected to apply the fair value option. See Note 6, "L oans Held for Sale," for further
information.

@ SeeNote 7, "Intangible Assets," for additional information.
®  SeeNote 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of each reporting period.

Transfers between Levels 1 and 2 measurements There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
valueof Level 3assetsand liabilitiesduring thethree and six monthsended June 30, 2015 and 2014. Asarisk management practice,
wemay risk managetheLevel 3assetsand liabilities, inwholeor in part, using securitiesand derivative positionsthat are classified
asLevel 1 or Level 2 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. Since those Level 1 and Level 2 risk management positions
are not included in the table below, the information provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities related
to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Apr. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives: .........cccovuerennenn.
Collateralized debt
obligations.........ccoveveennee $ 254 $ 3 3 — 3 — 3 — $ @17 3 — 3 — $ 240 $ —
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 2,848 — — 7 — — — — 2,855 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts....... 20 (20) 1 — — — — — 1 1
Foreign exchange
CONLIacts.......ccveeverrerrennnns — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts............... 43 27) — — — 27) — 1 (10) (34)
Credit contracts................ 192 (20) — — — ?3) — — 179 (13)
Mortgage servicing rights® 140 — 19 — — 6] — — 158 21
Total 8SSetS.....oveererreeererenes $ 3497 $ (54) $ 20 $ 7 % — $ (48) $ — $ 1 $ 3423 $ (25)
Liabilities:
Depositsin domestic
OfficeS™ ..o, $(1,926) $ — 3 14 3 — $ (95) $ 134 3 (22) $ 78 $ (1817) $ 19
Long-term debt® .............. (642) — 13 — (150) 105 — 12 (662) 14
Total liabilities.........cceunee. $(2,568) $ — $ 27 $ — $ (245 $ 239 $ 22) $ 90 $ (2479) $ 33
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations......co.evveererrenns $ 253 12 % — 3 — — $ (25 $ — 3 — $ 240 $ 7
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 2,840 — — 15 — — — — 2,855 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts....... — — 1 — — — — — 1 1
Foreign exchange
contracts. — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts 42 4 — — — (48) — — (10) (22)
Credit contracts................ 210 (22) — — — ©)] — — 179 (53)
Mortgage servicing rights® 159 — — — 9) — — 158 7
Total ESSEtS oo $ 3,504 (14) $ $ 15 — $ (91 $ — $ — $ 3423 $ (60)
Liabilities:
Depositsin domestic
Offices™ ..o $(1,968) — 3 G $ — (184) $ 183 $ (22) $ 179 $ (1817) $ 6
Long-term debt® ............... (647) — 6 — (237) 184 — 32 (662) 10
Totd liabilities. $(2,615) — 3 1 $ — (421) $ 367 $ 22) $ 211 $ (2479) $ 16
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Apr. 1,
2014

Total Gains and
(Losses) Included in®

Trading
Revenue
(Loss)

Other
Revenue

Purch-

ases

Issu-
ances

Settle-

ments

Transfers
Into
Level 3

Transfers
Out of
Level 3

Jun. 30,
2014

Current
Period
Unrealized
Gains
(Losses)

Assets:

Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:

Collateralized debt
obligations.......ccoeeueenne

Corporate and other
domestic debt securities...

Government debt
securities issued by
foreign entities.................

Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts....... 1

Foreign exchange
CONLIaCES......cvvveecrerreeenes

Equity contracts...............

Precious metals contracts

@

11

(in millions)

260

2,819

41

(42)
(12)

Liabilities:
Depositsin domestic
offices™

Long-term debt®

$

(135) $
(110)

$ (2,257)

27 (739)

$ @

$ (34

(22)

Totd liabilities....................
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2014 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2014 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations.........ceeeeenen. $ 254 $ 14 $ — 3 — % — % ® $ — 3 — $ 260 $ 14
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities... 2,260 (5) — 564 — — — — 2,819 (6)
Government debt
securities issued by
foreign entities................. 121 5 — _ — ) — (119) — —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts....... 1 — @ — — — — — — 1)
Foreign exchange
CONLracts.......oceeivrirvninnnes 95 10 — — — (12) — (93) — 5
Equity contracts............... 3 86 — — — (36) 6 — 59 49
Precious metals contracts 2 2 — — — — — — — —
Credit contracts................ 191 (55) — — — 7 — 114 257 (98)
Mortgage servicing rights® 227 — (24) — — @an — — 186 (24)
Total 8SSEtS...cveerveecrerreneas $3150 $ 57 $ (25) $ 564 $ — $ (73) §$ 6 $ (98) $ 3581 $ (61)
Liabilities:
De_posias in domestic
offices™ ..., — 3 (2100 $ — $ (1600 $ 298 $ (95) $ 244 $ (2257) $ (51)
Long-term debt® .. . — 97 — (153) 120 — 98 (738) (23)
Total liabilities.........ccvennes — 3 (113) $ — $ (313) $ 418 $ (95) $ 342 $ (299%) $ (74)

@ Includes realized and unrealized gains and losses.

@ Level 3 net derivativesincluded derivative assets of $387 million and derivative liabilities of $217 million as of June 30, 2015 and derivative assets of
$538 million and derivative liabilities of $222 million as of June 30, 2014.

®  SeeNote 7, "Intangible Assets," for additional information.
@ SeeNote 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 fair value measurements as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

June 30, 2015

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 240 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 1% - 6%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 6% - 7%
L oss severity rates 90% - 99%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,855  Discounted cash flows Spread volétility on collateral assets 1% - 4%
SECUNTIES .
Correlation between insurance clam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. 1 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 7% - 99%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . —  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 14% - 19%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... (10) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 14% - 49%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 46% - 59%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts...........cccvueuee. 179  Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of aportfolio  49% - 52%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights..........cccceeueunee 158 Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 11% - 51%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 14%
Estimated annualized coststo service ~ $91 - $333 per
account
Deposits in domestic offices (structured (1,817) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 14% - 19%
deposits) @ e flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 14% - 49%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 46% - 59%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) @ ... (662) Option adjusted discounted cash ~ Implied volatility of currency pairs 14% - 19%
flows
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December 31, 2014

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 253 Broker quotes or consensus pricing  Prepayment rates 1% - 6%
and, where applicable, discounted
cash flows
Conditional default rates 6% - 7%
Loss severity rates 90% - 91%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,840 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUNEIES ..o
Correlation between insuranceclam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. —  Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 6% - 98%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . —  Option pricing model Implied volétility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... 42  Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts..........cccccveenee 210 Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of aportfolio  52% - 57%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights..........cccoeereene 159 Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 10% - 49%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 19%
Estimated annualized coststo service  $91 - $333 per
account
Deposits in domestic offices (structured (1,968) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volétility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
deposits) V@ ... flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)™@ ... (647) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%

Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%

correlation

@

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of
counterparty credit risks, wearemarket neutral . The correspondingintra-group derivativesare presented asequity derivativesandforeign exchangederivatives
inthetable.

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized Debt Obligations ("CDQOs")

Prepayment rate - The rate at which borrowers pay off the mortgage loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by anumber
of factorsincluding the location of the mortgage collateral, the interest rate type of the mortgage loans, borrowers' credit and
sensitivity to interest rate movement. The prepayment rate of our CDOs portfolio istilted towards the low end of the range.

Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over a group of collateral such as residential or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The default rate of our portfolio is close to the mid-
point of the range.

Loss severity rate - Included in our Level 3 CDOs portfolio are collateralized loan obligations (CLOs) and trust preferred
securities which are about equally distributed. The loss severity rate for trust preferred securities as of June 30, 2015 is about
1.8 timesthat of CLOs.

Derivatives

Correlation of default - The default correlation of agroup of credit exposures measuresthelikelihood that the credit references
within agroup will default together. The default correlation is a significant input to structured credit products such as nth-to-
default swaps. In addition, the correlation between the currency and the default risk of the reference creditsisacritical input
to aforeign currency denominated credit default swap where the correlation is not observable.
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= Implied volatility - Theimplied volatility isasignificant pricing input for freestanding or embedded optionsincluding equity,
foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility isafunction of the nature of the underlying risk, the level of
strike price and the years to maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine the implied
volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied volatilities are
derived based on historical information. The implied volatility for different foreign currency pairsis between 14 percent and
19percentwhiletheimplied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index isbetween 14 percent and 49 percent, respectively
at June 30, 2015. Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be widely distributed at the
portfolio level, the deviation of implied volatility on a trade-by-trade basis is narrower. The average deviation of implied
volatility for the foreign currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 6 percent and 5 percent, respectively at June 30,
2015.

= Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the rel ative change in values among two or more
variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlation isakey input
indetermining thefair value of aderivativereferenced to abasket of variablessuch asequitiesor foreign currencies. A maority
of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation between equity/equity and
equity/equity index was between 46 percent and 59 percent at June 30, 2015.

Sensitivity of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized debt obligations- Probability of default, prepayment speed and | oss severity rate are significant unobservableinputs.
Significant increase (decrease) in these inputs will result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of a collateralized debt
obligation. A change in assumption for default probability is often accompanied by adirectionally similar change in loss severity,
and adirectionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and domestic debt securities - The fair value measurements of certain corporate debt securities are affected by the fair
valueof theunderlying portfoliosof investmentsused ascol l ateral and themake-wholeguarantee provided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. The increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls below the
collateral call threshold is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among abasket of reference credit namesisasignificant unobservableinput if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. Significant increase (decrease) in
the unobservable input will result in alower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. A change in assumption for
default correlation is often accompanied by adirectionally similar changein default probability and lossrates of other credit names
in the basket.

Equity and foreign exchange derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign exchange derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
implied volatility isnot observable. Significant increase (decrease) intheimplied volatility will result in ahigher (lower) fair value
of along position in the derivative contract.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements Duringthethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2015, wetransferred
$78 million and $179 million, respectively, of depositsin domestic offices and $12 million and $32 million, respectively, of long-
term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer
being unobservableasthederivativeoptioniscloser to maturity and thereismore observability in short termvolatility. Additionally,
during both the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, we transferred $22 million of depositsin domestic offices, which we
have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 asaresult of a change in the observability of underlying instruments
that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred $104 million and $244 million, respectively, of depositsin
domestic offices and $27 million and $98 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value,
from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in
maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. During the second quarter of 2014, we transferred $119 million
of government debt securities issued by foreign governments and the related foreign exchange and credit derivatives from Level
3to Level 2 dueto the availability of inputs in the market including independent pricing service valuations. Additionally, during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred $27 million and $95 million, respectively, of depositsin domestic
offices, whichwehaveelected to carry at fair value, from Level 2to Level 3asaresult of achangeintheobservability of underlying
instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (a) mortgage and
commercial loans classified as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired loans or assets
that are written down to fair value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not
measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment).
Thefollowing table presentsthe fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has
been recorded as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The gains (losses) during the three and six months ended June 30,
2015 and 2014 are also included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
as of June 30, 2015 For the Three For the Six Months
Months Ended Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total June 30, 2015 June 30, 2015
(in millions)
Residentiadl mortgage loansheld for sale”.. $ — $ 8 $ 4 $ 12 $ — 3 —
ConsUMEr 108NSP ..o — 90 — 90 (8) (18)
Commercial loans held for sale® ................ — 91 — 91 (6) (14)
Impaired commercial loans™ .................... — — 39 39 (16) (15)
Real estate owned® ..o, — 21 — 21 1 2
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring

DBSIS....evvoreereireseiesesess st $ — % 2108 43 $ 258 § (29 $ (45)
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)

as of December 31, 2014 For the Three For the Six Months

Months Ended Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total June 30, 2014 June 30, 2014
(in millions)
Residentiadl mortgageloansheldforsale”.. $ — $ — $ 5 $ 5 $ 2 $ 1
ConsUMES 108NSP ..., — 164 — 164 (9) (23)
Commercial loans held for sale® ................ — 77 — 77 7 7
Impaired commercial loans™ ...........cco........ — — 53 53 ) 3
Real estate owned® ..........c.oooveonrrrveinnrnnenns — 19 — 19 €) ()
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring

DSIS....vvvureeseeeeeieesseess et $ — $ 260 $§ 58 $ 318 §$ (25 $ (28)

As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost. Certain residential mortgage loans held for sale have
been classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy as the underlying real estate properties which determine fair value are
illiquid assetsasaresult of market conditionsand significant inputsin estimating fair value were unobservable. Additionally, thefair val ue of these properties
is affected by, among other things, the location, the payment history and the completeness of the loan documentation.

Represents residential mortgage loans held for investment whose carrying amount was reduced during the periods presented based on the fair value of the
underlying collateral.

As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.

Certain commercial loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we measure the

credit impairment of a collateral-dependent loan based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral often involves rea estate properties that are
illiquid due to market conditions. As aresult, these loans are classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amountsin the table above reflect the fair
value unadjusted for transaction costs.
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Thefollowingtablespresent quantitativeinformation about non-recurring fair valuemeasurementsof assetsand liabilitiesclassified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

As of June 30, 2015

Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale..........c.cccceeeicicncnnnen. $ 4 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Impaired commercial 10ans............cccoevveveeeeeeieeeieseee e 39 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 68%
As of December 31, 2014
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale............ccccoeericicicnnen. $ 5 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Impaired commercial 10ans.............ccoeveeveeeeeereeeeesee e 53  underlying collateral Loss severity rates 8% - 47%

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Residential mortgage loans held for sale primarily represent subprime residential mortgage |oans which were previously acquired
with the intent of securitizing or selling them to third parties. The weighted average loss severity rate for these loans was
approximately 68 percent at June 30, 2015. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral
securing the loans.

Impaired loans represent commercial loans. The weighted average severity rate for these loans was approximately 7 percent at
June 30, 2015. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques Following isadescription of valuation methodol ogies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value
and for estimating fair value for those financial instruments not recorded at fair value for which fair value disclosure is required.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities - The carrying amount of certain financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost is
considered to approximate fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and
generally have negligible credit risk. These itemsinclude cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, customer
acceptance assets and liabilities, short-term borrowings except for certain securities sold under repurchase agreements for which
the fair value option has been elected and dividends payable.

Federal funds sold and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements - Federal funds sold
and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resal e and repurchase agreementsarerecorded at cost. A significant majority
of these transactions are short-term in nature and, as such, the recorded amounts approximate fair value. For transactions with
long-dated maturities, fair value is based on dealer quotes for instruments with similar terms and collateral.

Loans - Except for certain commercial loans held for sale for which the fair value option has been elected, we do not record loans
at fair value on arecurring basis. From timeto time, we record impairments to loans. The write-downs can be based on observable
market price of the loan, the underlying collateral value or a discounted cash flow analysis. In addition, fair value estimates are
determined based on the product type, financial characteristics, pricing features and maturity.

* Loans held for sale — Certain residential mortgage whole loans, consumer receivables and commercial loans are recorded at
thelower of amortized cost or fair value. Where availabl e, we measure held for sale mortgage wholeloans based on transaction
pricesof |oan portfoliosof similar characteristicsobserved inthewholeloan market. Adjustmentsare madeto reflect differences
in collateral location, loan-to-valueratio, FICO scores, vintage year, default rates, the completeness of the loan documentation
and other risk characteristics. Thefair value estimates of consumer receivablesand commercial loans are determined primarily
using the discounted cash flow method with estimated inputsin prepayment rates, default rates, loss severity, and market rate
of return.

e Commercial loans held for sale designated under FV O —Werecord certain commercial loans held for sale at fair value. Where
available, fair value is based on observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker
guotes or observed market prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not
available, fair valueisdetermined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default
rates and loss severity discounted at management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We
also consider loan specific risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate.
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Commercial loans — Commercia loans and commercial real estate loans are valued by discounting the contractual cash flows,
adjusted for prepayments and the borrower’ s credit risk, using adiscount rate that reflectsthe current rates offered to borrowers
of similar credit standing for the remaining term to maturity and, when applicable, our own estimate of liquidity premium.

Commercial impaired loans— Generally represents collateral dependent commercial loans with fair value determined based
on pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party appraisal.

Consumer loans — The estimated fair value of our consumer loans were determined by developing an approximate range of
value from amix of various sources as appropriate for the respective pool of assets. These sources included estimates from an
HSBC affiliatewhich reflect over-the-counter trading activity, forward | ooking discounted cash flow model susing assumptions
consistent with those which would be used by market participantsin valuing such receivables; trading input from other market
participants which includes observed primary and secondary trades; where appropriate, the impact of current estimated rating
agency credit tranchinglevel swith the associated benchmark credit spreads; and general discussionsheld directly with potential
investors. For revolving products, the estimated fair value excludes future draws on the available credit line as well as other
items and, therefore, does not include the fair value of the entire relationship.

Valuation inputs include estimates of future interest rates, prepayment speeds, default and loss curves, estimated collateral
value and market discount rates reflecting management’s estimate of the rate that would be required by investorsin the current
market given the specific characteristics and inherent credit risk of the receivables. Some of these inputs are influenced by
collateral value changes and unemployment rates. Where available, such inputs are derived principally from or corroborated
by observable market data. We perform analytical reviews of fair value changes on a quarterly basis and periodically validate
our valuation methodol ogies and assumptions based on the results of actual sales of such receivables. In addition, from time
to time, we may engage a third party valuation specialist to measure the fair value of a pool of receivables. Portfolio risk
management personnel provide further validation through discussions with third party brokers and other market participants.
Since an active market for these receivables does not exist, the fair value measurement process uses unobservable significant
inputs specific to the performance characteristics of the various receivable portfolios.

Lending-related commitments - The fair value of commitmentsto extend credit, standby letters of credit and financial guarantees
arenot included in the table. The magjority of the lending related commitments are not carried at fair value on arecurring basis nor
are they actively traded. These instruments generate fees, which approximate those currently charged to originate similar
commitments, which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on commitments and standby letters
of credit totaled $52 million and $50 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily includes physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If aquoted market price for the
identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
securities, internally devel oped val uation model sare used to determinefair val ues or validate quotes obtained from pricing services.
The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions—As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or
quoted pricesfor similar securitieswith adjustmentsas necessary made using observabl einputswhich are market corroborated.

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an active
market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar securities
with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government sponsored
mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based on pricing
information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

Asset-backed securities, including collateralized debt obligations— Fair value is primarily determined based on pricing
information obtai ned from independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the underlying
collateral.

Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - For non-callable corporate securities, a credit
spread scaleiscreated for each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to determine
current pricing. Credit spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes. For securities
with early redemption features, an option adjusted spread ("OAS") model is incorporated to adjust the spreads determined
above. Additionally, we survey the broker/dealer community to obtain relevant trade data including benchmark quotes and
updated spreads.

Equity securities— Except for those legacy investments in hedge funds, since most of our securities are transacted in active
markets, fair value measurements are determined based on quoted pricesfor theidentical security. For hedge fund investments,
we receive monthly statements from the investment manager with the estimated fair value.

72



HSBC USA Inc.

The following tables provide additional information relating to asset-backed securities as well as certain collateralized debt
obligations held as of June 30, 2015:

Trading asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities: Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA A s Residential mortgages- Alt A........cccocoeevnenee $ 73 $ — $ 73
Residential mortgages - Subprime.................. 50 — 50
Student 10aNS.......ccovrvirrenere e 88 — 88
Total AAA A 211 — 211
BBB -B ... Collateralized debt obligations....................... — 240 240
CCC-Unrated.........ccovrevreereerneens Residential mortgages - Subprime.................. 6 — 6

$ 217 % 240 $ 457

Available-for-sale securities backed by collateral:

Rating of Securities:® Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA A s Commercial MOrtgages........ccoveverererrrereresenens $ 27 $ — 3 27
Home equity - Alt Ao, 83 — 83
Other 94 — 94
Total AAA -A....oeeeeeeee e $ 204 $ — $ 204

@ Weutilize S& Pasthe primary source of credit ratingsin the tables above. If S& Pratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used in that order.
Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, areval ued using val uation techniques. Thefair valuefor themajority of our derivativeinstrumentsaredetermined
based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the OIS curves as inputs to measure the fair value of collateralized derivatives. Historically, we valued uncollateralized
derivatives by discounting expected future cash flows at a benchmark interest rate, typically LIBOR or itsequivaent. In line with
evolving industry practice, we changed this approach during 2014. We now view the OIS curve as the base discounting curve for
all derivatives, both collateralized and uncollateralized, and have adopted a FFVA to reflect the estimated present value of the
future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the Ol Srate.
Thisisan areain which afull industry consensus has not yet emerged. We will continue to monitor industry evolution and refine
the cal culation methodology as necessary.

Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:

e  Credit Derivatives —Usecredit default curvesand recovery rateswhich aregenerally provided by broker quotesand various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputsin their model valuation. Correlation is derived
using market quotes from brokers and various pricing services.

» Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

e Foreign Exchange ("FX") Derivatives— FX transactions, to the extent possible, use spot and forward FX rates which are
guoted in the broker market. Where applicable, we also use implied volatility of currency pairs asinputs.

»  Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
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»  Precious Metal Derivatives — Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

Asdiscussed earlier, we makefair value adjustments to model valuationsin order to ensure that those values represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect pricesin arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

We estimate the counterparty credit risk for financial assets and own credit standing for financial liabilities (the "credit risk
adjustments") in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we calculate the credit risk adjustment by
applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We aso take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
arrangements in determining credit risk adjustments. We estimate the implied probability of default based on the credit spread of
the specific counterparty observedinthecredit default swap market. Where credit default spread of thecounterparty isnot available,
we usethe credit default spread of aspecific proxy (e.g. the credit default swap spread of the counterparty's parent). Where specific
proxy credit default swap isnot available, we apply ablended approach based on acombination of credit default swapsreferencing
to credit names of similar credit standing and the historical rating-based probability of default.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we take title to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 45 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area
sales data.

Mortgage servicing rights - We el ected to measure residential mortgage servicing rights, which are classified as intangible assets,
at fair value. Thefair valuefor the residential mortgage servicing rightsis determined based on an option adjusted approach which
involves discounting servicing cash flows under various interest rate projections at risk-adjusted rates. The valuation model also
incorporates our best estimate of the prepayment speed of the mortgage |oans, current cost to service and discount rateswhich are
unobservable. As changesin interest rates is akey factor affecting the prepayment speed and hence the fair value of the mortgage
servicing rights, we use various interest rate derivatives and forward purchase contracts of mortgage-backed securities to risk-
manage the mortgage servicing rights.

Structured notes and deposits — Structured notes and deposits are hybrid instruments containing embedded derivatives and are
electedtobemeasuredat fair valueintheir entirety under fair val ue option accounting principles. Theval uation of hybridinstruments
is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments. The valuation of embedded derivatives may
include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit names or volatility of the embedded option.

Cash flows of the funded notes and depositsin their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted at the relevant
interest rates for the duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads so applied are determined
with referenceto our own debt issuance rates observed in primary and secondary markets, internal funding rates, and the structured
note rates in recent executions.

Short-term borrowings - Werecord certain securitiessold under repurchaseagreementsat fair value. Thefair value of therepurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities.

Long-term debt — We €elected to apply fair value option to certain own debt issuances for which fair value hedge accounting
otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances elected under FV O are traded in secondary markets and, as such,
thefair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price of these instruments
reflects the effect of our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments were derived from the spreads at the
measurement date.

For long-term debt recorded at cost, fair value is determined based on quoted market prices where available. If quoted market
pricesarenot available, fair valueisbased on dealer quotes, quoted prices of similar instruments, or internally devel oped valuation
models adjusted for own credit risks.

Deposits — For fair value disclosure purposes, the carrying amount of deposits with no stated maturity (e.g., demand, savings, and
certain money market deposits), which represents the amount payable upon demand, is considered to generally approximate fair
value. For deposits with stated maturities, fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows using market interest rates currently
offered on deposits with similar characteristics and maturities.
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19. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in
our 2014 Form 10-K and our Form 10-Q for the three month period ended March 31, 2015 (the "2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q").
Only those matterswith significant updates and new matters since our disclosurein our 2014 Form 10-K and our 2015 First Quarter
Form 10-Q are reported herein.

In addition to the matters described below, and in our 2014 Form 10-K and our 2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q, in the ordinary
course of business, we are routinely named as defendants in, or as parties to, various legal actions and proceedings relating to
activities of our current and/or former operations. These legal actions and proceedings may include claims for substantial or
indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course of business, we also are subject
to governmental and regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests, investigations and proceedings (both formal and
informal), certain of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. In connection
with formal and informal inquiries by these regulators, we receive numerous requests, subpoenas and orders seeking documents,
testimony and other information in connection with various aspects of our regulated activities.

In view of the inherent unpredictability of legal matters, including litigation, governmental and regulatory matters, particularly
where the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we
cannot determine with any degree of certainty thetiming or ultimate resolution of such matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties
or business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation, governmental and regulatory matters when those
matters present |0ss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted
fromtimetotime, as appropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters,
however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

For thelegal matters disclosed below, including litigation and governmental and regulatory matters, aswell asfor thelegal matters
disclosed in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2014 Form 10-K and in Note 19 "Litigation and Regulatory
Matters" in our 2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q as to which aloss in excess of accrued liability is reasonably possible in future
periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of which management believes it can make
areliable estimate, we believe a reasonable estimate could be as much as $100 million for HUSI. The legal matters underlying
this estimate of possible loss will change from time to time and actual results may differ significantly from this current estimate.

Based onthefactscurrently known, in respect of each of the bel ow investigations, itisnot practicableat thistimefor usto determine
the terms on which these ongoing investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution or for us to estimate reliably the
amounts, or range of possible amounts, of any fines and/or penalties. As matters progress, it is possible that any fines and/or
penalties could be significant.

Giventhesubstantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and theinherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statementsin
any particular quarterly or annual period.

Credit Card Litigation 1nMay 2015, the parties settled the Speedy Stop Food Stores LLC v. Visa Inc. (Tex. Dist. Ct., Victoria City,
No. 13-10-75377-A) case. Thesettlement was consistent withtheallocation under the I nterchange settlement and judgment sharing
agreements and within our reserves for these matters.

Checking Account Overdraft Litigation At a hearing held in July 2015, the court in Ofra Levin et al v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. et
al. (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 650562/11) (“ State Action”) deferred a decision on preliminary approval of the settlement and federal plaintiffs
motion to intervene in the State Action. Another hearing date has been scheduled for August 25, 2015.

In the federal court multidistrict litigation (In re HSBC Bank, USA, N.A. Debit Card Overdraft Fee Litigation (E.D.N.Y. 2:13-
MD-02451)), expert discovery isproceeding, but plaintiffs’ motion for class certification remains stayed pending the court’sruling
on the settlement in the State Action.

Lender-Placed Insurance Matters In May and June 2015, the parties settled Blackburn v. HSBC Finance Corp., et al. (N.D. Ga
13-CV-03714-0ODE) and Montanez, et al. v. HSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA), et al. (E.D. Pa. No. 11-CV-4074), respectively.
The settlements were within our reserves for these matters.

People of the State of New York v. HSBC Bank USA, National Association and HSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA) The New
York Attorney General ("AG") elected to not appeal the court’s decision granting HSBC Mortgage Corporation’s motion for
summary judgment and dismissing the AG's Petition. This matter is now concluded.

Precious Metals Fix Matters

Inre London Silver Fixing, Ltd. Antitrust Litigation (Silver Fix Litigation) Defendants' consolidated responsetothesecond amended
complaint wasfiled in May 2015.
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Platinum and Palladium Fix Litigation Defendants’ consolidated response to the consolidated amended complaint was filed in
June 2015.

Madoff Litigation

In December 2008, Bernard L. Madoff ("Madoff") was arrested and ultimately pleaded guilty to running a Ponzi scheme and a
trustee was appointed for theliquidation of hisfirm, Bernard L. Madoff Investment SecuritiesLL C ("Madoff Securities"), an SEC-
registered broker-deal er and investment adviser. Variousnon-U.S. HSBC companiesprovided custodial, administration and similar
servicesto anumber of fundsincorporated outside the United States whose assets were invested with Madoff Securities. Plaintiffs
(including funds, funds investors and the Madoff Securities trustee, as described below) have commenced Madoff-related
proceedings agai nst numerous defendantsin amultitude of jurisdictions. Various HSBC compani es have been named as defendants
in suitsin the United States, Ireland, Luxembourg and other jurisdictions. Certain suits (which include U.S. putative class actions)
allege that the HSBC defendants knew or should have known of Madoff's fraud and breached various dutiesto the funds and fund
investors.

In July 2015, the court stayed Stephen and Leyla Hill, et al. v. HSBC Bank plc, et al. (Case No. 14-CV-9745(LTS), which was
filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against various HSBC defendants, including HSBC Bank
USA, by direct investorsin Madoff Securities, pending a decision in arelated matter.

In May 2015, anew action wasfiled in U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against HSBC entities, including
HSBC Bank USA, by two investorsin the Hermes International Fund Limited who claim to have lost their entire investments due
to Madoff's fraud. Plaintiffs assert claims against several HSBC entities for (i) breach of fiduciary duty; (ii) aiding and abetting
breach of fiduciary duty; (iii) aiding and abetting embezzlement; (iv) aiding and abetting fraud; (v) negligent misrepresentations;
and (vi) unjust enrichment. Plaintiffs seek damages of not less than $8 million. (Hau Yin To v. HSBC Bank plc, et al. (15-cv-3590)

There are many factors that may affect the range of possible outcomes, and the resulting financial impact, of the various Madoff-
related proceedings including, but not limited to, the circumstances of the fraud, the multiple jurisdictions in which proceedings
have been brought and the number of different plaintiffs and defendants in such proceedings. For these reasons, among others,
we are unable to reasonably estimate the aggregate liability or ranges of liability that might arise as a result of these claims but
they could be significant. In any event, we consider that we have good defenses to these claims and will continue to defend them
vigorously.

Mortgage Securitization Matters In June 2015 HSBC's mation to dismiss the Commerzbank AG complaint was granted in its
entirety.

Mortgage Securitization Pool Trust Litigation HSBC's motion to dismiss the BlackRock, RPI and Phoenix Light matters have
been denied. Those matters are proceeding.

Foreclosure Practices On June 16, 2015, HSBC Bank USA entered into an amended consent order (the " Amended Consent
Order") with the OCC. As set forth in the Amended Consent Order, we are not yet in compliance with all of the requirements of
the April 2011 consent cease and desist order that we entered into with the OCC (the "OCC Servicing Consent Order"). The
failure of HSBC Bank USA to satisfy al requirements of the OCC Servicing Consent Order could subject HSBC Bank USA to
avariety of regulatory consequences, including the imposition of civil money penalties, which may have a material adverse
effect on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The Amended Consent Order includes business
restrictions relative to residential mortgage servicing that will remain in place until the order isterminated. The restrictions
include a prohibition against the bulk acquisition of residential mortgage servicing or residential mortgage servicing rights and
the requirement to seek OCC supervisory non-objection to outsource any residential mortgage servicing activities not already
outsourced as of June 16, 2015. The business restrictions contained in the Amended Consent Order do not materially impact
our business operations.

Anti-Money Laundering, Bank Secrecy Act and Office of Foreign Assets Controls Matters

Shareholder Derivative Action Oral argument on the nominal corporate defendants (HSBC, HSBC Bank USA, HSBC North
Americaand HSBC USA) moation to dismissis scheduled for August 2015.

Charlotte Freeman, et al. v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. Defendants filed amotion to dismissthe amended complaint in May 2015.
The motion will be fully briefed in August 2015.

Alfredo Villoldo, et al. v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A., et al. In July 2015, the court granted the HSBC defendants’ motion to dismiss.
Plaintiffs have filed a notice of appeal.
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20.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncements were adopted effective January 1, 2015:

Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Mortgage Loans |n January 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board ("FASB") issued an Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") to define an in-substance repossession or forecl osure of
residential real estate for purposes of determining whether or not an entity should derecognize a consumer mortgage loan
collateralized by that real estate. Under the standard, an in-substance repossession or foreclosure has occurred if the entity
has obtained legal title to the real estate as aresult of the completion of a foreclosure (even if the borrower has rights to
reclaim the property after the foreclosure upon the payment of certain amounts specified by law), or if, through a deed in
lieu of foreclosure or other legal agreement, the borrower conveys all interest in the real estate to the entity in satisfaction
of the loan. The standard also requires entities to disclose both the amount of foreclosed residential real estate held as well
astherecorded investment in consumer mortgageloans collateralized by residential real estatethat theentity isinthe process
of foreclosing upon. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2015. The adoption of this standard did not have any impact
on our financial statements. See Note 4, "Loans," for the new disclosure required by this standard.

Repurchase to Maturity Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures In June 2014, the FASB issued an ASU
which changesthe accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactionsto secured borrowing accounting and requires secured
borrowing accounting for the repurchase agreement in a contemporaneous repurchase financing arrangement. The
accounting changes in the ASU are effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2015. The ASU also
requires new disclosure about repurchase agreements, securities lending transactions, and repurchase-to-maturity
transactions that are accounted for as secured borrowings to be presented for annual periods beginning January 1, 2015,
and for interim periods beginning April 1, 2015. The adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on our
financial position or results of operations. See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral,” for the
new disclosure required by this standard.

The following are accounting pronouncements which will be adopted in future periods:

Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers InMay 2014, the FA SB i ssued an ASU which providesaprinciples-
based framework for revenue recognition that supersedes virtually all previously issued revenue recognition guidance.
Additionally, the ASU requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. The core principle of the five-step revenue recognition
framework isthat an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customersin
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
While the ASU as originally issued was scheduled to be effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1,
2017, in July 2015, the FASB agreed to defer the effective date by one year, but will provide entities the option to adopt it
as of the original effective date. The amendmentsin the ASU may be applied either retrospectively to each prior reporting
period presented or retrospectively withthecumul ativeeff ect of adoptionrecognizedin equity at thedateof initial application.
We are currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this ASU, including determining which transition method to
apply.

Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis In February 2015, the FASB issued an ASU which rescinds the deferral of
VIE consolidation guidance for reporting entities with interests in certain investment funds and provides a new scope
exception to registered money market funds and similar unregistered money market funds. The ASU makes several other
amendmentsincluding @) the elimination of certain criteria previously used for determining whether fees paid to adecision
maker represent a variable interest; b) revising the consolidation model for limited partnerships and similar entities which
could be variable interest entities or voting interest entities; ¢) excluding certain fees paid to a decision maker from the risk
and benefit test in the primary beneficiary determination if certain conditions are met; and d) reduces the application of the
related party guidance for VIEs. The ASU will be effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2016
and the guidance can be applied either retrospectively or by recording a cumulative effect adjustment to equity with early
adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this ASU, but currently do not expect the
adoption of this guidance will have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncementsissued during the first half of 2015 that are expected to have or could
have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States
Securitiesand Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in pressreleases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC USA
Inc. ("HSBC USA" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HUSI") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute
forward-looking statements. Words such as“may”, “will”, “should”, “would”, “could”, “ appears’, “believe”, “intends”’, “ expects’,
“estimates’, “targeted”, “plans’, “anticipates’, “goal”, and similar expressions areintended to i dentify forward-looking statements
but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will
relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business
developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our
actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that
any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

e uncertain market and economic conditions, uncertainty relating to the U.S. debt and budget matters, the potentia for
future downgrading of U.S. debt ratings, a decline in housing prices, unemployment levels, tighter credit conditions,
changes in interest rates or a prolonged period of low or negative interest rates, the availability of liquidity, unexpected
geopolitical events, heightened market concerns over sovereign creditworthiness in over-indebted countries, changesin
consumer confidence and consumer spending, and consumer perception as to the continuing availability of credit and
price competition in the market segments we serve;

e changesinlaws and regulatory requirements;
» theability to deliver on our regulatory priorities,
e extraordinary government actions as aresult of market turmoil;

»  capital and liquidity requirements under Basel 111, the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") Comprehensive Capital Analysis
and Review ("CCAR"), and the Dodd-Frank Act stresstesting ("DFAST");

e changesin central banks' policies with respect to the provision of liquidity support to financial markets;

» theability of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group") and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association ("HSBC Bank USA™") to fulfill the requirements imposed by the deferred prosecution agreements
withtheU.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Attorney's Officefor the Eastern District of New York, andtheU.S. Attorney's
Office for the Northern District of West Virginia, our agreement with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, our
other consent agreements as well as guidance from regulators generally;

« theuseof usasaconduit for illegal activities without our knowledge by third parties;

» theability to successfully manage our risks;

« thefinancial condition of our clients and counterparties and our ability to manage counterparty risk;

«  concentrations of credit and market risk, including exposure to Latin American corporate clients;

« theability to successfully implement changes to our operational practices as needed and/or required from time to time;

»  damageto our reputation;

» theability to attract and retain customers and to retain key employees,

» theeffectsof competitioninthe marketswherewe operateincluding increased competition for non-bank financial services
companies, including securities firms;

e disruptionin our operationsfrom the external environment arising from events such as natural disasters, terrorist attacks,
global pandemics, or essential utility outages;

« afailurein or abreach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors,
including as aresult of cyber attacks;

e third party suppliers and outsourcing vendors' ability to provide adequate services;
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» losses suffered due to the negligence or misconduct of our employees or the negligence or misconduct on the part of
employees of third parties;

e our ability to meet our funding requirements;

e adverse changesto our credit ratings;

e our ability to cross-sell our products to existing customers;

» increasesin our alowance for credit losses and changesin our assessment of our loan portfolios;

e changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")
accounting standards and their interpretation;

* heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financia institutions;

«  continued heightened regulatory scrutiny with respect to residential mortgage servicing practices, with particular focus
on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;

»  changesto our mortgage servicing and foreclosure practices,

e changesin the methodology for determining benchmark rates;

» heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial markets, with a particular focus on foreign
exchange;

» the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation,
deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

»  changesin bankruptcy lawsto alow for principal reductions or other modifications to mortgage |oan terms;

e additional financia contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
pension plan; and

e unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters, remediation
efforts, penalties and fines.

» theother risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors' in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2014 (2014 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should,
however, consider any additional disclosures of aforward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in
any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Executive Overview

HSBC USA is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
HSBC. HUSI may also bereferred to in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
("MD&A") as"we", "us" or "our".

CurrentEnvironment TheU.S. economy continueditsrecovery duringthefirst half of 2015. Consumer sentiment rose asconsumer
optimisminthefirst half of 2015 improved at itsfastest pace since 2004 driven by astrong job market and improvement in personal
finances. In March, the Federal Reserve Board dropped its assurance that it would remain patient before acting on rates, however
indications were that future increases may begin later and with a smaller succession of increases than previously expected. The
prolonged period of low interest rates continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base.

The U.S. economy added almost 1.3 million jobs during the first half of 2015, while the number of long-term unemployed fell
almost 25 percent since December 31, 2014 and total unemployment fell to 5.3 percent as of June 2015. Despite these trends,
headwinds remain as wage growth remains weak, an elevated number of part-time workers continue to seek full-time work, the
number of discouraged people who have stopped looking for work remains elevated and economic uncertainty remains high in
many economiesoutside the U.S., including L atin Americawhere tepid economic activity has continued into thefirst half of 2015.
The sustainability of the economic recovery will be determined by numerous variables including consumer sentiment, energy
prices, credit market volatility, employment levels and housing market conditions which will impact corporate earnings and the
capital markets. These conditions in combination with global economic conditions, fiscal policy, geo-political concerns and the
impact of recent regulatory changesincluding the on-going implementation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010 (the" Dodd-Frank Act" or "Dodd-Frank") and the hei ghtened regul atory and government scrutiny of financial
institutions will continue to impact our resultsin 2015 and beyond.

While the housing market in the U.S. continues to recover, the strength of recovery varies by market. Certain courts and state
legislatures have issued rules or statutes relating to foreclosures and scrutiny of foreclosure documentation has increased in some
courts. Also, in some areas, officials are requiring additional verification of information filed prior to the foreclosure proceeding.
The combination of these factors has led to increased delays in several jurisdictions which will continue to take time to resolve.

Performance, Developments and Trends The following table sets forth selected financial highlights of HUSI for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 and as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2015
(dollars are in millions)

[T 0 (oo 1 0TS $ 87 $ 179 $ 251 $ 283
Rate of return on average: -

TOLA BSSEES ... eeveeete ettt et bbbt 2% A% 3% .3%

Total common shareholders eQUILY..........coeorerirere e 14 4.2 24 33
NEL TNEErESE MAIGIN ...ttt 1.36 1.66 1.38 1.48
EffICIENCY FaHIO . .ecveieeceeciece sttt st sttt e e ne e ens 82.6 93.8 77.5 83.3
Commercial Net Charge-off 1AM ..o eeee e 20 .05 12 13
Consumer net charge-0ff FaiO™ ............oouoeeeeeeee oo 36 59 43 56

@ Excludesloans held for sale.
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June 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)
Additional Select Ratios:

Allowance as apercent Of I0ANS™Y.............ooueeeeeeeeeeee oo eeeeee s se e s s se s seeeese s 8% 9%
Commercial allowance as apercent Of 10ANS™Y ..........o...cveieeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeseeeeeseess e s s e seeessesnene 8 8
Consumer allowance as apercent Of 10BNSY ............ovuiveiieoeeeeeeeceeee e ee oo e se e eenene 8 1.0
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual deliNQUENCY .........cccocererererierenene e 4.88 5.59
LOBNSTO AEPOSIES FAHOP ... e e e e ee e eeees e eenene 92.81 91.94
Total capital t0 risk WeIGhtEA GSSELS.......cceieiiriie e e 16.31 15.78
Tier 1 capital tO riSk WEIGNLEA BSSELS ......oiveireee e e 12.47 11.41
ComMMON EQUILY THEN L FEHIO....eeeeeeeeeeierieee ettt sttt ettt b e bbb b e et e bese e e e e e e e e eneas 11.77 10.33
Total shareholders’ equity t0 tOtal BSSELS.......ciiieireireere e e 10.50 9.14

Select Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and interest bearing deposits With DaNKS.............cccveiiiriiniee s $21136 $ 31,698
QLI o 1010 1SS £ 17,771 21,092
Securities availablE-TOr-SAlE.........ccuiiiic s 33,085 30,140
Loans:

COMMEICIAI JOBNS ......oeiiteiiieecee ettt e e et e e be e s be e b e e saee e beesaeeebeesaseeabeesabeebeesaseeseessneentens 63,596 58,087

(@001 001 0 o= 1S T 20,021 19,654
TOLAl OBNS....c.eeeieeeeeee ettt r et R e e e R R e R e et 83,617 77,741
(DTS 0T ] TSSOSO 122,547 116,118

@ Excludesloans held for sale.
@ Represents period end loans, net of allowance for loan losses, as a percentage of domestic deposits equal to or less than $100,000.

Net income was $87 million and $251 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with
net income of $179 million and $283 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. Net income during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 was significantly impacted by atax reserve release as aresult of the settlement of
certain state and local tax audits which resulted in an income tax benefit of $183 million. In addition, net income in the current
year periods reflects higher tax expense related to aligning New York City's corporate tax rules with New York State tax reform
which was previously completed in the first quarter of 2014 which resulted in an increase in tax expense of $48 million in the
current year periods and $75 million in the prior year-to-date period.

Income before income tax was $185 million and $425 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively,
compared with a loss of $27 million during the three months ended June 30, 2014 and income of $226 million during the six
months ended June 30, 2014. Theincreaseinincome (loss) beforeincometax during the three months ended June 30, 2015 reflects
higher other revenues, a lower provision for credit losses and lower operating expenses, partially offset by lower net interest
income. Inthe year-to-date period, theincreaseinincome (1oss) beforeincometax reflects higher other revenues, alower provision
for credit losses and higher net interest income.
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Our resultsin al periods were impacted by certain significant items which distort the comparability of the performance trends of
our business between periods. The following table summarizes the impact of these items for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Income (loss) before income tax, as reported........c.cooevvvereneseseere e $ 185 $ (270 $ 425 $ 226
Fair value movement on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread ...... (48) 46 (118) 27
Provision related to the Federal Housing Finance Agency mortgage backed
SECUNTIES TITIGALION ....cveviie ettt et et b e b e —_ 70 — 70
Initial provision for credit losses relating to the increase in loss emergence period
used in our commercial loan collective impairment calculation .............cccocveerennenne. — 68 — 93
Interest benefit related to the conclusion of certain state and local tax audits
resulting in the settlement of uncertain tax POSItiONS...........cccoveieveieiicccicccci — (120) — (120)
Adjusted PerformManCE™ ... e ee e eeee $ 137 $ 37 $ 307 $ 29

@ Represents anon-U.S. GAAPfinancial measure.

Excluding the collective impact of theitemsin the table above, our adjusted performance for the three and six months ended June
30, 2015 improved by $100 million and $11 million, respectively, compared with the prior year periods. Theincrease in the three
month period was driven by higher net interest income, higher other revenues due primarily to higher gains on security sales and
alower provision for credit losses, partialy offset by higher operating expenses. The increase in the year-to-date period reflects
higher net interest income, largely offset by higher operating expenses, lower other revenues due primarily to lower trading revenue
and a higher provision for credit losses, partially offset by higher operating expenses.

See "Results of Operations' for more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Balance Sheet Review" for
further discussion on our asset and liability trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources' for further discussion on funding and capital
and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends.

During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA exercised the option to call $560 million of junior subordinated debentures
previously issued by HSBC USA to HSBC USA Capital Trustsl, Il and |11 at the contractual call prices of 100.781 percent, 100.84
percent and 100.732 percent, respectively, which resulted in anet |oss on extinguishment of approximately $11 million. Thetrusts
used the proceeds to redeem the trust preferred securities previously issued to third party investors. During the second quarter of
2015, HSBC USA also redeemed al of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative
Preferred Stock at their stated values of $100 per share and $50 per share, respectively, resulting in atotal cash payment of $300
million. Under the Basdl 111 final rule, the trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock will fully phase out
of Tier 1 capital to Tier 2 capital by January 1, 2016. In addition, thetrust preferred securitieswill start phasing out of Tier 2 capital
in 2016 and fully phase out by January 1, 2022. In response to these rule changes, the capital instruments were redeemed and
HSBC USA issued $850 million of Tier 2 subordinated debt to HSBC North America

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previoudly issued to HSBC North
Americaand HSBC Bank USA repaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issuedtoHSBC USA. In conjunction
with these repayments, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its immediate parent, HSBC North
Americalnc. ("HNAI"), in exchange for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributionsto its subsidiary,
HSBC Bank USA, of $2,400 million in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares
of non-cumulative preferred stock. These capital actions were taken to support our growth strategy and to strengthen the Basel
I11 regulatory capital positions of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

Our operations are focused on the core activities of our four global businesses and the positioning of our activities towards
international connectivity strategies in order to improve profitability. We also continue to focus on cost optimization efforts to
ensure realization of cost efficiencies. To date, we have identified and implemented various opportunities to reduce costs through
organizational structure redesign, vendor spending, discretionary spending and other general efficiency initiatives which have
resulted in workforce reductions. Additional cost reduction opportunities have been identified and are in the process of
implementation. These efforts continue and, as aresult, we may incur restructuring chargesin future periods, the amount of which
will depend upon the actions that ultimately are implemented. We also continue to evaluate our overall operations as we seek to
optimize our risk profile and cost efficienciesaswell asour liquidity, capital and funding requirements. This could result in further
strategic actions that may include changes to our legal structure, asset levels, cost structure or product offerings in support of
HSBC's strategic priorities.
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Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP"). Certainreclassifications have been madeto prior year amountsto conform to the current year presentation.

In addition to the U.S. GAAPfinancial resultsreported in our consolidated financial statements, MD& A includes reference to the
following information which is presented on anon-U.S. GAAP basis:

Group Reporting Basis We report financial information to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting
policies which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS') and, as aresult, our segment results are prepared and
presented using financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's accounting and reporting policies (" Group Reporting
Basis"). Because operating results on the Group Reporting Basis (anon-U.S. GAAP financial measure) are used in managing our
businesses and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors net income under this basis of
reporting. The following table reconciles our U.S. GAAP versus Group Reporting Basis net income:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Net income — U.S. GAAP DESIS........cccoiiiieeeeeeeeeteeeeee ettt en s $ 87 $ 179 $ 251 $ 283
Adjustments, net of tax:
LOAN IMPAITMENL ....veeeieieeeseeeeee ettt st st et e s e esa e e e e eseesesseeresrenreans 3 (19 17 4
LOANS el FOr SAE.... i — — 8 —
[ ST 0] o0 5 3 6 11
DEITVALIVES. ..ottt sttt sttt b e b et b et b et se e nenaenes 4 1 1 1
SECUNTEIES ..ttt ettt e b e b e bbb e e e se e b et e e e e e aeeaeeneebenbe e 2 — — 2
Litigation EXPENSE ...o.vcuiieeiirieiirieerie ettt ettt — 49 Q) 52
(0] 1< 1 TSRS (1) (2 4 (2
Tax valuation allOWANCES.........c.ciuieeieeeieieee ettt sttt st sa e e b sbesaeeneas 4 (1) (5) 6
[0z g Mol qTo 147 1 (o] [N OSSPSR (3) 3 (6) (7
(@11 1 ST (7N (3) (16) (16)
Net income — Group REPOIING BaSIS......ccccrereririiniiiiriesie e 86 204 251 330
Tax expense (benefit) — Group RePOrting BasiS.........ccoevreereenieenieenieesieesieesienens 96 (185) 192 (43)
Profit before tax — Group REPOItiNG BaSiS ........cceeveieieeecieieeec e $ 182 $ 19 $ 443 $ 287

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basisimpacting our results presented in the table above are
discussed in more detail within "Basis of Reporting” in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since
December 31, 2014 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.
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Balance Sheet Review

We utilize deposits and borrowings from various sources to provide liquidity, fund balance sheet growth, meet cash and capital
needs, and fund investments in subsidiaries. The following table provides balance sheet totals at June 30, 2015 and increases

(decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

June 30, 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Period end assets:
Short-terM INVESIMENES ......cveivciciee e e e e $ 37,248 $ 4,137 12.5%
[0 LS T R 82,969 5,908 1.7
LOBNS hEld fOr SAIE......c.oiieieiie e 518 (94) (15.4)
I o O I S5 £ 17,771 (3,321) (15.7)
SECUNTIES. ..ttt ettt e be et e s be s aeebesbesrestenee e e e eneeneenens 47,245 3,636 8.3
(@11 =S (SO 10,867 813 8.1
$ 196618 $ 11,079 6.0%
Funding sources:
TOtAl AEPOSITS....cueveeiiieiesieieteeete ettt sttt et e et e e beseetesaeresaese e $ 122547 $ 6,429 5.5%
Trading liabiliti€S.....ccueceee e s ene s 6,448 (1,716) (21.0)
Short-term DOMTOWINGS ......cevviieirieese e e 12,728 (67) (.5)
LONG-TErM dEDL ... s 30,567 3,043 111
All other HabIHTIES ....ccveieceec e 3,675 (296) (7.5)
Shareholders’ EQUITY.........coeieiirie e e 20,653 3,686 21.7
$ 196,618 $ 11,079 6.0%

Short-Term Investments Short-term investments include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, federal
funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto resell. Short-term investmentsincreased since December 31, 2014 driven
by our conservative liquidity management practices, where we raise funds in advance of their usage and opportunistically deploy
them to maximize returns. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time.
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Loans, Net The following summarizes our loan balances at June 30, 2015 and increases (decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

June 30, 2015 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real EStAte........cceeceviciieceecee e $ 11,520 $ 1,220 11.8%
Business and corporate Danking...........ccccoereeneineineesee e 19,712 1,893 10.6
GIOBE DANKING™ ...t se e 28,942 2,555 9.7
Other COMMEITIAL.......couiieieiere e et 3,422 (159) (4.9
TOtal COMMEICIAL.......cceiictieeeectee ettt e ee e et ssrreenree e 63,596 5,509 9.5
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMQAgES . ......ueereieieeree et e 17,233 572 3.4
HOME EUILY MOMQAgES .....ecveeverieieirieereeeeeee e erese sttt se e e e e esennes 1,686 (98) (5.5
Credit CaIUS ....cvieeve ettt sttt nens 692 (28) (3.9
OENEN CONSUMES ...ttt ettt e et b ettt nbne 410 (79) (16.2)
TOLA CONSUIMET ......eiviieiieieeeteeete sttt sttt sttt et st st seebe e 20,021 367 19
TOLAI [OANS ...ttt bbb e e 83,617 5,876 7.6
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ..o 648 (32 (4.7)
LOBNS, NEL ...viveverereeieesiteiesesesesesesesesesesssesesesesssssesesesesesesesetesesesesetesesesesetesesesesesesesss $ 82,969 $ 5,908 7.7%

@ Represents large multinational firmsincluding globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on a global basis. Also includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $4,607 million and $4,821 million at June 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Commercial loans increased compared with December 31, 2014 due to new business activity which reflects our continued focus
on expanding our core offerings and proactively targeting companies with international banking regquirements in key growth
markets.

Consumer loansincreased compared with December 31, 2014 driven by an increasein residential mortgage |oans as we continue
to target new residential mortgage loan originations towards our Premier and Advance customer relationships and sell newly
originated conforming loans to PHH Mortgage Corporation ("PHH Mortgage"). Home equity mortgages decreased reflecting net
paydowns as our focus continues to shift towards residential mortgage loans. Credit card receivables and other consumer loans
also decreased reflecting paydowns.

Prior to 2014, real estate marketsin alarge portion of the United States were affected by stagnation or declinesin property values
for anumber of years. While the loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our mortgage loan portfolio have generally deteriorated since
origination, we have seen ageneral improvement in the LTV sfor our mortgage loan portfolio in recent years. The following table
presents LTVs for our mortgage |oan portfolio, excluding mortgage loans held for sale:

LTVs at LTVs at
June 30, 2015M@ December 31, 20148@

First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien
LTV K 80%0...uiiiiiiieeciee ettt sttt s 93.2% 75.3% 92.3% 74.5%
80% S LTV < 90%0......uiitieieeieeiecierte e see e s s 3.7 11.0 4.2 11.9
90% < LTV < 100%0.....cceceeeiieecieesieesteesieeseeesieeeeeessessseesseesneeens 1.9 7.8 21 1.7
LTV 2 10090 ...ceiteeeseeieee et s 1.2 59 13 6.0
Average LTV for portfolio........ccooreninenenene e 56.9 61.0 574 61.6

@ LTVsfor first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. LTV's for second liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the
reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of
loan origination updated by the change in the Federal Housing Finance Agency's (formerly known as the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight)
house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Area ("CBSA") or state level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair
values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. As
aresult, actual property values associated with loansthat end in foreclosure may be significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of thisdisclosure.
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@ Current property values are calculated using the most current HPIs available and applied on an individual loan basis, which resultsin an approximate three
month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using HPIs as
of March 31, 2015 and September 30, 2014, respectively.

Loans Held for Sale The following table summarizes loans held for sale at June 30, 2015 and increases (decreases) since

December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

June 30, 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

COMMENCIAl 10BNS.....c.ccveiitiiitiieeseete ettt sttt se et se et s ebesaebesaebe e $ 407 % (121) (22.9)%
Consumer loans:

Residential MOMgagES..........cereeuiriririerierie et 23 5 27.8

(@151 e a] LS W 4= SRS 88 22 33.3

T OBl CONSUIMES......ceiieieiie ettt ettt sbe bbbt se e e e e e e e e e e e ene e 111 27 321
Total 10aNS held fOr SAl........cuiiieeeee e $ 518 $ (99) (15.4)%

Commercial loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2014. Balances will fluctuate from period to period
depending upon volume and level of activity. Commercial syndicated loans that are originated with the intent of selling them to
unaffiliated third parties and commercia loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our
exposure to certain total return swaps are classified as commercial loans held for sale and are recorded at fair value as we have
elected to designate these loans under the fair value option. The fair value of commercial loans held for sale under these programs
was $315 million and $384 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Commercial loansheldfor saleal soincluded $30 millionand $44 million of global bankingloansat June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively, which were transferred to held for sale during 2014, aswell ascommercial real estate loans of $62 million and
$100 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Residential mortgage loans held for saleincreased slightly compared with December 31, 2014. We sell all our agency eligibleloan
originations servicing released directly to PHH Mortgage. Also included in residential mortgage loans held for sale are subprime
residential mortgage loans of $4 million at both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 which were acquired from unaffiliated
third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance") with the intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third
parties.

Other consumer loans held for sale includes student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercia |oans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value. Thevaluation allowance on consumer loansheld for salewas$11 million and $15 million at June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $18 million and $5
million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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Trading Assets and Liabilities Thefollowingtablesummarizestrading assetsandliabilitiesbal ancesat June 30, 2015 andincreases
(decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

June 30, 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Trading assets:
SECUIMEIES™ ...t ee et eese et e s es e se e ssesese e ss e s e ennes $ 11,712 $ (1,786) (13.2)%
PreCioUS MELAIS .....c.oiveeiiiirieiee bbb 2,128 136 6.8
DENVAIVES, NP ...ttt se e ee e 3,931 (1,671) (29.8)
$ 17771 % (3,321 (15.7)%
Trading liabilities:
Securities sold, Not yet purchased.............ccceiveieiciiiicicc e, $ 669 $ (14) (2.00%
Payables for preCious MEtals............ccocvvcnni s — (22) (100.0)
DENIVAIVES, NED ... s 5,779 (1,680) (22.5)
$ 6,448 $ (1,716) (21.00%

@ SeeNote 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a breakout of trading securities by category.

@ At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets has been reduced by $4,678 million and $4,811 million,
respectively, relating to amountsrecognizedfor theobligationto return cash coll ateral received under master netting agreementswith derivativecounterparties.

©® At June30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 thefair value of derivativesincluded in trading liabilities has been reduced by $1,021 million and $1,724 million,
respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

Securities balances decreased compared with December 31, 2014 due primarily to a decrease in foreign sovereign guaranteed
positions, partialy offset by increases in U.S. Treasury and U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities. Securities
positions are held to mitigate the risks of interest rate products issued to customers of domestic and emerging markets. Balances
of securities sold, not yet purchased were relatively flat compared with December 31, 2014.

Preciousmetal strading assetsincreased compared with December 31, 2014 driven by increasesin our own gold and silver inventory
positions held as hedgesfor client activity. Theincrease was partially offset by adecreasein our own palladium inventory position
aswell aslower spot rates for certain metals. Precious metal positions may not represent our net underlying exposure as we may
use derivatives contracts to reduce our risk associated with these positions, the fair value of which would appear in derivativesin
the table above.

Derivative asset and liability balances both decreased since December 31, 2014 mainly from market movements as valuations of
interest rate, foreign exchange, credit, commodity and equity derivatives all declined.

Securities Securitiesinclude securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity. With regards to securities available for
sale, balanceswill fluctuate between periods depending upon our liquidity position at thetime. Theincreasein bal ances compared
with December 31, 2014 largely reflects net purchases of U.S. government sponsored and government agency mortgage-backed
securitiespartially offset by net salesof U.S. Treasury securitiesaspart of acontinuing strategy to re-balancethe securitiesportfolio
for risk management purposes based on the current interest rate environment and liquidity needs.

Other Assets Other assets includes intangibles and goodwill. Other assets increased compared with December 31, 2014 driven
by higher outstanding settlement balances related to security sales and increased investments in Federal Home Loan Bank and
Federal Reserve Bank stock.
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Deposits The following summarizes deposit balances by major depositor categories at June 30, 2015 and increases (decreases)
since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

June 30, 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Individuals, partnerships and COrpOrations...........coeereererreresensese e $ 106,240 $ 9,853 10.2%
Domestic and foreign banks.............coceciciiccccci e 15,327 (3,252) (17.5)
U.S. government and states and political SUDiVISIONS..........coceeveereicneicniecnen. 877 52 6.3
Foreign governments and official iNStitUtions...........ccccovvccnnnccnnncce, 103 (224) (68.5)
B0 = 0 (= o0 T $ 122547 $ 6,429 5.5%
TOtAl COME AEPOSIESY ...ttt e e se e se e eseeseeeenees $ 89,953 $ 5,467 6.5%

@ Core deposits, as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (*"FFIEC") guidelines, generally include all domestic
demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $100,000.

Deposit balancesincreased since December 31, 2014 largely dueto anincreasein whol esal e time depositsdriven by new i ssuances,
higher levels of commercial savings and demand deposits reflecting new business activity in key growth markets and increased
deposits from individual s driven by the impact of promotional rates offered on savings accounts to our Premier customers. These
increaseswere partially offset by reductionsin call deposits from banks as counterparties seek alternative placement optionsgiven
the low rate environment. The strategy for our coreretail banking businessincludes building relationship deposits across multiple
markets, channels and segments. This strategy involves various initiatives, such as:

» HSBC Premier, a premium service wealth and relationship banking proposition designed for the internationally-minded
client with a dedicated premier relationship manager. Total Premier deposits increased to $22,751 million at June 30,
2015 as compared with $20,343 million at December 31, 2014; and

»  Expanding our existing customer relationships by needs-based sales of wealth, banking and mortgage products.
We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.
Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings were flat compared with December 31, 2014.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt increased compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting the impact of debt issuances, including
increased borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB"), partialy offset by debt repayments and
retirements. Debt issuances during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 totaled $3,184 million and $12,140 million, of
which $5 million and $22 million was issued by HSBC Bank USA. During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000
million of senior debt previoudly issued to HSBC North America, which was partially offset during the second quarter of 2015 by
the issuance of $1,000 million of senior debt and $850 million of subordinated debt, both to HSBC North America. During the
second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA also exercised the option to call its remaining junior subordinated debentures previously
issued by HSBC USA to three separate capital trusts, totaling $560 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory
Capital Requirements,” for additional details.

Incremental issuances from the HSBC Bank USA Globa Bank Note Program totaled $22 million during the six months ended
June 30, 2015. Total debt outstanding under thisprogram was $4,488 million and $4,501 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively. We anticipate using the Global Bank Note Program morein thefuture aspart of our effortsdesigned to minimize
overall funding costs while accessing diverse funding channels.

Incremental issuances from our shelf registration statement with the SEC totaled $5,668 million of senior debt during the six
months ended June 30, 2015, which included $3,300 million of senior notes that were issued by HSBC USA in February as well
as $2,368 million of structured notes. Total long-term debt outstanding under this shelf was $18,130 million and $17,161 million
at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Borrowings from the FHLB totaled $5,600 million and $1,000 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

All Other Liabilities All other liabilitiesdecreased compared with December 31, 2014 due primarily to lower margin requirements
related to futures trading, a declinein tax liabilities and lower derivative balances associated with hedging activities.

Shareholders' Equity During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA redeemed al of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred
Stock, SeriesD and its$2.8575 Cumul ative Preferred Stock, totaling $300 million. SeeNote 15, " Retained Earningsand Regul atory
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Capital Requirements,” for additional detailsand see Note 18, "Preferred Stock," in our 2014 Form 10-K for information regarding
al remaining outstanding preferred share issues.

Results of Operations

Net Interest Income Net interest income isthe total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. In the discussion that follows, interest income and rates are presented and analyzed on a taxable equivalent
basisto permit comparisons of yields on tax-exempt and taxabl e assets. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest
rates on a taxable equivalent basis is presented in this MD& A under the caption "Consolidated Average Balances and Interest
Rates."

The significant components of net interest margin are summarized in the following table:

2015 Compared to
2014
Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 Volume Rate 2014
(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

Short-termM INVESIMENES .......oeeieece e $ 26 $ 7 $ 1 %$ 20
Tratding SECUMTIES ......ocviiee e 91 1 25 65
SECUMTIES ...ttt bbb e b et b et b et e b 225 2 25 198
COMMENCIal [OBNS.........cooiiiiirr e 334 57 (18) 295
CONSUMESN TOBNS ...ttt sttt sttt r e e b se e sn e nn e n e 181 8 3) 176
OB .t 14 (3) 5 12
TOtal INLErESE INCOME......ecuiieeiiieeirte et ere e 871 72 33 766
Interest expense:

(D= 10 TSP SUSRTSURORURRN 54 9 9 36
ShOrt-termM DOMTOWINGS ... nre e 11 4) 5 10
LONG-TEITMN AEDE ...ttt 173 47 (26) 152
Tax 1iabilities aNd OtNES ..o 5 27 87 (109)
TOtal INLEMESE EXPENSE. ...ttt sttt en e ere e 243 79 75 89
Net interest income — taxable equivalent Dasis ..........ccccccvieeereeesecesece e 628 $ @) 42) 677
Less: tax equivalent ajUSIMENE ...........c..ovveueereereeeeesesseeseessessseseessss s ses s seessssseneseens 2 - 4
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basis ..., S 626 $ 673
Yield on total interest arning @SSELS.........cocvrereeererreirrrereees s 1.89% 1.88%
Cost of total interest bearing liabilitieS ........cocooiiiiiiin e 72 .28
[NEErESt rale SPrEAM .....oe.eeeieeee e T117 1.60
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds'™y.............cocccovuoveieeeesseseeeeesessessee e 19 .06
Net interest margin on average €arning aSSELS ..........ccueerrerrerererereserese s rereeees T 1.36% 1.66%
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2015 Compared to
2014
Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 Volume Rate 2014
(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

ShOrt-term INVESIMENES ......cvivieiiirerieteeres e $ 48 $ 14 $ 2 $ 36
Tratding SECUMTIES ... 186 10 63 113
ST o U (<R 429 (33) 53 409
COMMECIAI JOANS.......ccvieceeecie sttt ettt et st e et e s s et eesaeeeabessaaesbeesbeesnreesresans 654 116 (44) 582
(01T 07 B T Y= TR 362 13 (4) 353
(@ 13T SO S 29 3) 10 22
TOtal INTErESE INCOME.....cuiiiciece e et se e ne e neerenns 1,708 117 76 1,515
Interest expense:

D= o0 LS ) RSSO 100 21 8 71
ShOrt-term BOITOWINGS .......cviiiiirrcc e 22 ) 13 16
LONG-TEMN AEDE ... 340 96 (78) 322
Tax [iabilitiES A0 ONET .......ee e et s 8 21 81 (94)
TOtAl INEEMESE EXPENSE. ... vverveeirieierieeste sttt st st sae et st e e be et e steneetenens 470 131 24 315
Net interest income — taxable equivalent basis.............ccoovcvicnicnic e, 1238 $ (14) 52 1,200
Less: tax equival ent AjUSIMENE ...........c..oveieeeeeeeeeeeseesse s ses s 6 8
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basiS.........c.ccvvvvrerenerciereccceee W $1,192
Yield on total interest @arning @SSELS.........cccv e 1.90% 1.87%
Cost of total interest bearing labilitieS .......cceovveireiiiere e .70 .50
INEErESt rate SPrE8U .......oveveeiieeeieee e T 120 1.37
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds'y.............coccocueveeieeeesseseeeesseeese oo 18 11
Net interest margin on average arning 8SSELS .......cvvvvvvrerierererereseeseeseeseesesesesessens 1.38% 1.48%

@ Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assets in excess of interest bearing liabilities. Increased percentages reflect growth in this excess,
while decreased percentages reflect areduction in this excess.

Net interest income in the second quarter of 2014 reflects a $120 million benefit to tax liabilities interest expense related to the
conclusion of certain state and local tax audits, as discussed further below under the heading "Income Taxes." Excluding theimpact
of thisitem, net interest income increased $73 million and $160 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015,
respectively, due to higher interest income, driven primarily by increased income from trading securities, commercial loans and
securities, partially offset by higher interest expense, driven by increased expense from deposits and long-term debt.

Short-term investments Higher interest income during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 reflects higher average
balances, primarily in securities purchased under agreements to resell.

Trading securities Theincrease in interest income during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 was driven primarily by
ashiftin mix to longer term, higher yielding securities and, to alesser extent, higher average securities balances. Securitiesin the
trading portfolio are managed as hedges against the derivative activity of our customers, which, in response to the current interest
rate environment, has shifted towards longer term, higher yielding returns.

Securities Interest income increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to a shift in mix towards
longer-term, higher yielding securities, partially offset in the year-to-date period by lower average outstanding balances which
reflects the sales of U.S. Treasury, U.S. government agency mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities.

Commercial loans Interest income increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher average
balances due to loan growth, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans and refinanced loans. Lower yields reflect
market conditions and a continued focus on higher quality lending to reduce credit risk exposure in our loan portfolio.
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Consumer loans Interest income increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher residential
mortgage average balances, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans. Lower yields on newly originated loans
reflect market conditions and a continued focus on higher quality lending to reduce credit risk exposure in our loan portfolio.

Deposits Higher interest expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 reflects the impact of higher average
interest-bearing deposit balances and higher rates paid on savings accounts driven by promotional rates offered to our Premier
customers.

Short-term borrowings Higher interest expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 reflects higher rates paid
primarily on securities sold under repurchase agreements, partially offset by lower average outstanding borrowings.

Long-term debt Interest expense was higher in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher outstanding
borrowings, partially offset by a shift in mix towards lower priced non-subordinated debt.

Tax liabilities and other Excluding the one-time benefit in both 2014 periods related to the conclusion of certain state and local
tax audits discussed above, interest expense decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 as the conclusion of
these audits resulted in lower interest-bearing tax liability balances.

Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes the provision for credit losses associated with our various loan
portfolios:

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real estate.............cocovvvvviiviiiice $ B 3 6 $ 9 *
Business and corporate banking ...........cceeoerreriiennneesneseeeese e 2 56 (58) *
Global DANKING ........coiir 2 29 (27) (931
Other COMMENCIA ...........cciiiiii (3) 9) 6 66.7
Total COMMENCIAL........cciiiicc e $ 6 $ 8 $ (89 *
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages...........cocvuicuciciciiiicc s (6) 7 (13) *
HOME EQUILY MOMGBGES ....ecveeerereerireeiereei e — (8) 8 100.0
Credit CAUS ..o 4 4 — —
OthEr CONSUME ..ot 2 — 2 *
TOtE CONSUIMES ... — 3 (3) (100.0)
Total provision for Credit I0SSES........ccvreiiiireieeeeee e $ B $ 8 $ (9] *
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annualized .............cooc.evvervrevrrnnen. T —%  05%
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Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and Other real ESLALE............cvveurireerieiriereee s $ Q1 3 8 $ 9) *
Business and corporate banking ... 22 75 (53) (70.7)
GIobal DANKING.......ceiieeieieiriseeee et naenas 23 36 (13) (36.1)
Other COMMENCIa ..........ccoviiiiii s ) (13) 11 84.6
Total COMMEICIAL ......cveeeeieieiectete et b e st besaee s $ 42 $ 106 $ (64) (60.4)
Consumer:
Residential MOrtQageS.........coeueururmrereieieiee e (6) 9) 3 33.3
HOME EQUILY MOIMQAgES. ... ccveeeeeeieerieieseereeeeeee ettt sttt e e e see e e ee e neeneas 2 (6) 4 66.7
Credit CANUS. ..ottt 7 9 2 (222
OtNEr CONSUMES ...ttt e 6 1 5 *
TOEl CONSUIMET.......civiiiiirisiete sttt 5 (5) 10 *
Total provision for Credit I0SSES........ooviiciireere s $ 47 $ 101 $ (54) (53.5%
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annNUaliZed...............cooeevreerrvererenneen. T 01%  03%

* Not meaningful.

Our provision for credit losses decreased $91 million and $54 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015,
respectively, driven by alower provision for credit lossesin our commercial loan portfolio, partially offset in the six month period
by a higher provision for credit losses in our consumer loan portfolio. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, we
decreased our allowance for credit |osses asthe provision for credit losses was lower than net charge-offs by $55 million and $32
million, respectively.

Our provision for credit losses in the prior year reflects revisions to certain estimates used in our commercia loan impairment
calculation, including estimates of loss emergence, which resulted in an initial incremental provision for credit losses of
approximately $68 million and $93 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. Excluding the
impact of thisitem, the provision for credit losses in our commercial portfolio decreased $20 million and increased $29 million
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively. The decrease during the three month period was driven largely
by releases of reserves associated with maturities of lower quality loans and managed reductions in certain exposures. These
improvementsweremorethan offset inthe year-to-date period by downgrades, reflecting weaknessesin thefinancial circumstances
of certain customer relationships, and higher provisions due to loan growth. Both periods reflect higher provisions associated with
oil and gasindustry loan exposures aswell as higher specific customer provisions, largely driven by asingle customer relationship,
partially offset by lower provisions for risk factors associated with emerging market 1oan exposures. Crude oil prices remained
depressed during the first half of 2015 and as a result of these market conditions, we downgraded certain credits which resulted
in a$26 million increase to our credit loss reserves ($14 million of which was recorded in the second quarter). We will continue
to conduct quarterly reviews of our oil and gas industry credit exposures to ensure our credit grades continue to reflect current
conditions. If oil and gas prices stay at end of June levels for an extended period of time, further adjustments to our credit loss
reserves may be required.

The provision for credit losses on residential mortgages including home equity mortgages decreased $5 million and increased $7
million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively. The decrease in the three month period was driven
primarily by lower | ossestimatesassoci ated with the remediation of certain mortgage servicing activitiesand lower | ossesassociated
with advances made on behalf of borrowers. These decreases were more than offset in the year-to-date period as the positive
impacts from lower severity estimates due to improvements in home prices and continued improvements in economic and credit
conditionsincluding lower dollars of delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent were more pronounced
in the prior year.

The provision for credit losses associated with credit cards were flat during the three months ended June 30, 2015 and decreased
$2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2015. The decrease in the year-to-date period reflects continued improvements
in economic and credit conditions, including improvements in delinquency roll rates.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in our 2014 Form 10-K under
the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates’ and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New
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Accounting Pronouncements." See "Credit Quality" in this MD& A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit losses
associated with our various loan portfolios.

Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
(O o ] oo ) == S $ 11 $ 13 $ 2 (@159%
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ........coueiiieieieeeerere e e 190 182 8 4.4
LI 0SB0 0 46 32 14 43.8
TradiNg FEVENUE........oiuiitiie ettt bbbttt ebeenas 24 15 9 60.0
Net other-than-temporary impairment [0SSES............oeveerreeeernne e — (5) 5 100.0
Other securities gains (I0SSES), NEL.......cccoieeveiiece e 35 7 42 *
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates............c.coovvvriviinnniie, 53 51 2 3.9
Residential mortgage banking reVENUE............coecererernenenesee e 15 22 (7) (3L8)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives......... 56 (44) 100 *
Other income:
Valuation of loans held for sale............cooiiiiiiiiie 3) (D ) *
INSUFBINCE ...ttt ettt b e s ae e sreesnesneesnennnen 7 5 2 40.0
MiSCEIlAaNEOUS INCOME.........c.cucuiiiiiiciii s (31) 2 (29) *
Total Other INCOME........cuiiiriririciccrre e 27) 2 (29) *
TOtal OthEr FEVENUES.......ecee ettt e e ere e $ 403 $ 261 $ 142 54.4 %

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card fEES ... $ 21 % 27 $ 6 (222)%
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ........cocvvrreirererrererrese e 372 355 17 4.8
THUSE INCOMIB. ..ttt sttt sttt e et e e e st e neenenaas 81 63 18 28.6
TradiNG FEVENUE......c.cveeieeeree e 57 148 (91) (61.5)
Net other-than-temporary impairment l0SSES............cccovevrrciinnseieee e — (7 7 100.0
Other SECUMTIES JAINS, NEL .....veueiieiiieieie et 58 15 43 *
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates...........coooeoverrciinnccccincc 109 98 11 11.2
Residential mortgage banking reVENUE............cocoveerieiinreeesese e 34 70 (36) (51.4)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives......... 141 (16) 157 *
Other income:
Valuation of loans held for sale............coociiiiiic e 9) — 9 *
[NSUFBINCE ...t e 12 8 4 50.0
MiSCEllAaNEOUS INCOME..........cucuiiiiiiicii s 9) — 9) *
Total Other INCOME.........c.ccciiiiiii s (6) 8 (14) *
TOtal OthEr FEVENUES.......cve ettt ene e $ 87 $ 761 $ 106 139 %

* Not meaningful.

Credit card fees Credit card fees decreased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to lower credit card
late fees and lower interchange fees. In 2015, we began reporting credit card late fees in interest and, as a result, we reported $2
million and $4 million of credit card late fees in interest income during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015.
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Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 largely due
to higher credit facility fees resulting from increased levels of commercial lending activity, partially offset by lower custodial fees
due to a decrease in precious metals average inventory held under custody, lower other fees which reflects lower fees associated
with fundsunder management and lower account servicefeesdriven by adecline on non-sufficient fundsrel ated fees. Thefollowing
table summarizes the components of other fees and commissions. During the second quarter of 2015, we determined that loan
syndication fees would be better presented within credit facilities in the table below. As aresult, we reclassified $10 million and
$18 million of loan syndication fees from other fees to credit facilities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014,
respectively, to conform with current year presentation.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUNE SEIVICES .....oviierereies et $ 72 $ 78 (6) 7.1%
Credit faClIIES . ..vi i 97 63 34 54.0
CUSLOTI] FEES ... es s s 5 10 (5) (50.0)
OHNEY FEES ...voovvveveeeeoeeeessesese e eeeeeeeeeessss s 16 31 (15)  (48.4)
Total other fees and COMMISSIONS........cvovirrrreerreneeere e $ 190 $ 182 $ 8 4.4 %

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUNE SEIVICES .....eveeerereeiirreee et sr e r s r e s eb e se s sr s sn e sn e sre e nne e $ 141 $ 148 $ @ (4.7)%
L@ o 1 0 =0 1 == 173 123 50 40.7
CUSLOUIE] FEES .......rvvveoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeees s ssses s sseessesssesessssseneeens 8 21 (13) (619)
OHNEY FEES .....vvoooeeeoeeeeeeeseseeeessssss s seesssssssnsss s 50 63 (13)  (206)
Total other fees and COMMISSIONS...........cveceeiieeiie et $ 372 $ 355 % 17 4.8 %

Trust income Trust income increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 reflecting higher fee income associated
with our management of fixed income assets driven primarily by growth in emerging market debt sales.
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Trading revenue Trading revenueis generated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit, equities and precious metals
markets. The following table presents trading related revenue by business activity and includes net interest income earned on
trading instruments, aswell as an alocation of the funding benefit or cost associated with the trading positions. Thetrading related
net interest income component isincluded in net interest income on the consolidated statement of income. Trading revenuesrel ated
to the mortgage banking business are included in residential mortgage banking revenue.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Trading FEVENUE........coviirieieieee ettt enes $ 24 % 15 $ 9 60.0 %

NEL INTErESE INCOME ...ttt e 72 46 26 56.5

Trading related FEVENUE.........ccoirieireiere e $ 9% $ 61 $ 35 574 %

Business: -
DENVAIVESY) ....ovvoooveereveesseeeessssssssesssesssssssssss s ssssss s sssssss $ 31 $ 12 % 19 *
Balance Sheet Management ..o (8) (6) (2 (333
FOreign EXChaNQE ..o 57 53 4 75
PreCioUS MELAIS.......c.covieirieeiereet s 18 3 15 *
Capital FINANCING ......covovrererireerrr s ) — 2 *
OLNEr tradiNg . .c.coveeeeieeeiee e — (1) 1 100.0

Trading related FEVENUE.........cccoireireiere e $ 9% $ 61 $ 35 574 %

Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Trading FEVENUE.........c.ciiiiricc s $ 57 $ 148 $ (91) (615%

NEL INTErESE INCOME .....veeiteecteece e e 137 49 88 *

Trading related rEVENUE............ccciiiiicccc e $ 194 $ 197 $ (3) (1.5%

Business Activities: -
DENVAIVESY ....oooeoeeee s $ 73% 72 % 1 1.4 %
Balance Sheet Management ... (16) (3) (13) *
FOreign @XChange ..........cccvreeieiiereeeesee e 113 110 3 2.7
PreCioUS MELAIS.........coviiirieeereeer e 33 21 12 57.1
Capital FINANCING .......ccoviiiiriiiirrrrrr e (6) — (6) *
Other trading ........cocoiviiiiiii 3) (3 — —

Trading related rEVENUE............ccciiiiicccc e $ 194 $ 197 $ (3) (1.5%

* Not meaningful.
@ Includes derivative contracts related to credit default and cross-currency swaps, equities, interest rates and structured credit products.

Trading related revenue increased during the three months ended June 30, 2015 due to higher revenue from derivatives, precious
metals and foreign exchange. In the year-to-date period, trading related revenue decreased primarily due to higher losses from
Balance Sheet Management related activities and Capital Financing, partially offset by higher revenue from precious metals.

Trading revenue from derivative products increased during the three months ended June 30, 2015 due to higher revenue from
emerging marketsrelated products, which benefited from higher yielding trading asset balances, partially offset by lower new deal
activity on domestic interest rate products and lower val uation gainsrel ated to structured credit products. In the year-to-date period,
trading revenue from derivatives was relatively flat.

Trading revenue related to Balance Sheet Management activities decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015
primarily due to the performance of economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange trading revenue was higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by improvements in
client trading activity.
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Precious metals revenue increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by an increase in client trading
activity.

Capital Financing revenue decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due to valuation adjustments on credit
default swap hedge positions.

Net other-than-temporary impairment losses During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, there were no other-than-
temporary impairment losses recognized. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the debt securities held by a
consolidated variableinterest entity ("VIE") otherwise known as Bryant Park, which were previously determined to be other-than-
temporarily impaired, had changesto their other-than-temporary impai rment estimatesrelated to the credit component which were
recognized in earnings. Bryant Park was closed during the fourth quarter of 2014.

Other securities gains (losses), net We maintain various securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk
management strategies. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, we sold $3,201 million and $8,692 million,
respectively, of primarily U.S. Treasury, U.S. government agency mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities as part of a
continuing strategy to re-balancethe securitiesportfoliofor risk management purposesbased onthe current interest rate environment
compared with sales of $9,144 million and $15,999 million during the prior year periods. Other securities gains (losses), net
improved in both periods driven largely by losses associated with the sale of certain legacy asset backed securities in the prior
year periods and higher gains from security sales in the current year periods reflecting more favorable market conditions. The
grossrealized gains and losses from sales of securitiesin both periods, which isincluded as a component of other securities gains,
net above, are summarized in Note 3, "Securities,”" in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Affiliateincome increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, driven
by higher feesrelated to supporting growth initiativesin the global payments and cash management business, higher income from
certain performance based activity and, intheyear-to-date period, higher billingsassociated with internal audit activities performed
for other HSBC affiliates and a revenue sharing payment associated with the sale of certain investments managed on behalf of
HSBC Finance. These improvements were partially offset in both periods by lower fees associated with residential mortgage
servicing activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance.
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Residential mortgage banking revenue The following table presents the components of residential mortgage banking revenue.
The net interest income component reflected in the tableisincluded in net interest incomein the consolidated statement of income
and reflects actual interest earned, net of interest expense and corporate transfer pricing.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net iNterest iNCOME ... $ 44  $ 46 $ 2 (4.3)%
Servicing related income:
Servicing fEE INCOME.........covviviiiii 15 17 2 (@118
Changesin fair value of Mortgage Servicing Rights ("MSRs") dueto: ..........
Changes in valuation model inputs or assUMpPLioNS..........cccoeereereereeieneenes 19 (12) 31 *
CUSLOMES PAYMENES......ocuiiiiiiiii 1) (7) 6 85.7
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changes in value of MSRs... (18) 22 (40) *
Total servicing related iNCOME.........cccvrrierrenereeres s 15 20 (5) (25.0)
Originations and sales related income (10ss):
Gains on sales of residential MOrQAagES. .........cocvvevrrrerrrrrrer e ©) — (3 *
Recovery for repurchase obligations............ccverirninnineee s 1 — 1 *
Total originations and sales related income (10SS).........cvvrrcrirrcccnnnens 2) — 2 *
Other MOrtgage INCOIME...........coeiuiirieieieneete ettt ere et se b seene e 2 2 — —
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues.............. 15 22 (7) (318
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue..............ccoccevvcccinniccnene, $ 5 $ 68 $ 9 (13.2%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INEEIESL INCOME ...v.vvvtiectctetetetcte ettt bbbt bbbttt bbb bbb bens $ 89 $ 91 $ 2 (2.2)%
Servicing related income:
SErViCiNg fEE INCOME.......ocieeeeece e 30 35 5) @143
Changesin fair value of MSRSAUETO: ........ccccoveririniineie e
Changes in valuation model inputs or assuMpPLionS..........cccceervereereeieneeniennens 8 (24) 32 *
CUSLOMEN PAYIMENLS. ... ccviueetereetesieteseesesiesessesessesessesessessesessesessesessesessesessensssenes 9) a7) 8 47.1
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changesin value of MSRs... 6 37 (31) (83.8)
Total servicing related INCOME.........ccuviieciiieece e 35 31 4 12.9
Originations and sales related income (10ss):
Losses on sales of residential MOrQgages.......ccovvvvereveniesieseeseeeseereeeseseneens (©)] — (9 *
Recovery for repurchase obligations............ocveiinere s 5 34 (29) (85.3)
Total originations and sales related inCOmMe (10SS)........covevereeereeerieeneeeeenee @) 34 (38) *
Other MOrtgage iNCOME..........ciuirerereereeeeeeeeese e srese e sre e eeseeseeeeneeeeseesessessens 3 5 (2) (40.0)
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues.............. 34 70 (36) (51.4)
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue...........cccocveeeeeceecceneeenens $ 123 $ 161 $ (38) (236)%

* Not meaningful.

Net interest income was modestly lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 reflecting higher amortization of
deferred origination costsin the current year dueto slightly higher portfolio prepayments aswell aslower net interest incomefrom
adeclining home equity mortgage portfolio, partially offset by higher net interest income driven by growth in residential mortgage
average outstanding bal ances. Consistent with our strategy, additionsto our residential mortgage portfolio are primarily mortgages
to our Premier and Advance customers, while sales of loans consist of newly originated conforming loans sold to PHH Mortgage
as discussed further below.

97



HSBC USA Inc.

Total servicing related income decreased in the three months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to adeclinein net hedged M SRs
results aswell aslower servicing fees due to adecline in our average serviced portfolio. Total servicing related income increased
in the year-to-date period as lower servicing fees were more than offset by improved net hedged M SRs results. As aresult of our
strategic relationship with PHH Mortgage, we no longer add new volume to our serviced portfolio asall agency eligibleloans are
sold to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis. Changes in net hedged M SRs results are driven by changes in the MSRs
valuation due to updated market based assumptions such asinterest rates, expected prepayments, primary-secondary spreads and
cost of servicing which differ from period to period along with changes in the value of the underlying instruments used to hedge
changesin thefair value of the M SRs. Consequently, primarily dueto rising mortgage ratesin the current year, changesin thefair
value of our MSRsresulted in improved results during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 compared with the prior year.
Thisimprovement was partialy offset in the year-to-date period, and more than offset in the three month period, by lower returns
from instruments used to hedge changes in the fair value of the MSRs.

Originationsand salesrelated income (1oss) declined inthethree and six monthsended June 30, 2015 largely dueto | ossesassociated
withtheexecution of certain Community Reinvestment Act activitiesand, in theyear-to-date period, al ower recovery for repurchase
obligations associated with loans previously sold. During the first quarter of 2014, we entered into a settlement with the Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC") for $25 million which settled our liahility for substantially all loans sold to the
FHLMC from January 1, 2000 through 2013. The settlement and a re-assessment of the residual exposure resulted in arelease of
reserves. We continue to maintain repurchase reserves for exposure associated with residual risks not covered by the settlement
agreement.

Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting
to certain commercial loans held for sale, certain own fixed-rate debt issuances and all of our hybrid instrumentsissued, inclusive
of structured notes and structured deposits. We also use derivatives to economically hedge the interest rate risk associated with
certain financial instruments for which fair value option accounting has been elected. Gain (l0ss) on instruments designated at fair
value and related derivatives increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 attributable primarily to the widening of
our own credit spreads associated with our own debt, partially offset by a net loss recorded during the second quarter of 2015
related to changes in estimates associated with the val uation techniques used to measure the fair value of certain structured notes
and deposits. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," in the accompanying consolidated financial statementsfor additional information
including a breakout of these amounts by individual component.

Valuation of loans held for sale The valuation losses on loans held for sale during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015
largely reflects valuation write-downs on a commercial |oan held for sale. Loans held for sale are recorded at the lower of their
aggregate cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance. Valuations on residential
mortgage loans held for sale that we originate are recorded as a component of residential mortgage banking revenue in the
consolidated statement of income.

Other income Other income, excluding the valuation of loans held for sale as discussed above, decreased in the three and six
months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to losses associated with credit default swap protection which largely reflects the
hedging of asingle client exposure aswell aslower income related to bank owned lifeinsurance, partially offset by higher income
associated with fair value hedge ineffectiveness related to securities available-for-sale.

Operating Expenses Compliance costs, which remained a significant component of our cost base, totaled $60 million and $126
million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $71 million and $145 million in the prior
year periods. While we continue to focus attention on cost mitigation efforts in order to continue realization of optimal cost
efficiencies, compliance related costs remain elevated due to the remediation required by regulatory consent agreements and the
implementation of global standards.
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The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee DENEfitS ... $ 267 $ 223 $ 44 19.7 %
OCCUPENCY EXPENSE, NEL.......cvieiieeieeeieree e $ 59 $ 52 7 135
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") ..o 69 54 15 27.8
Fees paid to HSBC Technology and Services (USA) ("HTSU")............... 264 271 (7 (2.6)
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates...........cccooviiiiiiiiiiicccccccce 52 60 (8) (13.3)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates........cccoecvveenvenveniscnes 385 385 — —
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWAre..........coeeiereiineenee et 13 13 — —
MAKELING ... 16 21 (5) (23.8)
OULSIOE SEIVICES......cveeereseete sttt r e s er e en e 22 13 9 69.2
ProfesSsional fEES.......coei i 31 29 2 6.9
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") assessment fee............. 28 26 2 7.7
MiISCEITANEOUS........coceiiiiiiiiccc s 29 114 (85) (74.6)
Total OthEr EXPENSES.....c.cvcvieieeieieieieieieie ettt 139 216 (77) (35.6)
Total OPErating EXPENSES.........ccucueueiciiiirieiieie e $ 80 $ 86 $ (20) (3.0%
PErsonnel - QVErage NUMDE ............oo..oveeerveeseeseeesesee s esseeesseeessseseseseneons 6078 6197
EffiCIBNCY FAI0....ceiiiececee e 82.6% 93.8%
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee DENEFITS ..........coerirrrcere e $ 513 $ 438 $ 75 171 %
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL......coviieiiiiirerie st e 115 109 6 55
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Feespaid to HMUS........cooeeece e 133 111 22 19.8
Feespaid tO HTSU ... 504 524 (20) (3.8)
Fees paid to other HSBC affili@tes........cccovueeiieiinieeeceeeeeeeeeene 100 104 4 (3.8)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates............cococccciciccccccicnes 737 739 ) (.9
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWare..........cocvevrerererereeee e 25 27 2 (7.4)
Y= 1] oo SOOI 32 30 2 6.7
OULSIAE SEIVICES. ...ttt sttt et b e s b e s ebe s seene s 43 26 17 65.4
Professional FEES........ciirieiree e 52 51 1 2.0
FDIC 8SSESSMENE FER.....ciiiieeete e 59 57 2 35
MISCEITANEOUS. ......ovviniiirieieeeeeie e 51 149 (98) (65.8)
Total Other EXPENSES.........cciiicicicii e 262 340 (78) (22.9)
Total OPErating EXPENSES. ......cvireirrererrereere s sttt et $1627 $1626 $ 1 1%
Personnel - aVErage NUMDE .............c...evvvurveereessssessssessseesssessssessssssssesssseas T 6,067 | 6184 -
EffICIENCY FaHIO. ... .ot 77.5% 83.3%

Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits expense increased during the three and six months ended June 30,
2015 despite areduction in the average number of personnel. The declinein the average number of personnel reflected continued
cost management effortsincluding areduction in Retail Banking and Wealth Management personnel, driven by areduction in staff
performing residential mortgage servicing activities on behalf of HSBC Finance and the impact of branch optimization, which
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was partially offset by the addition of higher cost personnel associated with growth initiativesin certain businesses, strengthening
controls and the implementation of global standards which resulted in an overall increase in expense.

Occupancy expense, net Occupancy expense was increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due to higher rent
escalations and lower rental income.

Support services from HSBC affiliates Support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates wasrelatively flat in the three and six months ended
June 30, 2015 aslower expense due to changing the billing processfor certain third-party |oan servicing costsfrom support service
feespaid to HTSU in 2014 to adirect expense in 2015 and lower compliance costs were offset by increased costs associated with
our investment in process enhancements and infrastructure to improve and modernize our legacy business systems, increased
staffing associated with stress testing and reporting activities and higher shared service fees paid to HMUS. Compliance costs
reflected in support services from affiliates totaled $56 million and $119 million during the three and six months ended June 30,
2015, respectively, compared with $68 million and $139 million in the year-ago periods. A summary of the activities charged to
usfrom variousHSBC &ffiliatesisincluded in Note 13, "Related Party Transactions,” in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Other expenses Other expensesin the prior year reflect a$70 million provision related to the Federal Housing Finance Authority
residential mortgage-backed securities litigation which was settled in September 2014. Excluding this item, other expenses
decreased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 dueto lower litigation expense, higher levels of expense capitalization
related to internally developed software, lower provisions associated with off-balance sheet credit exposures and, in the three
month period, lower marketing expenses asthe prior year period reflects expense associated with marketing campaigns to support
the re-launch of HSBC Premier. These decreases were partially offset by higher outside services expense due to changing the
billing process for certain third-party loan servicing costs as discussed above.

Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio was 82.6 percent and 77.5 percent during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015,
respectively, compared with 93.8 percent and 83.3 percent during the year-ago periods. Our efficiency ratio wasimpacted in each
period by the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected fair value option
accounting. Excluding the impact of this item, our efficiency ratio was 86.6 percent and 82.1 percent during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with 89.4 percent and 82.1 percent in the year-ago periods. Theimprovement
in the three month period was due to lower operating expenses driven by lower litigation expense and higher other revenues due
primarily to higher gains on security sales, partially offset by lower net interest income.
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Income taxes The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the total income tax
provision attributable to pretax income and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate.................... $ 65 35.0% $ (9) (35.00%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from: ...
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit ... 1 0.5 3 111
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes™..........cc...ccooovrrvvens 53 28.6 1 (37
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items® .............ccooevemrrveereevinsivsensenns (1) (0.5) (3 (@11
Items affecting prior PEriods™ .............ooewueeeeereeieeeeeeeeseeeeseseseeseeesesssneens 9) (4.9) (7 (259
uncertain tax POSIIONS™ ...........coovverveereeereeeeeeees e 1 0.5 (178) (657.7)
Impact of fOreign OPErations ..........cceeererirueerrisiee s e — — 2 (7.4)
Low income housing tax credit investments, Nt ............ccccoceicecccnnenne. (5) (2.7) (7 (259
Change in valuation allowances reserves™ .............coooo.oveevvverevoiseesissnennns ) (1.1) 1 (37
ONEN ..ottt (5) 2.7) @ (37
Total income tax eXpense (DENEFIL)........covcurrirerrreee s 98 53.0% $ (206) (763.00%
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate.................... $ 149 35.0% $ 79 35.0 %
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:..........ccccccciiecccccee e
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit ... 11 2.6 13 5.8
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes'¥............ccooccovverrreeneen. 53 125 60 26.5
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items® .............ccoco.oeeevvrererrsesrirennnnns ) (0.5) 4 (L9
Items affecting prior PEOAS® ... @) (1.6) (24)  (106)
uncertain tax POSIIONS™ ...........coovueorveeceeereeeeeeeee e eeessees e 1 0.2 (181)  (80.1)
Impact of foreign OPErations ..........ccoeerererrenne e — — 1 4
Low income housing tax credit investments, Net ...........ccccoevrenenenenenenne. (11) (2.6) (14) (6.2)
Change in valuation allowances reserves™ .............ooovverveereeonnsiosensoons (6) (1.4) 13 5.8
ONEF e (14) (3.3) — —
Total income tax eXpense (DENEFIL)........cveurreeeerree e $ 174 409% $ (57 (252%

For 2015, the amounts mainly relate to the effects of revaluing our deferred tax assets for New York City Tax Reform that was enacted on April 13, 2015.
For 2014, the amounts mainly relate to the effects of revaluing our deferred tax assets for New York State Tax Reform that was enacted on March 31, 2014.

The amounts mainly relate to tax exempt interest income of non-deductible interest expense.
For 2015, the amounts relate to changes in estimates as aresult of filing the Federal and State income tax returns and achange in state tax expense as aresult

of filing amended State tax returns upon the closing of the Federal audits for the 2010 - 2011 tax years. For 2014, the amounts relate to changes in estimates
in the amount of state income taxes deductible on the federal income tax return.

For 2014, the amounts mainly reflect the resolution and settlement with taxation authorities of certain significant state and local tax audits during the second
quarter of 2014 which is discussed further below.

For 2015, the amounts relate to the release of valuation allowance reservesin states with net operating loss carryforward periods of twenty years. For 2014,
the amount relates to the establishment of avaluation allowance against our deferred tax assets dueto New York State Tax Reform that was enacted on March
31, 2014 which resulted in a decrease to our net deferred tax asset of approximately $75 million in the first quarter of 2014.

On April 13, 2015, New York Governor Cuomo signed legislation related to the 2015-2016 budget containing amendments to
reform New York City’scorporatetax rules. Thesereformsalign New York City’scorporatetax ruleswith New York Statefollowing
the changes previously enacted to the latter in 2014. The legidation is retroactively effective as of January 1, 2015, which is the
same general effective date for the New York State corporate tax reform. These changeswill have asignificant and positiveimpact
on HSBC entitieswith activity taxed in New York, including us. The changesto the New York City tax rulesresulted in adecrease
to our net deferred tax asset of approximately $48 million in the second quarter of 2015.
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During the second quarter of 2014, we concluded certain state and | ocal tax auditsresulting in the settlement of significant uncertain
tax positions covering anumber of years. Asaresult, wereleased tax reserves previously maintained in relation to the periods and
issuesunder review which resulted inanincometax benefit of $183 million. In addition, wereleased our accrued interest associated
with the tax reserves released which resulted in a $120 million benefit to interest expense.

We expect financial performance for HSBC North America and its subsidiary entities will continue to improve and therefore
anticipate that reliance will be placed solely on projected future taxable income from continuing operations in our evaluation of
the recognition of the deferred tax assetsin the near future as the sustainability of the improving financia performance continues
to be demonstrated. The reliance on future taxable income from continuing operations within our evaluation of the recognition of
deferred tax assets will not have a significant impact on our tax provision.

Segment Results — Group Reporting Basis

We have four distinct business segments that are utilized for management reporting and analysis purposes which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB"). The segments, which are generally based upon
customer groupings and global businesses, are described under Item 1, "Business,” in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no
changes in the basis of our segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2014 Form
10-K.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which
apply IFRS and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the Group
Reporting Basis (anon-U.S. GAAPfinancia measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and
decisionsabout allocating resources, such asemployees, are primarily made on thisbasis. However, we continue to monitor capital
adequacy, establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencies on aU.S. GAAP basis. The significant differences between
U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in Note 14, "Business Segments,” in our 2014
Form 10-K.

We are currently in the process of re-evaluating the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and
content of the U.S. GAAPfinancial data being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changesto this
reporting in 2015, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management Our RBWM segment providesafull range of banking and wealth products and services
through our branches and direct channelsto individuals. These services include asset-driven services such as credit and lending,
liability-driven services such as deposit taking and account services and fee-driven services such as advisory and wealth
management. During the first half of 2015, we continued to direct resources towards the development and delivery of premium
service. Particular focus has been placed on HSBC Premier, HSBC's global banking service that was re-launched in 2014 and
offers customers a seamlessinternational service, and HSBC Advance, a proposition directed towards the emerging affluent client
intheinitia stages of wealth accumulation.

Consistent with our strategy, the growth of our residential mortgage portfolio is driven primarily by lending to our Premier and
Advance customers. Following the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in 2013,
we sell our agency eligible originations directly to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis, resulting in no new mortgage
servicing rights being recognized.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INLEFESE INCOIME.......cuiieetetieer ettt $ 195 $ 212 $ 7) (8.0)%

Other Operating iNCOME...........oucueiireriererer e 86 104 (18) (17.3)

Total OPErating iNCOME ........cerveerieerreerreesre ettt 281 316 (35) (11.2)

Loan impairment CREaIgES.........cocovveuererereeeres e 15 21 (6) (28.6)

NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.ccueiiieieteisesee ettt 266 295 (29) (9.8)

OPErating EXPENSES.......ooveureerereereee et nene s 300 298 2 7

L OSS DEFOIE taX .....eueeeeeeiesirie ettt $ (34) $ 3 $ (31) *

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %

(in millions)
Net iNtErest iNCOME........cucuiiiicic s $ 392 $ 410 $ (18) (4.4)%
Other Operating INCOME..........cvveerirerererereee et seene e 173 217 (44) (20.3)
Total OPErating INCOIME........c.ciiiiicciir s 565 627 (62) (9.9
Loan impairment Charges...........ccuererrensenecesese st 37 23 14 60.9
Net OPErating INCOME......c.oviveieiee e 528 604 (76) (12.6)
OPEratiNg EXPENSES......eeeeeeueeieeeeieetere et et sre st st sbesbessesbeseesee e ese e e e enesse e ene 581 577 4 7
Profit (10SS) DEFOrE1aX ........c.cviucuciciciiicccccc s $ (53) $ 27 $ (80) *

* Not meaningful.

Our RBWM segment reported a higher loss before tax during the three months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to lower net
interest incomeand lower other operating income, partially offset by lower |oanimpairment charges. Our RBWM segment reported
aloss before tax during the six months ended June 30, 2015 compared with a profit before tax during the prior year period driven
by lower net interest income, lower other operating income and higher loan impairment charges.

Net interest income in the prior year reflects an $11 million release of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions which
were settled with the taxing authorities in the second quarter of 2014. Excluding this item, net interest income was lower during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due to higher amortization of deferred origination costs due to higher prepayments
aswell aslower net interest income from adeclining home equity mortgage portfolio, partially offset by higher net interest income
driven by growth in residential mortgage average outstanding bal ances.

Other operating income decreased in the three months ended June 30, 2015 due to a decline in net hedged M SRs results, lower
servicing feesdueto adeclinein our average serviced loan portfolio and | osses associ ated with the execution of certain Community
Reinvestment Act activities. In the year-to-date period, other operating income decreased due primarily to alower recovery for
mortgage |oan repurchase obligations associated with previously sold loans, asthe prior year period reflects arelease of reserves
due primarily to a settlement with FHLMC which settled our liability for substantially all loans sold to FHLMC, aswell aslosses
associated with the execution of certain Community Reinvestment Act activities and lower servicing fees due to adeclinein our
average serviced loan portfolio, partially offset by improved net hedged M SRs results.

L oanimpairment chargesdecreased during thethree monthsended June 30, 2015 driven primarily by lower |ossestimatesassociated
withtheremediation of certain mortgage servicing activitiesand lower | ossesassociated with advancesmade on behalf of borrowers.
These decreases were more than offset in the year-to-date period as the positive impacts from lower severity estimates due to
improvementsin homepricesand continuedimprovementsin economic and credit conditionsincluding lower dollarsof delinquency
on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent were more pronounced in the prior year.

Operating expenses were relatively flat in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015.

Commercial Banking CMB'sgoal isto bethe banking partner of choicefor international businesses building on our rich heritage,
international capabilities and customer rel ationshipsto enable global connectivity. CMB strivesto execute thisvision and strategy
by focusing on key markets with high concentrations of international connectivity. Our CMB segment serves the markets through
three client groups, notably Large Corporate, Middle Market and Business Banking. We also have a specialized Commercia Real
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Estate group which focuses on sel ective business opportunitiesin markets where we have strong portfolio expertise. Thisstructure
allowsusto align our resourcesin order to efficiently deliver suitable productsand services based on our clients needs and abilities.
Payments and Cash Management, Global Trade and Receivables Finance, Credit and Lending, and Capital Financing are key
product groups which enable CMB to deliver the global connections required by customers. Whether it is through commercial
centers, the retail branch network, or via HSBCnet, CMB provides customers with products and services needed to grow their
businesses internationally and delivers those products and services through its rel ationship managers who operate within arobust,
customer focused compliance and risk culture and collaborate across HSBC to capture alarger percentage of arelationship. An
increasein the number of relationship managers and product partnersisenabling usto gain alarger presencein key growth markets,
including the West Coast, Southeast, Midwest and Texas.

New loan originations have resulted in increases in quarter-to-date average loans outstanding of 29 percent to Large Corporate
customers, 4 percent to Middle Market customers, and 19 percent to Commercial Real Estate customers since the second quarter
of 2014. Total quarter-to-date average loans outstanding increased 20 percent across all CMB client groups as compared with the
second quarter of 2014.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NS T == T ot T S $ 211 $ 202 % 9 4.5%
Other OpeErating INCOIME.........ccoreeereereriereree et r e e ereseene e 71 64 7 10.9
Total OPErating INCOME .....cucuerieeerieierieereese et seens 282 266 16 6.0
Loan impairment Charges..........couerrerereresesese st 4 83 (79) (95.2)
NEt OPErating INCOME.........cieirieirieere et 278 183 95 51.9
OPErating EXPENSES......ccveueerereerereere st st seese et sresesree s e s seereseereseereseeneseas 185 174 11 6.3
0T o1 o (= = $ 93 $ 9 $ 84 *

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(in millions)

NEL INEErESE INCOME.......eviiiieie et s e s e re s s sre e s sb e e e saeeeseaes $ 412 $ 389 $ 23 5.9%
Other Operating INCOME.........ccuveerieierieereereese et reseebe e 148 132 16 121
Total OPErating INCOME ........cuerieeerieiereeesree et eaes 560 521 39 75
L0oan impairment CRaIgES. ......cvoerereierrsrereeres et es 14 90 (76) (84.4)
NEt OPErating INCOIME.......c.coveiiieirreiste et 546 431 115 26.7
OPErating EXPENSES......coveueeteertereete st st seeteseesesee e ste e besesbesesbesesbesesteseesesens 354 332 22 6.6
Profit DEFOr@1aX .....ccovueee e e e $ 192 $ 9 $ 93 93.9%

* Not meaningful.

Our CMB segment reported a higher profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher net
interest income, higher other operating income and lower loan impairment charges, partially offset by higher operating expenses.

Net interest incomeincreased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due to the favorable impact of higher |oan balances,
primarily in key growth markets, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans and refinanced loans and the prior year
reflects arelease of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions which were settled with the taxing authorities in the second
quarter of 2014.

Other operating income was higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven primarily by higher fees generated
from an increase in credit commitments, gains on sales in Commercial Rea Estate, higher Payments and Cash Management
revenues and higher GB&M collaboration income due to an increase in corporate derivatives and capital financing.

Loanimpairment chargesinthe prior year reflect arevisionto certain estimatesused in our commercial |oanimpairment calculation
which resulted in aloan impairment charge of approximately $72 million during the second quarter of 2014. Excluding thisitem,
loan impairment charges remained lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven largely by releases of reserves
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associated with maturities of lower quality loans, managed reductions in certain exposures and lower provisions for risk factors
associated with expansion market 1oan exposures, partially offset by higher provisions for oil and gas industry exposures.

Operating expenses increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher salaries expense related to
additional staff hired to support continued growth, higher litigation costs and higher technology and corporate function support
service costs.

Global Banking and Markets Our GB& M business segment supports HSBC's global strategy by leveraging the HSBC Group's
advantagesand scal e, strength in devel oped and emerging marketsand product expertisein order to focuson delivering international
productsto U.S. clientsand local productsto international clients, with New York as the hub for the Americas business, including
Canada and Latin America. GB& M provides tailored financial solutionsto major government, corporate and institutional clients
aswell asprivateinvestorsworldwide. GB& M clientsare served by sector-focused teamsthat bring together rel ationship managers
and product specialiststo devel op financial solutionsthat meet individual client needs. With afocuson providing client connectivity
between the emerging markets and devel oped markets, GB& M aims to develop a comprehensive understanding of each client’s
financial requirements with a long-term relationship management approach. In addition to GB&M clients, GB&M works with
RBWM, CMB and PB to meet their domestic and international banking needs.

Within client-focused business lines, GB& M offers afull range of capabilities, including:

»  Banking and financing advice and solutionsfor corporate and institutional clients, including loans, working capital, trade
services, payments and cash management, leveraged and acquisition finance, as well as capital raising in the debt and
equity markets; and

* A marketsbusiness with 24-hour coverage and knowledge of world-wide local markets which provides servicesin credit
and rates, foreign exchange, precious metals trading, equities and securities services.

Also included in our GB&M segment is Balance Sheet Management, which is responsible for managing liquidity and funding
under the supervision of our Asset and Liability Management Committee. Balance Sheet Management al so manages our structural
interest rate position within alimit structure.

We continue to target U.S. companies with international banking requirements and foreign companies with banking needs in the
Americas. Consistent with our global strategy, we are also focused on identifying opportunities to cross-sell our productsto CMB
and RBWM customers.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INtErESt INCOME......cvivriereecerereereiereereeeseees e ssrseseeee e ssassssesesesesnseses $ 132 $ 109 $ 23 21.1%
Other OpeErating INCOIME.........ccoreererereerereee et r e e ereseere e 219 151 68 45.0
Total 0perating iNCOME™ .........ovureeieeeereeeeeeeeee e 351 260 91 35.0
Loan impairment Charges..........coeeerererernesese s 4 40 (36) (90.0)
Net Operating iNCOME........ciueiieeeeeeeee e s eeneens 347 220 127 57.7
OPErating EXPENSES......ccveueereeerereereseerereeresresessesesrese s e s e s se s seereseereseenesnas 264 239 25 10.5
Profit (10SS) DEFOrE 18X ........ccvuiueuiiciciiciccccce s $ 83 % (19) $ 102 *

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(in millions)

NEt INtErESt INCOME.......viiiiiiiicieieieie et $ 250 $ 206 $ 44 21.4%
Other operating iNCOME.........cccoiiirirere et 485 445 40 9.0
Total operating iNCOME™ ..........coouriereeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 735 651 84 12.9
Loan impairment Charges..........oov oo 12 55 (43) (78.2)
Net OPErating INCOME.....c..oieieeieieeeee et s 723 596 127 21.3
OPErating EXPENSES......ccveueereeerereere st sttt seesesaese st s e bt ebeseebeseebeseebeseesesnas 523 478 45 9.4

Profit DEFOr@LAX ....cceeveiie sttt $ 200 $ 118 $ 82 69.5%

* Not meaningful.
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@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of the GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(in millions)
CEIt® ..ot s s eees s $ 2 3% (10) $ 22 *
REES...-11vvvveeesssssss s ess RS (42) 34 (76) *
Foreign Exchange and Metals... 61 66 5) (7.6)
EQUITIES ..ttt 57 (11) 68 *
Total Global MarKELS........ccuiuiiririeieieieieieieieie sttt 88 79 9 11.4
Capital FINANCING .....c.covireieiiiceereeeerereee e 38 55 a7) (30.9)
Payments and Cash Management 101 87 14 16.1
SECUMTIES SEIVICES ...ttt sttt sttt nan 4 3 1 333
Global Trade and Receivables FINaNCE..........cccovviiieiiciicirceeeeec e 14 12 2 16.7
106 33 73 *
8 (13) 21 *
(8) 4 (12) *
Total Operating iINCOME........c.ccuiiirieiieicieee s $ 351 % 260 $ 91 35.0%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(in millions)
CPEUID .oooooo et $ 19 $ 2% $ ™ (26.9)%
RALES.....cvititeteiete ettt ettt ettt bbbt bbbt b bbb bt b bt ettt s bbbttt bt eaetenas (2) 92 (94) *
Foreign Exchange and Metals... 128 143 (15) (10.5)
EQUItIES ..t 74 (20) 84 *
Total Global MarKELS......c.ccueuririeieieieieieie ettt bbbttt 219 251 (32 (12.7)
Capital FINANCING ..ottt 127 117 10 85
Payments and Cash Management 191 172 19 11.0
SECUNTIES SEIVICES ....cuiuirieeeie ettt sttt be e sa et s e ne et nan 7 6 1 16.7
Global Trade and Receivables FINANCE............covweiiciiieciiiceeeeieeeeeee e 27 23 4 17.4
Balance Sheet Management®™ ..............cooovvvoeecvvoieceeeeeeseseeeee s sssseees 170 97 73 75.3
16 (13) 29 *
(22) (2 (20) *
Total OPErating INCOME........cvuiiiiii e $ 735 % 651 $ 84 129 %

* Not meaningful.

@ Credit includes gains of $1 million and $2 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with losses of $9 million
and gains of $26 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, of operating income related to structured credit products and
mortgage loans held for sale which we no longer offer.

®  Includes gains on the sale of securities of $35 million and $58 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with
losses of $7 million and gains of $16 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively.

@ Other includes corporate funding charges, net interest income on capital held in the business and not assigned to products, and interest rate transfer
pricing differences.
Our GB& M segment reported improved profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher
netinterest income, higher other operating incomeand lower loan impairment charges, partially offset by higher operating expenses.

Credit revenue increased during the three months ended June 30, 2015 from higher emerging markets related client activity and
improved performance of legacy credit products. Credit revenue decreased during the six months ended June 30, 2015 from the
performance of legacy credit products. Changesin thefair value of legacy structured credit products resulted in gains of $1 million
and $2 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared with losses of $6 million and gains
of $24 million during the prior year periods. Included in the changesin fair value from structured credit products were decreases
infair value of $9 million and $5 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, related to exposures
to monolineinsurance companies, compared with decreases of $4 million and increasesof $12 million during theprior year periods.
Revenue from Rates decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to fair value adjustments on
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certain rate linked structured notes, including the impact of movementsin our own credit spreads and a loss recorded during the
second quarter of 2015 related to changes in estimates associated with the valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of
these liabilities. In the year-to-date period, lower revenue from Rates al so reflects lower new deal volumes, primarily in emerging
markets related activity which wereimpacted by less stable economic conditionsin Latin America. Foreign Exchange and Metals
revenue decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due to lower custody fee income from Metals following
the sale of our GB&M L ondon Branch precious metal s custody and clearing businessto an HSBC affiliate during the fourth quarter
of 2014. The increase in Equities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 was driven by the impact of fair value
adjustments on certain equity linked structured liabilities, including theimpact of movementsin our own credit spreadsand again
recorded during the second quarter of 2015 related to changesin estimates associ ated with the val uati on techniques used to measure
the fair value of these liabilities.

Capital Financing revenue decreased during the three months ended June 30, 2015 and increased during the six months ended
June 30, 2015 as higher financing fees from increased deal activity and higher net interest income driven by higher loan balances
in both periods was more than offset in the three month period by losses related to the hedging of a single client exposure. The
prior year also reflects arelease of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions which were settled with the taxing authorities
in the second quarter of 2014.

Payments and Cash Management revenue increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher fees
related to supporting growth initiatives in the global payments and cash management business.

Balance Sheet Management revenueincreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 from increased interest income,
gains on asset sales and higher revenue related to the performance of economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk.

Debit valuation adjustments resulted in gains during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 compared with losses in the
prior year periods driven by movements of both our own credit spreads and our derivative liability balances.

Other revenue decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 reflecting lower net interest on unassigned capital
and lower revenue related to transfer pricing differences.

Loanimpairment chargesin theprior year reflect arevisionto certain estimatesused in our commercial |oan impai rment cal cul ation
which resulted in aloan impairment charge of approximately $20 million during the second quarter of 2014. Excluding thisitem,
loan impairment charges remained lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to higher expected
loss on a single name exposure in the prior year and lower provisions for risk factors associated with emerging market loan
exposures, partially offset by higher provisions for oil and gas industry exposures.

Operating expenses increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven by higher staff costs related to growth
initiatives, higher litigation expense and higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Private Banking PB serveshigh networth and ultra-high net worthindividual sand their familieswith afocuson multi-generational
families, businessownersand entrepreneurswho require sophisticated sol utionsto hel p meet their most complex needsdomestically
and abroad. Accessing the most suitable products from the marketplace, PB works with its clients to offer tailored, coordinated
and innovative ways to manage and preserve wealth while optimizing returns. PB offers a wide range of products and services,
including banking, liquidity management, investment services, custody, tailored lending, trust and fiduciary services, insurance,
family wealth and philanthropy advisory services. PB alsoworksto ensurethat itsclients have accessto other productsand services
available throughout the HSBC Group, such as credit cards and investment banking, to deliver total solutions for their financial
and wealth needs. PB strategy is concentrated on three main areas: growth, streamlining and global standards.

Client deposit levels increased $820 million or 7 percent compared with June 30, 2014. Total loans increased $469 million or
8 percent compared with June 30, 2014 from the commercial and industrial, and residential mortgage portfolios. Overall period
end client assetswere $435 million higher than June 30, 2014 primarily dueto higher deposits, partially offset by lower institutional
custody customer balances and lower discretionary and fiduciary portfolios.

The following table provides additional information regarding client assets during the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014
(in millions)

Client assets at beginning of the PEMOU............cccueeuiieieeecece et $ 44102 $ 44,661
INEL NEW IMONEY ..ottt et teee ettt et et eteeteeaeebeebesbe et e bebessenseseesseseeseeseeseebesbesbestebetessansensenseneesennis 1,349 (1,454)
RV L8 TC 7= o =P (801) 1,008

Client assetS at €Nd Of PEITOU. .........ccoviueieereetereeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt et aess sttt e s st tessassesaeseneas $ 44650 $ 44,215
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the PB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INLEFESE INCOIME.......cuiieetetieer ettt $ 5 $ 56 $ (6) (10.7)%
Other Operating iNCOME...........oucueiireriererer e 27 25 2 8.0
Total OPErating iNCOME ........cerveerieerreerreesre ettt 77 81 4 (4.9)
Loan impairment rECOVENES ..o @)) — (1) *
NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.coveiireirreenrere e 78 81 (3) (3.7)
OPEratiNG EXPENSES ...cuvereereeneeneeeereesereeestessessestesteseeseessessessessessesseneeneesesseens 58 61 (3) (4.9)
Profit DEfOre tax ... $ 20 $ 20 $ — — %

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(in millions)

Net iNtErest iNCOME........cucuiiiic s $ 99 $ 105 $ (6) (5.7)%
Other Operating INCOME..........cvveerirerererereee et seene e 51 50 1 2.0
Total OPErating INCOIME........c.ciiiiicciir s 150 155 (5) (3.2
L0an impairment FECOVENTES ........coeirrererrereeeseere sttt Q) (5) 4 80.0
Net OPErating INCOME........cviveiiie e 151 160 9) (5.6)
OPErating EXPENSES......ccveueereeerereerereere s st st sree e se s se e seereseereseeneneas 116 116 — —
Profit DEfOre tax ..o $ 3B $ 4 3 (9) (20.5)%

* Not meaningful.

Our PB segment profit before tax wasflat during the three months ended June 30, 2015. I n the year-to-date period, our PB segment
reported lower profit before tax due primarily to lower net interest income and lower loan impairment recoveries.

Net interest income decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 driven primarily by a one-time gain in the
prior year periods related to the recognition of deferred revenue on a prepaid troubled debt restructuring loan.

Other operating income increased slightly during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due to higher revenues in
management and discretionary products as well as higher other revenues from affiliates.

Loan impairment recoveries were relatively flat during the three months ended June 30, 2015. In the year-to-date period, loan
impairment recoverieswere lower asthe prior year period reflects recoveries related to the payoff of atroubled debt restructuring
loan and releases of reserves due to paydowns.

Operating expenses decreased during the three months ended June 30, 2015 and were flat during the year-to-date period. The
decreasein thethree month period reflectslower technology and corporate function support service costs, partially offset by higher
litigation expense.

Other The other segment primarily includes changesin thefair value of certain debt issued for which fair value option accounting
was elected and rel ated derivatives, income and expense associated with certain affiliate transactions, adjustmentsto thefair value
on HSBC shares held for stock plans, interest expense associated with certain tax exposures and income associated with other tax
related investments.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the Other segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net interest iNCOME (EXPENSE)......c.uererrererreresrereerereere s $ 5) $ 78 $ (83) *
Gain (loss) on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread....... 48 (46) 94 *
Other Operating INCOME..........cvovererererreereee et seene e 27 8 19 *
Total OPErating INCOME.........cvoireeeee et 70 40 30 75.0
Loan impairment Charges.........o.ooeeererenenene e — — — —
NEt OPErating INCOME......c.oviveiiie e 70 40 30 75.0
OPErating EXPENSES. ....ccveeereeerereerereeresr s st sresesre s et se e seereseereseenennas 50 28 22 78.6
Profit DEFOrETaX ....ccveeceee ettt et $ 20 $ 12 $ 8 66.7%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(in millions)

Net interest inCOMe (EXPENSE)..........ccucriiiiniiin s $ (11) $ 65 $ (76) *
Gain (loss) on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread....... 118 (27) 145 *
Other operating iNCOME.........cccoiiirirere ettt 39 14 25 *
Total OPErating INCOME .....c.vcuerieeerieierieerieerie et 146 52 94 *
Loan impairment Charges..... ..o — — — —
NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.ciuiirieirieere e 146 52 94 *
OPEratiNg EXPENSES . ...c.eeeeeeueeieeeeieetere ettt sre st b ste e s sbeseesee e e e e e e e enessesseene 77 53 24 453
Profit (10SS) DEFOIr@TaX .....evveeeeeeeee s $ 69 $ D $ 70 *

* Not meaningful.

Net interest income in the prior year reflects an $87 million release of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions which
were settled with the taxing authoritiesin the second quarter of 2014. Excluding thisitem, profit (loss) before tax improved during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 due primarily to higher operating income from changesin the fair value of our own
debt and related derivatives for which fair value option accounting was elected as well as higher rental income from affiliates and
higher revenues associated with real estate mortgage investment conduits. These improvements were partially offset by higher
operating expenses driven largely by higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Reconciliation of Segment Results Aspreviously discussed, segment resultsare reported on aGroup Reporting Basis. For segment
reporting purposes, inter-segment transactions have not been eliminated, and we generally account for transactions between
segments as if they were with third parties. Also see Note 14, "Business Segments,” in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for a reconciliation of our Group Reporting Basis segment resultsto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.
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Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on alimited basis, internationally.

Allowance for Credit Losses Commercial loans are monitored on a continuous basis with aformal assessment completed, at a
minimum, annually. As part of this process, a credit grade and loss given default are assigned and an allowance is established for
these loans based on a probability of default estimate associated with each credit grade under the allowance for credit losses
methodology. Credit Review, an independent function, provides an ongoing assessment of lending activities that includes
independently assessing credit grades and loss given default estimates for sasmpled credits across various portfolios. When it is
deemed probable based upon known facts and circumstances that full interest and principal on an individual loan will not be
collected in accordance with its contractual terms, theloan isconsidered impaired. Animpairment reserveisthen established based
onthe present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at theloan'soriginal effectiveinterest rate, or asapractical expedient,
the loan's observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. Updated appraisals for
collateral dependent loans are generally obtained only when such loans are considered troubled and the frequency of such updates
are generally based on management judgment under the specific circumstances on a case-by-case basis. In addition, loss reserves
on commercial loans are maintained to reflect our judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not befully reflected inthereserve
calculations.

Our credit grades for commercial loansalign with U.S. regulatory risk ratings and are mapped to our probability of default master
scale. These probability of default estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and
benchmarking of theinternal ratings with external rating agency data like Standard and Poor's (" S& P") ratings and default rates.
Substantially al appraisals in connection with commercial real estate loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal
review unit at HSBC. The appraisal must be reviewed and accepted by this unit. For loans greater than $250,000, an appraisal is
generally ordered when the loan is classified as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the
"OCC"). On average, it takes approximately four weeks from the time the appraisal is ordered until it is completed and the values
accepted by HSBC's independent appraisal review unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter,
generally within the quarter in which the appraisal isreceived.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such asrent rolls and operating statements of the subject property are reviewed and presented in a standardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market datais gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Datais also collected
from similar propertieswithin the portfolio. Actual saleslevelsof properties, operating income and expensefiguresand rental data
on asquarefoot basisare derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparabl esfor the subject property. Property
specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a 10-year
cash flow model to bediscounted at appropriateratesto present val ue. Theseval uationsarethen used to determineif any impai rment
on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loans identified as troubled debt restructurings (“TDR Loans'), an alowance for credit losses is maintained based on the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans original effective interest rate or in the case of certain loans
which are solely dependent on the collateral for repayment, the estimated fair value of the collateral less costs to sell. The
circumstancesin which we perform aloan modification involvingaTDR Loan at athen current market interest rate for aborrower
with similar credit risk would include other changes to the terms of the original loan made as part of the restructure (e.g. principal
reductions, collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified asa TDR Loan.

For pools of homogeneous consumer receivables and certain small business loans which do not qualify as TDR Loans, probable
losses are estimated using aroll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that aloan will progress through the various
stages of delinquency, or buckets, and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans
in our portfolio. This migration analysisincorporates estimates of the period of time between aloss occurring and the confirming
event of its charge-off. This analysis considers delinquency status, loss experience and severity and takes into account whether
loans are in bankruptcy or have been subject to account management actions, such as the re-age of accounts or modification
arrangements. The allowance for credit losses on consumer receivables also takes into consideration the loss severity expected
based on the underlying collateral, if any, for theloan in the event of default based on historical and recent trendswhich are updated
monthly based on arolling average of several months' data using the most recently available information and is typically in the
range of 20-35 percent for residential mortgages and 75-100 percent for home equity mortgages. At June 30, 2015, approximately
1 percent of our second lien home equity mortgages where the first lien residential mortgage is held or serviced by us and has a
delinquency status of 90 days or more delinquent, were less than 90 days delinquent and were not considered to be a TDR Loan
or aready recorded at fair value less costs to sell.
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Theroll rate methodology isamigration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical 1oss experience
which capturesthe increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off asthe past due status of such account increases. The
roll rate model sused were devel oped by tracking themovement of delinquenciesby age of delinquency by "bucket" over aspecified
time period. Each bucket representsaperiod of delinquency in 30-day increments. Theroll from thelast delinquency bucket results
in charge-off. Contractual delinquency is a method for determining aging of past due accounts based on the status of payments
under theloan. Averageroll ratesaredevel opedto avoid temporary aberrationscaused by seasonal trendsin delinguency experienced
by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to avoid temporary aberrations,
while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. Theroll rate cal culations are performed monthly and are done consistently
from period to period. We regularly monitor our portfolio to evaluate the period of time utilized in our roll rate migration analysis
and perform aformal review on an annual basis. In addition, loss reserves on consumer receivables are maintained to reflect our
judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation.

Our alowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
infurther detail under the caption " Critical Accounting Policiesand Estimates’ andin Note 2, " Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2014 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
summarized under the caption "Risk Management" in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant revisionsto our policies
or methodologies during the first half of 2015.

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

June 30, March 31, December 31,

2015 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

AOWANCE TOF CrEAit I0SSES.......cuecviieiiriciecie ettt e e e e e e e eneas $ 648 $ 703 $ 680
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to: -
Loans:®
(0040101 (o | SR .8% .9% 8%
Consumer:

Residential MOrgagES .........coieiiriiiire s 0.5 0.6 0.6

HOME EQUILY MOMQBOES. .. cvevereeierieieriee sttt et sttt st st sttt et 1.6 1.7 1.8

(O [ o= o RSSO 4.8 51 5.4

OthEr CONSUMIET .....eeeeeeeeeeecteeies ettt st e e e e e s r et s aesaesbestesae st e te e e e ensenneneens 2.0 2.4 2.0

TOtAl CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt et te e st s e s te s ee s reeeesbeestesbe e besaeenbesasenseeasesreeneesanensens 0.8 0.9 1.0
L1 1 R 8% .9% .9%
Net charge-offs:®

COMMEICIA® .ottt e et r et e e ee e s s et eeeeee e s et eseneseeeeeseseesneenens 663%  2,225% 1,538%

(O] 115U 101 SO PSSRIN 178 174 229
L1 1 405% 581% 596%
Nonperforming loans:®V®

L0 011010 - ST 444% 349% 351%

(0] 115U 1 01 USSR 17 19 20
L1 1 65% 67% 63%

@ Ratios exclude loans held for sale held for sale as these loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.
@ Ratiosat June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015 reflect year-to-date net charge-offs, annualized. Ratio at December 31, 2014 reflects full year net charge-offs.

®  Our commercial net charge-off coverage ratio for the year-to-date periods ended June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014
was 81 months, 267 months and 185 months, respectively. The net charge-off coverage ratio represents the allowance for credit losses at period end divided
by average monthly net charge-offs during the period.

@ Representsour commercial and consumer allowancefor credit | osses, asappropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balanceof total nonperforming
loans held for investment. Nonperforming loans include accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more.

See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit
losses by general loan categories for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.
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Theallowancefor credit lossesat June 30, 2015 decreased $55 million or 8 percent ascompared with March 31, 2015 and decreased
$32 million or 5 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 due to lower loss estimatesin our consumer loan portfolio and, in
the three month period, lower loss estimates in our commercial loan portfolio.

Our commercial allowance for credit losses decreased $37 million or 7 percent as compared with March 31, 2015 and increased
$5 million or 1 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting lower specific customer provisions, driven largely by
charge-offs related to a single customer relationship, and releases of reserves associated with maturities of lower quality loans
and managed reductionsin certain exposures. Theseimprovementswere morethan offset in the year-to-date period by downgrades,
reflecting weaknesses in the financial circumstances of certain customer relationships. Both periods reflect higher reserves
associated with oil and gas industry loan exposures.

Our consumer allowance for credit losses decreased $18 million or 11 percent as compared with March 31, 2015 and decreased
$37 million or 20 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting lower loss estimates in our residential mortgage loan
portfolio driven by lower severity estimates, continued improvements in economic and credit conditions including lower
delinquency levels and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages which are an increasingly larger portion of
the portfolio. Also contributing to the decrease were lower loss estimates associated with the remediation of certain mortgage
servicing activities and a lower alowance for credit losses in our credit card portfolio reflecting lower receivable levels and
improved delinquency roll rates.

Our residential mortgage loan allowance for credit losses in al periods reflects consideration of certain risk factors relating to
trends such as recent portfolio performance as compared with average roll rates and economic uncertainty, including housing
market trends as well as second lien exposure.

The alowance for credit losses as a percentage of total loans at June 30, 2015 decreased as compared with both March 31, 2015
and December 31, 2014 reflecting a decrease in the consumer loan percentage and, in the three month period, a decrease in the
commercial loan percentage for the reasons discussed above.

The alowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs decreased as compared with both March 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 largely dueto higher dollars of commercial loan net charge-offsaswell asadecreasein our overall allowance
for credit losses, partially offset by lower dollars of net charge-offsin our consumer loan portfolio for the reasons discussed above.

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale:

% of % of % of
Loans to Loans to Loans to
Total Total Total
Amount Loans Amount  Loans®  Amount Loans
June 30, 2015 March 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
(dollars are in millions)
COMMEICIA™ ...t en e $ 497 761% $ 534 75.7% $ 492 74.7%
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages........covvveeiereesieeiese e 83 20.6 95 20.9 107 21.4
HOmME equity MOMJagES. ....ccvvrveveereereeierieeereee e 27 2.0 29 2.1 32 2.3
Credit CardS......coceeecece et 33 8 35 8 39 9
(@14 g0 0 01U 111 8 5 10 5 10 7
TOtaAl CONSUMET ......eiecieie ittt srae e s saree s 151 23.9 169 24.3 188 25.3

TOLA .ttt $ 648 100.0% $ 703 100.0% $ 680 100.0%

@ SeeNote5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for components of the commercial allowance for credit
losses.

While our allowance for credit lossis available to absorb losses in the entire portfolio, we specifically consider the credit quality
and other risk factors for each of our products in establishing the allowance for credit |oss.
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Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk Wealso maintain aseparatereservefor credit risk associated with certain commercial
off-balance sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. The
following table summarizes this reserve, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The related
provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses.

June 30, March 31,  December 31,
2015 2015 2014

Off-balance Sheet Credit MSK FESEIVE.........iiiceie ettt et e st e s sree s st e s sssae s s saeessbeseanns $ 70 $ 70 $ 68

Thesdlight increasein off-balance sheet reservesat June 30, 2015 as compared with December 31, 2014 reflects growth in customer
activity. Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized under the caption " Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and
Other Contractual Obligations® inthisMD&A.

Delinquency Thefollowing table summarizesdollarsof two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over
contractual delinquency as a percent of total |oans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio"):

June 30, March 31,  December 31,
2015 2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Delinquent loans:

(@0 01100 - RS T $ 49 $ 42 % 41
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages™@............oovieeeeeeeeeeeeeeseee s 903 957 1,013
Home equity MOortgagesS™@ ...........cco.orveeeveceeesee e 56 60 62
L@ o ] oo S 13 14 14
OtNEr CONSUMES ...ttt ettt et ere et e saeesbeeaeesteeseesbeessesteensesananns 11 13 14
TOLAl CONSUMEY.......c.eiitiieeiteectecteette et e ete et et e ebe e beebe e reeaeesaeeneesbeensesbeensesbeenbesbeenbesteenresseenns 983 1,044 1,103
LI 7! OO OO OO $1032 $1086 $ 1144
Delinquency ratio:
(0o a0] 001 (o R .08% .07% .07%
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages™@..............ocvrveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeees s eeessessssessesssesssses s 5.23 5.62 6.07
Home equity MOMGAgES Y@ ..........ovveeveeeeeeeeeeseeee s esssss s sessensas 3.32 3.50 3.48
(= [ o= o U 1.88 2.06 1.94
OthEr CONSUMIET .......ecteveieitesie e seeesee e e e e e e esessessesresbeseeseestesteseesense e eneeneeneeneenensennenes 2.21 253 252
QL0 = o0 1o = S 4.88 5.24 5.59
LI 1 1.23% 1.33% 1.46%

@ At June 30, 2015, March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage |oan delinquency includes $873 million, $908 million and $936 million,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less costs to sell, including $4 million, $4 million and $5
million, respectively, relating to loans held for sale.

@ Thefollowing table reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and adjustable rate mortgage loans:
June 30, March 31,  December 31,
2015 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEENESE-ONIY TOBNS .....coveecererecee e $ 6 3 6 $ 63
ARM TOBIMS ..ot 260 272 280
Delinquency ratio:

Interest-only loans 1.81% 1.85% 1.78%
ARM TOBIMS ..ot 2.18 231 243

Compared with March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 10
basis points and 23 basis points, respectively, driven by lower dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency in our
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consumer loan portfolio and higher outstanding loan balances, primarily in our commercial loan portfolio, partialy offset by
dlightly higher dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency in our commercial loan portfolio. Our consumer |oan two-
month-and-over contractual delinguency ratio decreased 36 basis pointsand 71 basi spointsfrom March 31, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively, due primarily to lower levels of residential mortgage loan delinquency, driven by continued improvementsin
economic and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgageswhich arean increasingly larger
portion of the portfolio. Residential mortgageloan delinquency level showever continueto beimpacted by an el ongated foreclosure
process which has resulted in loans which would otherwise have been foreclosed and transferred to Real Estate Owned remaining
inloan account and, consequently, in delinquency. Compared with both March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our commercial
two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio increased 1 basis point due to higher levels of commercia 1oan delinquency
driven largely by the delinquency of a single customer relationship, partially offset by higher outstanding loan balances.

Residential mortgage delinquency is higher than home equity mortgage delinquency in al periods largely due to the inventory of
loanswhich are held at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell and arein the foreclosure process.
Given the extended foreclosure time lines, particularly in those states where HUSI has a large footprint, the residential mortgage
portfolio has asubstantial inventory of loanswhich are greater than 180 days past due and have been written down to thefair value
of the collateral lesscost to sell. Thereisasubstantially lower volume of home equity mortgage loanswhere we pursue foreclosure
less frequently given the generally subordinate position of the lien. In addition, our legacy business originated through broker
channelsand loan transfersfrom HSBC Financeisof alower credit quality and, therefore, contributesto an overall higher weighted
average delinquency rate for our residential mortgages. Both of these factors are expected to continue to diminish in future periods
asthe foreclosure backlog resulting from extended forecl osure time linesis managed down and the portfolio mix continuesto shift
to higher quality loans as the legacy broker originated business and prior loan transfers run off.
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Net Charge-offs of Loans Thefollowingtablesummarizesnet charge-off (recovery) dollarsaswell asthe net charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, ("net charge-off ratio"):

June 30, March 31, June 30,
2015 2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Construction and Other real ESEALE.............cuiiiii s $ @ 3 1 $
BusiNess and COrPOrate DANKING...........eueiririeiiireereesiriee st b e e na b s s s e b enenea 33
Global banking.........ccccovueee. — — —
Other commercial — 1 3)
Total commercial 31 6 7
Consumer:
RESIAENtIAl MOMGAGES. ... .. evcerererercscier e r s 6 12 14
Home equity mortgages 2 2
CFOAIT CAIUS ...ttt sttt b b e b e s b s e s b b e st e e b e b e e ne e b e e b e b e R e e e e b e b e e b e b e nese e b e b e e nb e b et et ebese e ebenan 6 7 10
ONEE COMSUITIET ...ttt sttt ettt bt b et b e e s e st e b e se s e e e e b e st se b e b e e sb e b e e b e b e b e e e e b e he e b e b e neseebebe e et e b e et ebene st ebenan 4 4 2
TOLAl CONSUMIEN .....teuietienirte ettt sttt et st b et st b e e b s e s e st s b et e b e b e ne st e b e R e s e e e b e et e b e R e e e b e Re e b b e nt st e b e ne e nbebe et ebenenees 18 24 28
TOAL .ottt ettt ettt ettt et ettt et et e b e e h et ae b et e At e re b et eaeebeea et ehe b ea b At eae et eReebeebe et ese et e benseaeereseneebeste s ereebenee $ 49 $ 30 $ 35
Net Charge-off Ratio:
Commercial:
Construction and Other real ESEALE.............ccvuiiiciiii (.07)% .04% .21%
BuSiNess and COrporate DaNKING. ........c.ceuereueieriieiieee bbb bbb bbb .67 .09 12
GIODA! DANKING.......ciiiiii — — —
[@151c ool agl 1= ol = OO — 1 (.41)
TOBl COMIMIEICIA ......vetiieieteieiet ettt bbbttt b bbb bbbt h bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbbt eb et et enenebenas .20 .04 .05
Consumer:
RESIAENLIA MOIMBOES. .......cuiciiiiiciei bbb bbb bbb bbb 14 .29 .35
HOME EOUILY MOTTJAOES ....c.eveueerteieiireeie ettt sttt b sttt sttt b et s e bt s b e b e e b b e s e s e b e ne et e b ket seebese b et ebeseebebenna A7 23 42
(@L< o o= o LT OO 3.51 4.06 5.91
[©151C ool o= U 4 OO 3.78 3.50 1.65
TOEBI CONSUMET ...ttt ettt ettt bbbt e bbbt b bbb bbb bbb b bbb e bbb bbb e b e bbb b b e bbb e bbb b et et e bbb et et enebebenas .36 49 .59
LI SOOI 24 % .15% .20%

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 increased 9 basis points and 4 basis
points compared with the quarters ended March 31, 2015 and June 30, 2014, respectively, due to higher levels of net charge-offs
in our commercial loan portfolio, partialy offset by lower levels of net charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio and higher
outstanding average loan balances, primarily in our commercial loan portfolio. The increase in commercial net charge-offs was
driven by higher charge-offs in business and corporate banking which largely reflects charge-offs related to a single customer
relationship. The decrease in consumer net charge-offs was driven by lower charge-offsin residential mortgage and credit cards
due to continued improvement in economic and credit conditions including theimpact of lower levels of delinquency on accounts
less than 180 days delinquent and improvementsin housing market conditions.
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Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

June 30, March 31,  December 31,
2015 2015 2014

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Construction and Other real ESLALE ...........c.ceverririreiee s $ 64 $ 74 % 65
Business and corporate banking .........cccceveeuereeieeiesiene s 47 78 74
Commercial nonaccrual loans held for Sale..........o.ovviiiiiicic e 30 36 43
TOtal COMMIBICIAL .....ceieiteee et bbb et aenae e nbe s 141 188 182
Consumer:
Residential mortgages™@® ... ... 798 803 847
Home equity MOMGAgES Y@ ... ...t 70 67 68
Consumer nonaccrua [0ansSheld for Sale.........oviiince e 3 4 4
TOLAl CONSUIME......cceeeeieieeieir ettt r b b e et e b nn s r e s nnenes 871 874 919
Total NONACCIUING J0ANS........cciiieeeeeeee e et r e e 1,012 1,062 1,101
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate banking..........ccceeerereereereereeeeesese e seese e eee e enesse e s 1 1 1
TOtal COMMEICIEL ......eeietc e 1 1 1
Consumer:
(@1 o ] o= o OSSPSR 9 10 10
(@107 0TS U 0 S 9 9 10
QI e e 01 U0 1= 18 19 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days Or MOre..........cccoveereerecerieennens 19 20 21
Total NONPErformMing l0ANS ........cccvieieceece e e e 1,031 1,082 1,122
Other real €5tae OWNE™ ...........oooeeeeeceeeceeeceeees e 29 32 31
Total NONPEIrTOrMING ASSELS.......c.ceeieeeveteieeete ettt eae sttt nn s $1060 $ 1114 $ 1,153
@ At June 30, 2015, March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include $755 million, $760 million and $817 million,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.
@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loansinclude all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter
7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent.
®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed |oans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association
("GNMA"). Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk
characteristics from the rest of our customer loan portfalio.
@

Includes less than $1 million, $1 million and $1 million of commercial other real estate owned at June 30, 2015, March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively.

Nonaccrual loans at June 30, 2015 decreased as compared with both March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 due to lower levels
of commercial nonaccrual loans and, compared with December 31, 2014 lower levels of consumer nonaccrual loans. Our
commercial nonaccrual loans decreased driven by lower business and corporate banking nonaccrual loans, which largely reflects
the impact of charge-offs related to a single customer relationship, as well as a higher valuation allowance on a commercial
nonaccrual loan held for sale. Our consumer nonaccrual loans increased modestly compared with March 31, 2015 and decreased
compared with December 31, 2014 driven by lower residential mortgage nonaccrual loans due to continued improvements in
economic and credit conditions. Residential mortgage nonaccrual loan levels however continue to be impacted by an elongated
foreclosure process as previously discussed. Accruing loans past due 90 days or more remained relatively flat compared with
March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrua status are summarized in Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2014 Form 10-K.
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Impaired Commercial Loans See Note 4, "Loans," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regarding impaired loans, including TDR Loans as well as certain other commercial credit quality indicators.

Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined asasignificant credit exposure with anindividual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We participate in lending activity throughout the United States
and internationally. In general, we manage the varying degrees of credit risk involved in on and off-balance sheet transactions
through specific credit policies. These policies and procedures provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It
isour policy to require collateral when it is deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending
upon management’s credit evaluation. As with any nonconforming and non-prime loan products, we utilize high underwriting
standards and price these loansin amanner that is appropriate to compensate for higher risk. We do not offer teaser rate mortgage
loans.

Our loan portfolio includes the following types of loans:

* Interest-only loans—A loan which allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which resultsin lower payments during the initial 1oan period.

* Adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans— A loan which allows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.

The following table summarizes the balances of interest-only and ARM loans in our loan portfalios, including certain loans held
for sale, at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may appear in
more than one category below.

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest-only residential mortgage loans $ 3643 $ 3,531
ARM loans” 11,921 11,532

@ During theremainder of 2015 and during 2016, approximately $78 million and $381 million, respectively, of theARM loanswill experiencetheir first interest
rate reset.

Thefollowing table summarizes the concentrations of first and second lienswithin the outstanding residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage portfolios. Amounts in the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $23 million and $18 million
at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
Closed end:
= 1= TR $ 17233 $ 16,661
<o) o I 1= T 100 111
REVOIVING™ ...t e e ee e ee e ee s ee s e es e seeeeseeneneeennee 1,586 1,673
TOMAL ...ttt ettt ae et e he bt be s teshe et e teseetenseat et eReeReeReeaeeteeReeReeteateseeerenteteteneeneenes $ 18919 $ 18,445

@ A majority of revolving are second lien mortgages.
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Geographic Concentrations Thefollowing table reflectsregional exposure at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively,
for certain loan portfolios:

Commercial Residential
Construction and Mortgages and

Other Real Home Equity

Estate Loans Mortgages
June 30, 2015:
LS T 05 QS = = TS 31.5% 33.2%
L@ 1o 1= U 22.1 35.6
North Central UNited SLALES.........ccviieiieeeee ettt 3.3 4.6
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccooevvveireieneicnenesenenee 9.3 9.1
SOULhern UNItEd SEALES..........coiiiie ettt st et ne s 27.6 13.2
Western United States, excluding California..........cccoeevevnenenninsensesees e 6.2 4.3
10 = SRR 100.0% 100.0%
December 31, 2014:
NEW Y OrK SEBLE.......cceiieeeieieese ettt st st s te e e te e et e e s e ereenresneennas 34.7% 335%
L0711 10]4 o TF- TSROSO RS PRR 21.8 34.0
North Central United SLaLES.........ccviieiiiceicece et 38 51
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccooveveerneeeenerenrecnenenns 7.9 9.3
SOUthern UNITEd SEALES.........ccciuiiiiceie ettt sttt st n e neene s 26.7 13.8
Western United States, excluding California........occcveeeeeeenenieniesiese e seeseeee e 5.1 4.3
1= 100.0% 100.0%

Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Credit risk associated with derivativesis measured asthe net replacement cost
of derivative contractsin areceivable position in the event the counterparties of such contractsfail to perform under the terms of
those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the
measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered.
Counterpartiesto our derivative activitiesinclude financial institutions, central clearing parties, foreign and domestic government
agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients as well as other HSBC
entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit
risk, we enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of
transactions with the same counterparty upon occurrenceof certain events. In addition, wereduce credit risk by obtaining collateral
from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will differ based on an assessment of the credit
risk of the counterparty.

Thetotal risk in aderivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

e volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract
payments;

e current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

e credit worthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

¢ theexistence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

e existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
The table below presents total credit risk exposure measured using regulatory capital rules published by U.S. banking regulatory
agencies which includes the net positive mark-to-market of the derivative contracts plus any adjusted potential future exposure as
measured in reference to the notional amount. Theregulatory capital rulesrecognizethat bilateral netting agreementsreduce credit

risk and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk-weighted assetswhen netting requirements have been met. Asaresult, risk-weighted
amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures.

Thetotal credit risk exposure presented in the table bel ow potentially overstates actual credit exposure becauseit ignores collateral
that may have been received from counterparties to secure exposures; and the regulatory capital rules compute exposures over the
lifeof derivative contracts. However, many contracts contain provisionsthat allow usto close out thetransactionif the counterparty
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failsto post required collateral. In addition, many contracts give ustheright to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity
date. As aresult, these contracts have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived
from the regulatory capital rules.

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
Risk associated with derivative contracts:
Total Credit Fisk EXPOSUMED ... ess s en s $ 36505 $ 41,449
Less: collateral held 8aiNSt EXPOSUIE. ......c.covvereuiirerrereeres et en e 6,734 8,204
NEL CrEdit FISK EXPOSUIE .....eeiieieieeeeie ettt sttt sttt sttt se e st e e st ebesaesaesbesbeseese e se e e e eneeneenens $ 29,771 $ 33,245

@ At June 30, 2015, total credit risk exposure is calculated are calculated under the Basel 111 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1,
2015, replacing the Basel | risk-based approach used in 2014.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effectiveliquidity management isdefined asensuring we can meet customer | oan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawals
and other cash commitments efficiently under both normal operating conditionsand under unpredictabl e circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achievethi sobjective, wehaveguidelinesthat requiresufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensure that it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, aswell as to address the
more limited sources of liquidity available to it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for the balance sheet of HSBC
Bank USA to ensure that it can meet its liquidity needs in various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stress testing
scenarios, forms the basis for liquidity management and contingency funding plans.

During the first half of 2015, marketplace liquidity continued to remain available for most sources of funding. The prolonged
period of low interest rates continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base.

In June 2014, HSBC and HSBC Bank USA submitted its annual resolution plan jointly to the FRB and the FDIC asrequired under
Dodd-Frank and arule issued by bank regulators relating to the resolution of bank holding companies with assets of $50 billion
or more and an FDIC rule relating to the resolution of insured depository institutions with assets of $50 hillion or more. In March
2015, theFRB and FDI C compl eted their reviews of theresol ution plan submitted in 2014. The FDIC Board of Directorsdetermined
pursuant to section 165(d) of the Dodd-Frank Act that HSBC's 2014 planisnot credible and does not facilitate an orderly resolution
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The FRB determined that HSBC must take immediate action to improve its resolvability and
reflect those improvementsin its 2015 plan. Although the agencies noted some improvements from the original plan submitted in
2013, they jointly identified specific shortcomings with the 2014 resolution plan that will need to be addressed with the 2015
annual submission, which is due by December 31, 2015. The agencies agreed that in the event that HSBC has not, on or before
December 31, 2015, submitted a plan responsive to the identified shortcomings, the agencies expect to use their authority under
section 165(d) to determine that the resol ution plan does not meet the regquirements of the Dodd-Frank Act.

As previoudly reported, as a result of the adoption of the final rules by the U.S. banking regulators implementing the Basel 111
regulatory capital and liquidity reforms from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("Basel Committee”), together with
theimpact of similar implementation by United Kingdom banking regulators, we continueto review the composition of our capital
structure. Asdiscussed bel ow, during thesecond quarter of 2015, werepl aced certainlong-term debt and preferred equity instruments
that receive less favorable treatment under the rules with new Basel 111 compliant instruments.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $20,059 million and $30,807 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, of which $18,735 million and $29,445 million, respectively, were held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balanceswill
fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying such liquidity. The
decrease compared with December 31, 2014 was due to the placement of funds in securities purchased under agreementsto resell
which offered more favorable rates at the end of June.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $16,112 million and $1,413 million at June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Securities purchased under agreements to resell increased since December 31, 2014
driven by our conservative liquidity management practices, where we raise funds in advance of their usage and opportunistically
deploy them to maximize returns. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time.
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Trading Assets includes securities totaling $11,712 million and $13,498 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on trends.

Securities includes securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity totaling $47,245 million and $43,609 million at
June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See"Balance Sheet Review" inthisMD& A for further analysisand discussion
on trends.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $12,728 million and $12,795 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See
"Balance Sheet Review" in thisMD&A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.

Deposits totaled $122,547 million and $116,118 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, which included
$89,953 millionand $84,486 million, respectively, of coredepositsascal culated inaccordancewith FFIEC guidelines. See"Balance
Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt increased to $30,567 million at June 30, 2015 from $27,524 million at December 31, 2014. Thefollowing table
presents the maturities of long-term debt at June 30, 2015:

(in millions)
120 1 OSSPSR PP $ 794
1220 1 TR 3,581
2L 1 OSSP P PP 5,465
10 1 TR 6,349
2009 .t E R R R R R R e R £ e e SR e R e eR e SR e SR e SR e AR AR e Rt AR e AR e R e R e e e e e R R e e Rt R e e R eRe e R e R e nr e ne s 2,777
IS 5 L OSSOSO 11,601
10 = TSP STPPSTPSTOTRN $ 30,567

Thefollowing table summarizesissuances and retirements of long-term debt during the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014

(in millions)
LONG-LEIM AEDE ISSUEH........vcvieieiiictcecc ettt sttt bttt s b bt se et be e st bese s s ebebe s snatas $ 12,140 $ 3,887
[IoTaTo = gl (= o1l 1= o= Lo 1RSSR (8,735) (2,392
NEt [ONG-TEIM AEOL ISSUEH ...ttt n st et s s s s sn s s s s s s $ 3405 $ 1,495

See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on long-term debt trends, including additional
information on debt issued and repaid during the six months ended June 30, 2015. During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA
exercised the option to call its remaining junior subordinated debentures previously issued by HSBC USA to three separate capital
trusts, totaling $560 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” for additiona details.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, we may issue certain securitiesincluding debt securities and preferred
stock. The shelf hasno dollar limit, but the amount of debt outstanding islimited by the authority granted by the Board of Directors.
At June 30, 2015, we were authorized to issue up to $30,000 million, of which $10,605 million was available. HSBC Bank USA
has a $40,000 million Global Bank Note Program of which $15,758 million was available at June 30, 2015.

Asamember of theFHL B and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, wehave secured borrowing facilitieswhich arecollateralized
by loansand investment securities. At June 30, 2015, long-term debt i ncluded $5,600 million of borrowingsfrom the FHL B facility.
Based upon the amounts pledged as collateral under thesefacilities, wewere allowed accessto further borrowings of up to $11,725
million.

Preferred Equity During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA redeemed all of itsAdjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative Preferred Stock, totaling $300 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory
Capital Requirements,” for additional detailsand see Note 18, "Preferred Stock," in our 2014 Form 10-K for information regarding
al remaining outstanding preferred share issues.

Common Equity During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previously issued
to HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA repaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issued to HSBC
USA. In conjunction with these repayments, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its immediate
parent, HNAI, in exchange for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributions to its subsidiary, HSBC
Bank USA, of $2,400 million in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares of non-
cumulativepreferred stock. Thesecapital actionsweretaken to support our growth strategy and to strengthentheBasel 111 regulatory
capital positions of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.
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Selected Capital Ratios Capital amounts and ratios are calculated in accordance with banking regulations in effect as of June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014. In managing capital, we develop targets for total capital to risk weighted assets, Tier 1 capital to
risk weighted assets, common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets and Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (this
latter ratio, also known asthe "Tier 1 leverageratio"). Our targets may change from time to time to accommodate changes in the
operating environment, regul atory requirementsor other considerations such asthoselisted above. Thefollowing table summarizes
selected capital ratios for HSBC USA with detailed explanation below. The improvement in the capital ratios since December 31,
2014 reflects the capital actions discussed above.

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014
Total capital t0 FiSk WEIGHLE BSSEES..........couueveeceeeeeeereeeeeeseseeseeessee s sessesssessses s ssessessessssssesssesaenes 16.31% 15.78%
Tier 1 capital tO risk WEIGhLE aSSES® .......couuveceeeeeeeeeeee e eeee e eeeeeee s se e s s eees s se e ssesesesees 12.47 11.41
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk Welghted aSSEtS™ ............c.ovvvireeieeeiereeseseeeeeseesse s 11.77 10.33
Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (Tier 1 leverageratio) ......ccoeeveeererererenenneneseseeeneene 9.50 8.54
Total QUILY 10 TOLAl BSSELS.....cceiiiiiiete ettt ettt st e et e e e e e s e e aeeneereeneerenrs 10.50 9.14

@ Risk weighted assets are cal culated under the Basel |11 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015, replacing the Basel | risk-based
approach used in 2014.

HSBC USA manages capital in accordance withthe HSBC Group policy. The HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA Internal
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP") works in conjunction with the HSBC Group's ICAAP. HSBC North America
and HSBC Bank USA's ICAAP evaluates regulatory capital adequacy, economic capital adequacy and capital adequacy under
various stress scenarios. Our initial approach isto meet our capital needsfor these stress scenarioslocally through activitieswhich
reduce risk. To the extent that local alternatives are insufficient or unavailable, we will rely on capital support from our parent in
accordance with HSBC's capital management policy. HSBC has indicated that they are fully committed and have the capacity to
provide capital as heeded to run operations, maintain sufficient regulatory capital ratios and fund certain tax planning strategies.

Regulatory capital requirements are based on the amount of capital required to be held, as defined by regulations, and the amount
of risk weighted assets, also calculated based on regulatory definitions. Economic Capital is a proprietary measure to estimate
unexpected loss at the 99.95 percent confidence level over a 1-year time horizon. Economic Capital is compared to a calculation
of available capital resources to assess capital adequacy as part of the ICAAP.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulators issued afinal rule implementing the Basel 111 capital framework in the U.S. ("the Basal 111 fina
rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, became effective January 1, 2014
with certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. The Basel 11 final rule established an integrated
regulatory capital framework to improve the quality and quantity of regulatory capital. In addition to phasing in a complete
replacement to the Basel | general risk-based capital rules, the Basel 111 final rule builds on the Advanced Approach of Basel I,
incorporates certain changesto Basel 2.5, and implements certain other requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act. Asaresult, the capital
ratios in the table above are reported in accordance with the Basel 111 transition rules within the final rule. In addition, the Basel
[11 final rule introduced the Standardized Approach for risk weighted assets, which replaced the Basel | risk-based guidance for
determining risk weighted assets for banking organizations and came into effect on January 1, 2015. For additional discussion of
the Basdl 111 final rule requirements, including fully phased in required minimum risk-based capital ratios and the countercyclical
capital buffer (to be phased in, if applicable, beginning January 1, 2016), see Part |, "Regulation and Competition - Regulatory
Capital and Liquidity Requirements, in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Additionally, HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA are subject to the supplementary leverageratio ("SLR"), with reporting
to U.S. banking regulatorscommencing January 1, 2015 and full implementati on and compliance by January 1, 2018. Theminimum
SLRiscurrently set at 3 percent (calculated as theratio of Tier 1 capital to total |everage exposure, which includes balance sheet
exposures plus certain off-balance sheet items). The SLR is generally consistent with the Basel leverage framework, but also
contains certain modifications, including to the methodology for averaging total leverage exposure.

In 2014, the FRB adopted a final rule requiring enhanced supervision of the U.S. operations of non-U.S. banks such as HSBC.
Therulerequires certain large non-U.S. bankswith significant operationsin the United States, such asHSBC, to establish asingle
intermediate holding company ("IHC") to hold all of their U.S. bank and non-bank subsidiaries. The HSBC Group currently
operates in the United States through such an IHC structure (i.e., HSBC North America), therefore, the implementation of this
requirement will not have a significant impact on our U.S. operations. HSBC North America submitted its IHC implementation
plan to the FRB on December 31, 2014. Under thefinal rule, an IHC may calculateitsrisk-based and leverage capital requirements
solely under the Standardized Approach, even if the IHC meets the asset thresholds that would require a bank holding company
to usethe Advanced Approach ($250 hillion or moreintotal consolidated assets or $10 billion or more of foreign exposures). IHCs
will be subject to al other risk-based capital requirements, including the SLR, stress testing requirements, enhanced risk
management standards, and enhanced governance and stress testing requirements for liquidity management, as well as other
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prudential standards. Under thefinal rule, most of these requirementswill become effective on July 1, 2016. The implementation
of these requirements of thefinal ruleisnot expected to have asignificant impact on our processes and operations since we already
meet several of the requirements. In accordance with the final rule, HSBC North Americareceived approval from the FRB to opt
out of the Advanced Approach in December 2014. Additionally, in June 2015, HSBC Bank USA received approva from the OCC
to opt out of the Advanced Approach. HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA will, however, remain subject to the other
capital requirements applicable to advanced approach banking organizations, including the SLR and the countercyclical capital
buffer discussed above.

With regard to the elements of capital, the application of the Basel I11 final rule requires any nonconforming Tier 2 subordinated
debt issued prior to May 19, 2010 to be phased out by January 1, 2016. As a result, approximately $200 million of our currently
outstanding Tier 2 subordinated debt will be phased out of capital under the final rule.

In 2014, the Financia Stability Board ("FSB"), an international financial institutions regulatory body, issued aproposal for atotal
loss-absorbing capacity requirement ("TLAC") for global systemically important banks ("G-SIBs"). The proposed requirements
would beasignificant extension of the current regul atory capital framework, whichisaimed at ensuring that abanking organization
can absorb losses without falling into resolution. In addition to significantly expanding the amount of such going-concern loss
absorbency, the TLAC proposal introduces a requirement to issue specified amounts of debt obligations that can absorb lossesin
aresolution proceeding if the banking organization reaches the so-called point of non-viability. The TLAC requirement isto be
applied in accordance with the banking organization's resol ution strategy for each entity that would enter resolution as determined
by the G-SIB Crisis Management Group. The FSB received comments on the proposal and is conducting a quantitative impact
study, before adopting a final rule in November 2015. Once finalized, each FSB jurisdiction must implement the requirements
under local law. Although the FSB does not anticipate global implementation until January 2019, certain jurisdictions, including
the United States, are expected to implement the TL AC requirements sooner.

Capital Planning and Stress Testing. U.S. bank holding companieswith $50 billion or moreintotal consolidated assets, including
HSBC North America, are required to comply with the FRB's capital plan rule and Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review
("CCAR") program, as well as the annual supervisory stress tests conducted by the FRB, and the semi-annual company-run stress
testsasrequired under theDodd-Frank Act (collectively, "DFAST"). Under therules, the FRB will eval uate bank holding companies
annually ontheir capital adequacy, internal capital adequacy assessment processand plansfor capital distributions, and will approve
capital distributionsonly for companiesthat are ableto demonstrate sufficient capital strength after making the capital distributions.
HSBC North America participatesin the CCAR and DFAST programs of the FRB and submitted its latest CCAR capital plan and
annual company-run DFAST resultsin January 2015. In July 2015, HSBC North America submitted itslatest mid-cycle company-
run DFAST results. HSBC Bank USA is subject to the OCC's DFA ST requirements, which require certain banksto conduct annual
bank-run DFAST, and submitted its latest DFAST results in January 2015. The company-run stress tests are forward looking
exercises to assess the impact of hypothetical macroeconomic baseline, adverse and severely adverse scenarios provided by the
FRB and the OCC for the annual exercise, and internally developed scenarios for both the annual and mid-cycle exercises, on the
financial condition and capital adequacy of a bank-holding company or bank over a nine quarter planning horizon.

HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA are required to disclose the results of their annual DFAST under the FRB and OCC's
severely adverse stress scenario and HSBC North Americais required to disclose the results of its mid-cycle DFAST under its
internally developed severely adverse stress scenario. In March 2015, HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA publicly
disclosed their most recent DFAST results and the FRB also publicly disclosed its own DFAST and CCAR results. HSBC North
America publicly disclosed its most recent mid-cycle DFAST resultsin July 2015.

In March 2015, the FRB informed HSBC North America, our indirect parent company, that it did not object to HSBC North
Americas capital plan or the planned capital distributionsincluded inits 2015 CCAR submission, including payment of dividends
on outstanding preferred stock and trust preferred securities of HSBC North Americaand its subsidiaries. Stresstesting resultsare
based solely on hypothetical adverse scenarios and should not be viewed or interpreted asforecasts of expected outcomesor capital
adequacy or of the actual financial condition of HSBC North America. Capital planning and stresstesting for HSBC North America
may impact our future capital and liquidity.

In October 2014, U.S. regulatorsissued afinal rule that amendsthe CCAR capital planning and DFAST supervisory stresstesting
rules to shift the start date of the annual capital plan and supervisory and company-run stress test cycles back by one calendar
quarter. The 2015 cycle began October 1, 2014 with a capita plan submission date of January 5, 2015. However, the next annual
cyclewill begin January 1, 2016 with a capital plan submission date of April 5, 2016. Thefinal rule made certain other substantive
changes to the capital plan and stress test regulations, including limiting a bank holding company's ability to make capital
distributions (subject to certain exceptions) if its actual capital issuancesin that quarter were less than the amount indicated in the
capital plan. In July 2015, the FRB issued a proposed rule to further amend the CCAR capital planning and DFAST stress testing
rules. We are reviewing the potential impact of thefinal rule and the proposal on our capital planning and stress testing processes.
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HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are required to meet minimum capita requirements by our principal regulators. Risk-based
capital amounts and ratios are presented in Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

2015 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2015 are summarized in the following table:

Actual ES}LTyaEEd
January 1 through Estimated
through December 31, Full Year
June 30, 2015 2015 2015
(in billions)
Funding needs:
NS T =g W | 11, 1 P $ 6 $ 3 % 9
Net change in short term investments and SECUNtieS.........oov i, 8 (D 7
Trading and Other @SSEtS...........cvieiiiciiic s (3 3 —
Total fuNdiNg NEEAS........cce i r e sre s $ 11 $ 5 $ 16
Funding sources:
Net Change iN AEPOSIES .......coerueriirerierere bbb e $ 6 $ 2 % 8
Trading and other short term liabilities.............cccveveiiiiicicce 2 — 2
Net changein long-term debt...........coooeiieci e 3 3 6
Shareholders EQUILY ........coeoiiiiieec bbb 4 — 4
Total fFUNAING SOUICES .......cvieieciecieeteee ettt et et re e e e s aeenaesneas $ 11 $ 5 % 16

Theabovetablereflectsalong-term funding strategy. Daily balancesfluctuate aswe accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. Our prospects for
growth continue to be dependent upon our ability to attract and retain deposits and, to alesser extent, access to the global capital
markets. Weremain confident in our ability to accessthe market for long-term debt funding needsin the current market environment.
We continueto seek well-priced and stable customer deposits. We will continueto sell aportion of new mortgage loan originations
to PHH Mortgage.

HSBC Financerelies on its affiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy its funding needs outside of cash generated from its loan
sales and operations.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictionsimposed by federal 1aw on extensions of credit to, and certain other "covered
transactions' with HSBC USA and other affiliates. Covered transactions include |oans and other extensions of credit, investments
and asset purchases, and certain other transactions involving the transfer of value from a subsidiary bank to an affiliate or for the
benefit of an affiliate. A bank's credit exposure to an affiliate asaresult of aderivative, securities lending/borrowing or repurchase
transaction is also subject to these restrictions. A bank's transactions with its non-bank affiliates are also required to be on arm's
length terms. Certain Edge Act subsidiaries of HSBC Bank USA are limited in the amount of funds they can provide to other
affiliatesincluding their parent. Amounts abovetheir level of invested capital have to be secured with U.S. government securities.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption "Risk Management" in
thisMD&A.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

Asafinancia services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at June 30, 2015

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or Less Five Years Years Total 2014
(in millions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations™........................ $ 6762 $ 2458 $ 8 $ 9305 $ 8,441
Commercial letters of credit ... 459 203 — 662 659
Credit deriVatives?............oooeevveeceeeeeeeeeesseeeseeeesees e 23212 77,163 4,973 105,348 117,768
Other commitments to extend credit:

COMMENGIA® ..o 17,337 60,002 3,739 81,078 80,226

CONSUIMES ...ttt ettt ae e sne e e sne e 6,832 — — 6,832 6,821
TOAl oottt $ 54,602 $139,826 $ 8,797 $203,225 $ 213915

@ Includes $980 million and $937 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
@ Includes $32,284 million and $32,688 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
®  Includes $4,218 million and $3,606 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit in theform of loans, participationsinloans, leasefinancing receivables, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines, where we have the right to change terms or
conditions upon notification to the customer, and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties, where we have
theright to changeterms or conditions, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily
those related to secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit and certain asset purchase commitments. |n connection with our
commercia lending activities, we provide liquidity support to Regency, a multi-seller asset backed commercia paper ("ABCP")
conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate. See Note 16, "Variable Interest Entities," in the accompanying consolidated financia
statements for additional information regarding ABCP conduits and our variable interestsin them.

We provide liquidity support to Regency in the form of lines of credit or asset purchase agreements. Under the terms of these
liquidity agreements, Regency may call upon us to lend money or to purchase certain assets in the event the conduit is unable or
unwilling to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper. The maximum amount that we could be required to advanceis generally
limited to the lesser of the amount of outstanding commercial paper related to the supported transaction and the balance of the
assets underlying that transaction adjusted by a funding formula that excludes defaulted and impaired assets. As a result, the
maximum amount that we would be required to fund may be significantly less than the maximum contractual amount specified
by the liquidity agreement.

124



HSBC USA Inc.

The following tables present information on our liquidity facilitieswith Regency at June 30, 2015. The maximum exposure to loss
presented in thefirst table represents the maximum contractual amount of loans and asset purchases we could be required to make
under the liquidity agreements. This amount does not reflect the funding limits discussed above and also assumes that we suffer
atotal loss on all amounts advanced and all assets purchased from Regency. As such, we believe that this measure significantly
overstates our expected |0ss exposure.

Conduit Assets®) Conduit Funding®
Maximum Weighted Weighted
Exposure Total Average Life Commercial  Average Life
Conduit Type to Loss Assets (Months) Paper (Days)

(dollars are in millions)

HSBC affiliate sponsored (multi-seller) ........ccoeveeininiennns $ 3046 $ 1511 12 $ 1433 14

@ The amounts presented represent only the specific assets and related funding supported by our liquidity facilities.

Average Credit Quality(l)

Average
Asset Class Asset Mix AAA AA+AA A A- BB/BB-
Multi-seller conduit
Debt securities backed by:
Autoloansand |€aSES........ccccceveveeevve v sese e 49% 74% 16% —% —% —%
Traderecalvables..........cccooeveiiececiccececce e 36 — 84 100 — —
Equipment 10aNS..........cocverreneninnenee e 15 26 — — — —
100% 100% 100% 100% —% —%

@ Credit quality is based on Standard and Poor’s ratings at June 30, 2015.

Wereceivefeesfor providing theseliquidity facilities. Credit risk on these obligationsis managed by subjecting themto our normal
underwriting and risk management processes.

The preceding tables do not include information on credit facilities that we previously provided to certain Canadian multi-seller
ABCPconduitsthat have been subject to restructuring agreements aspart of the Montreal Accord. Aspart of the enhanced collateral
pool established for the restructuring, we provided a Margin Funding Facility to a Master Asset Vehicle which is undrawn and
expires in July 2017. At June 30, 2015, the undrawn facility has been reduced to CAD $77 million from CAD $112 million at
December 31, 2014.

We have established and manage a number of constant net asset value ("CNAV") money market fundsthat invest in shorter-dated
highly-rated money market securitiesto provide investorswith ahighly liquid and secure investment. These funds price the assets
in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a constant price. The funds,
however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than 50 basis points from the
portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to price its portfolio at market value and consequently would no
longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds because we do not absorb
the majority of the expected future risk associated with the fund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity, credit and other relevant
risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.

Fair Value

Fair value measurement accounting principlesrequire areporting entity to takeinto consideration itsown credit risk in determining
thefair valueof financial liabilities. Theincorporation of our own credit risk accounted for anincrease of $24 millionand adecrease
of $75 millioninthefair value of financial liabilities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, compared
with an increase of $39 million and a decrease of $6 million during the prior year periods.

Net income volatility arising from changes in either interest rate or credit components of the mark-to-market on debt designated
at fair value and related derivatives affects the comparability of reported results between periods. Accordingly, the gain (loss) on
debt designated at fair value and related derivatives during the six months ended June 30, 2015 should not be considered indicative
of the results for any future period.
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Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair
values are either determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements” in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further details on our valuation control framework.

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish afair value hierarchy structure that prioritizesthe
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework"). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants’ assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodol ogies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The mgjority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniquesthat feature one or more significant unobservableinputs (Level 3). The determination of thelevel of fair value hierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or aliability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

. whether the asset or liability is transacted in an active market with a quoted market price;
. the level of bid-ask spreads;

. alack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;

. whether only a few transactions are observed over a significant period of time;

. whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services,

. whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

. whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair
value.

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted pricesin active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liabilities. A financial instrument isclassified asalLevel 1 measurement if it islisted on an exchange or isan instrument actively
traded inthe over-the-counter ("OTC") market wheretransactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. Weregard financial
instruments such as equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be actively traded.
Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury or by other foreign
governments, to-be-announced ("TBA"™) securities and non-callable securities issued by U.S. government sponsored entities.

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify asLevel 1 inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, corporate debt, foreign government-backed debt, preferred securities, precious metals and certain commercial
loansheld for sale as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, at least two quotations from independent sources are obtained based
on transactions involving comparable assets and liabilities to validate the fair value of these instruments. We have established a
process to understand the methodol ogies and inputs used by the third party pricing servicesto ensure that pricing information met
the fair value objective. Where significant differences arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally determined
fair value, weinvestigate and reconcile the differences. If the investigation resultsin asignificant adjustment to the fair value, the
instrument will be classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. In general, we have observed that there is a correlation
between the credit standing and the market liquidity of a non-derivative instrument.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The fair value of certain structured derivative productsis determined using valuation
techniques based on inputs derived from observable benchmark index tranches traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control
processes and procedures have been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instrumentsthat share
similar risks to the relevant benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors. In addition, a
validation process has been established, which includes participation in peer group consensus pricing surveys, to ensure that
valuation inputs incorporate market participants risk expectations and risk premium.

Leve 3inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputsincorporate market participants assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our Level 3 instruments included the following: collateralized debt
obligations ("CDOs") for which thereis alack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured deposits and
structured notes as well as certain structured credit and structured equity derivatives where significant inputs (e.g., volatility or
default correlations) are not observable, credit default swaps with certain monoline insurers where the deterioration in the
creditworthinessof the counterparty, whichisunobservable, hasresultedin significant adjustmentstofair value, subprimemortgage
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loans held for sale, certain corporate debt securities, impaired commercial loans, mortgage servicing rights, and derivatives
referenced to illiquid assets of less desirable credit quality. See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements' in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for additional information on Level 3 inputs.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of each reporting period.

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 Measurements During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements.

Level 3 Measurements Thefollowingtableprovidesinformationabout Level 3assets/liabilitiesinrelationtototal assetgliabilities
measured at fair value as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

June 30, December 31,

2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)
IS L= R o = A OO $ 3683 $ 3810
Total assets measured at fair VAIUE®D..............cooeoeeieeeeeeeeeeeee e 113,938 122,473
(=Y T 1= 1 LR (= 2,696 2,863
Total liabilities measured at fair VAIUEY ..o ene 82,113 90,892
Level 3 assets as apercent of total assets measured at fair Value.........ccoovveveveveserececcecece e 3.2% 3.1%
Level 3liabilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value...........ccoeeeveieinincncienne 3.3% 3.1%

@ Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $3,640 million of recurring Level 3 assets and $43 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at June 30, 2015. Includes $3,752 million of recurring
Level 3 assets and $58 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2014.

Includes $113,685 million of assets measured on arecurring basis and $253 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at June 30, 2015. Includes
$122,155 million of assets measured on arecurring basis and $318 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2014.

(©)]

Significant Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities

Derivative Assets and Counterparty Credit Risk We have entered into credit default swaps with monoline insurers to hedge our
credit exposure in certain asset-backed securities and synthetic CDOs. We made $10 million and $5 million negative credit risk
adjustmentsto thefair value of our credit default swap contracts during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively,
compared with $4 million negative and $12 million positive adjustments during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014,
respectively. These adjustments to fair value are recorded in trading revenue in the consolidated statement of income. We have
recorded a cumulative credit adjustment reserve of $58 million and $53 million against our monoline exposure at June 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively. Thefair value of our monoline exposure net of cumulative credit adjustment reserves equal ed
$165 million and $204 million at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements During thethreeand six monthsended June 30, 2015, wetransferred
$78 million and $179 million, respectively, of depositsin domestic offices and $12 million and $32 million, respectively, of long-
term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer
being unobservableasthe derivative optioniscloser to maturity and thereismore observability in short termvolatility. Additionally,
during both the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, we transferred $22 million of deposits in domestic offices, which we
have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 asaresult of a change in the observability of underlying instruments
that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred $104 million and $244 million, respectively, of depositsin
domestic offices and $27 million and $98 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value,
from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in
maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. During the second quarter of 2014, we transferred $119 million
of government debt securities issued by foreign governments and the related foreign exchange and credit derivatives from Level
3to Level 2 dueto the availability of inputs in the market including independent pricing service valuations. Additionally, during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, we transferred $27 million and $95 million, respectively, of depositsin domestic
offices, whichwehaveelected to carry at fair value, fromLevel 2to Level 3asaresult of achangeintheobservability of underlying
instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 as well as for
further details including the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.
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Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs Thefair value of certain financial instrumentsis measured using valuation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservabl einput parameterswhich can be selected from arange of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assetsor ligbilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform atest of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $60 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $127 million as of June 30, 2015. The effect of changesin significant unobservableinput parametersare primarily
driven by mortgage servicing rights, certain asset-backed securities including CDOs, and the uncertainty in determining the fair
value of credit derivatives executed against monoline insurers.

Assets Underlying Asset-backed Securities The following tables summarize the types of assets underlying our asset-backed
securities aswell as certain collateralized debt obligations held as of June 30, 2015:

Total
(in millions)
Rating of securities:” Collateral type:
AAA ... Commercial MOMQAgES.......ccvvvevereiriiiereresise et $ 27
Residential mortgages - AL A ..o 73
Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME........c.cooiiirereneneree e 1
TOA AAA.......oooooeeeeeeeeeessssssssssssesssssseeeseeseeeeesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss T 101
AA oo 011 - &
A Residential mortgages - AL A ..o - 8
Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME........c.cooiiirereneneree e 49
HOME EQUILY - ATL An.eeei e e e 83
SIUAENE TOBNS ...t 88
L 111 SRR 52
TOB A oo seseeeee e ssesseees e T 280
BBB ... Residential mortgages - AL A ..o - 2
Collateralized debt ObligationS..........ccoevererierieiee e 240
L 1111 OO T 242
CCC . Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME........c.cooirire et T 6

3___en

@ We utilize S& P as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S& P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used, in that
order. Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.
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Risk Management

Overview Some degree of risk is inherent in virtually al of our activities. The HSBC U.S. risk appetite framework describes
through its risk appetite statement and its risk appetite limits and thresholds the quantum and types of risk that it is prepared to
take in executing its strategy. It develops and maintains the linkages between strategy, capital, risk management processes and
HSBC Group Strategy and directs HSBC North America's businesses to be targeted along strategic and risk prioritiesand in line
withtheforward view of availablecapital under stress. Accordingly, wehave comprehensiverisk management policiesand practices
in place to address potential risks, which include the following:

e Creditrisk isthe potential that aborrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, aswell astheimpact on the
value of credit instruments due to changesin the probability of borrower default; Credit risk includesrisk associated with
cross-border exposures.

«  Liquidity risk is the potential that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due or fund its
customers because of inadequate cash flow or the inability to liquidate assets or obtain funding itself;

* Interest rate risk isthe potential impairment of net interest income dueto mismatched pricing between assetsand liabilities
aswell aslossesin value due to interest rate movements;

»  Market risk istherisk that movementsin market factors, including foreign exchange rates and commaodity prices, interest
rates, credit spreads and equity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios;

»  Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, or systems, or from
external events (including legal risk);

«  Compliance risk istherisk that we fail to observe the letter and spirit of all relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations and
standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;

»  Fiduciary risk istherisk of breaching fiduciary dutieswherewe act in afiduciary capacity astrustee, investment manager
or as mandated by law or regulation;

*  Reputational risk istherisk arising from failure to meet stakeholder expectationsasaresult of any event, behavior, action
or inaction, either by us, our employees, the HSBC Group or those withwhom it isassociated, that may cause stakeholders
to form a negative view of us. This might also result in financial or non-financial impacts, loss of confidence or other
consequences.

o  Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute, and react appropriately to opportunities and/or
threatsarising from changesin the market, some of which may emerge over anumber of years such as changing economic
and political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory devel opments or competitor action;

e Security and Fraud risk isthe risk to the business from terrorism, crime, fraud, information security, incidents/disasters,
cyber-attacks and groups hostile to HSBC interests;

»  Model risk is the potentia for adverse consequences from decisions based on incorrect or misused model outputs and
reports. This occurs primarily for two reasons: 1) the model may produce inaccurate outputs when compared with the
intended business use and design objective; and 2) the model could be used incorrectly; and

»  Pension risk istherisk that the cash flows associated with pension assets will not be enough to cover the pension benefit
obligations required to be paid and includes the risk that assumptions used by our actuaries may differ from actua
experience.

See"Risk Management” in MD&A inour 2014 Form 10-K for amore compl ete discussion of the objectives of our risk management
system aswell asour risk management policies and practices. Our risk management processinvolvesthe use of various simulation
models. We believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what
isassumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonabl e estimates, with the understanding that actual
results may differ significantly from model projections.

Credit Risk Management Credit risk is the potential that aborrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, aswell as
the impact on the value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk
associated with cross-border exposures. There have been no material changes to our approach towards credit risk management
since December 31, 2014. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our
approach to credit risk.
Credit risk isinherent in various on- and off-balance sheet instruments and arrangements, such as:

e loan portfolios;

e investment portfolios,

« unfunded commitments such as letters of credit, lines of credit, and unutilized credit card lines that customers can draw

upon; and
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» derivativefinancial instruments, such asinterest rate swapswhich, if morevaluabletoday than when originally contracted,
may represent an exposure to the counterparty to the contract.

While credit risk exists widely in our operations, diversification among various commercial and consumer portfolios helps to
lessen risk exposure. Day-to-day management of credit and market risk isperformed by the Chief Credit Officer/Head of Wholesale
Credit and Market Risk North Americaand the HSBC North America Chief Retail Credit Officer, who report directly to the HSBC
North America Chief Risk Officer and maintain independent risk functions. The credit risk associated with commercia portfolios
is managed by the Chief Credit Officer, while credit risk associated with retail consumer loan portfolios, such as credit cards,
installment loansand residential mortgages, ismanaged by theHSBC North AmericaChief Retail Credit Officer. Further discussion
of credit risk can be found under the "Credit Quality" caption in thisMD&A.

Liquidity Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach towards liquidity risk management since
December 31, 2014. See “Risk Management” in MD& A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach
to liquidity risk. Although our overall approach to liquidity management has not changed, we continuously monitor the impact of
market events on our liquidity positions and continue to adapt our liquidity framework to reflect market events and the evolving
regulatory landscape and view asto best practices. Current regul atory initiatives encourage banksto retain aportfolio of extremely
highquality liquid assets. Assuch, wearemaintaining alarge portfolio of high quality sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

Our liquidity management approach includes increased deposits, supplemented by wholesale borrowing to fund our business
growth, and using security sal esor secured borrowingsfor liquidity stresssituationsinour liquidity contingency plans. Aspreviously
discussed, HSBC Financereliesonits affiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy itsfunding needs outside of cash generated from
its loan sales and operations.

As part of our liquidity management framework, stressed coverage ratios are derived from stressed cash flow scenario analyses
and express the stressed cash inflows as a percentage of stressed cash outflows over one-month and three-month time horizons.
At June 30, 2015, our one-month and three-month stressed coverage ratios were 120 percent and 110 percent, respectively. At
December 31, 2014, our one-month and three-month stressed coverage ratios were 111 percent and 104 percent, respectively. A
stressed coverageratio of 100 percent or higher reflects a positive cumulative cash flow under the stress scenario being monitored.
HSBC operating entities are required to maintain aratio of 100 percent or greater out to three months under the combined market-
wide and HSBC-specific stress scenario defined by the inherent liquidity risk categorization of the operating entity concerned.

In addition, the Asset and Liability Management Committee monitors the ratio of Advancesto Core Funding ("ACF"). The ACF
ratio measures what percentage of our stable sources of long-term funding (generally customer deposits deemed to be "core" in
accordance with HSBC policy and debt with at least 12 months until maturity) are utilized in providing loans to customers. We
arerequired to maintain an ACF ratio below 120 percent. At June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our ACF ratio was 95 percent
and 101 percent, respectively.

In 2009, the Basel Committee proposed two minimum liquidity metrics for limiting risk: the liquidity coverage ratio ("LCR"),
designed to be a short-term measure to ensure banks have sufficient high-quality liquid assetsto cover net stressed cash outflows
over the next 30 days, and the net stable funding ratio ("NSFR"), which is alonger term measure with a 12-month time horizon
to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities. The Basel Commiittee finalized the LCR in January 2013 with
phase-in beginning in 2015. The Basel Committee finalized the NSFR in October 2014.

In September 2014, the FRB, the OCC and the FDIC issued final regulations to implement the LCR in the U.S., applicable to
certainlargebankinginstitutions, including HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA. The LCR final ruleisgenerally consistent
with the Basel Committee guidelines, but is more stringent in several areasincluding the range of assetsthat will qualify as high-
quality liquid assets and the assumed rate of outflows of certain kinds of funding. Under the final rule, U.S. institutions began the
LCR transition period on January 1, 2015 and are required to maintain a minimum LCR of 100 percent by January 1, 2017, two
years ahead of the Basel Committee's timeframe for compliance by January 1, 2019. At June 30, 2015, HSBC Bank USA's LCR
ratio under thefinal U.S. LCR rulewas 112 percent. HSBC Bank USA's LCR is calculated based on our current interpretation and
understanding of the U.S. LCR rule and may differ in future periods depending on further implementation guidance from our
regulators. The LCR final rule does not address the NSFR requirement, which is currently in an international observation period.
Based on the results of the observation period, the Basel Committee and U.S. banking regul ators may make further changesto the
NSFR. The U.S. regulators have not yet proposed rules to implement the NSFR for U.S. banks and bank holding companies but
are expected to do so well in advance of the NSFR's scheduled global implementation by January 1, 2018.

In the first quarter of 2014, the FRB issued rules pursuant to Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which established enhanced
prudential standards for U.S. bank holding companies and foreign banking organizations with total global consolidated assets of
$50 billion or more. The rules complement the LCR, capital planning, resolution planning, and stress testing requirements that
have been finalized. The rules require bank holding companies, such as HSBC North America, to comply with various liquidity
risk management standards and to maintain aliquidity buffer of unencumbered highly liquid assets based on the results of internal
liquidity stress testing. Beginning January 1, 2015, bank holding companies are also required to meet heightened liquidity
reguirements, which include qualitativeliquidity standards, cash flow projections, internal liquidity stresstests, and liquidity buffer
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reguirements. HSBC North America hasimplemented the standard and it does not have asignificant impact to our business model.
Starting on July 1, 2016, HSBC North Americawill betreated asan IHC owned by aforeign banking organization. Thistransition
is not expected to have a significant impact on our U.S. operations or change our liquidity management policies.

HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA have adjusted their liquidity profiles to support compliance with these rules. HSBC
North Americaand HSBC Bank USA may need to make further changesto their liquidity profilesto support compliance with any
future final rules.

Our ability to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. Thefollowing table reflects the short and long-term credit ratings of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA at June 30, 2015:

Moody’s S&P Fitch pBrsY
HSBC USA:
Short-term Borrowings.........cocoeeeeieiinene e P-1 A-1 F1+ R-1 (middle)
Long-term/senior debt...........coveeeerreieesre e A2 A AA- AA (low)
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term borrowings...........coccoceevicciriincenrce e P-1 A-1+ F1+ R-1 (middle)
LONG-terM/SENIOr dE..........cvveeverireieeieeseseeies e Aa3® AA- AA- AA (low)

@ Dominion Bond Rating Service.
@ Moody's long-term deposit rating for HSBC Bank USA wasAa2 at June 30, 2015.

In February 2015, S& P took various rating agency actions on certain European banks, including HSBC, following a review of
government support. As aresult of this review, the long-term debt rating of HSBC USA was downgraded to A and the long-term
debt rating of HSBC Bank USA was put on negative watch. As part of this review, the short-term ratings of both HSBC USA and
HSBC Bank USA were re-affirmed. It is not anticipated that the actions taken by S& P will significantly impact our funding cost
or strategy.

In May 2015, Moody's took various rating agency actions on certain U.S. banks, including HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA,
following a review associated with the publication of it's revised bank rating methodology. As a result of this review, the senior
debt rating of HSBC Bank USA was upgraded to Aa3, the long-term deposit rating of HSBC Bank USA was upgraded to Aa2 and
the senior debt rating of HSBC USA was re-affirmed. As part of this review, Moody's issued new counterparty risk ratings which
are distinct from debt, deposit or issuer ratings in that they measure default probability rather than expected loss, and apply to
counterparty obligations and contractual commitmentsrather than debt or deposit instruments. The new ratings provide an opinion
on abank's counterparty risk related to its covered bonds, contractual performance obligations (e.g. servicing), derivatives (e.g.
swaps), letters of credit, certain guarantees and liquidity facilities. The short-term and long-term counterparty risk ratings issued
for HSBC Bank USA wereP-1 and A1, respectively. It isnot anticipated that the actionstaken by Moody'swill significantly impact
our funding cost or strategy.

Rating agencies continue to evaluate economic and geopolitical trends, regulatory developments, future profitability, risk
management practices and litigation matters, all of which could lead to adverse ratings actions. Although we closely monitor and
striveto manage factorsinfluencing our credit ratings, thereisno assurance that our credit ratingswill not be changed in the future.
As of June 30, 2015, there were no pending actions in terms of changes to ratings on the debt of HSBC USA or HSBC Bank USA
from any of the rating agencies.

Interest Rate Risk Management Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing
characteristics of our assets, liahilities and derivative contracts. Our approach to managing interest rate risk is summarized in
MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K under the caption “Risk Management”. There have been no material changes to our approach
towards interest rate risk management since December 31, 2014.

Present value of a basis point ("PVBP") isthe changein value of the balance sheet for aone basis point upward movement in all
interest rates. The following table reflects the PVBP position at June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014
(in millions)
Institutional PVBP MOVEMENT [IMIt ........ccciiiiiiicii it s s st st $ 80 $ 8.0
PVBP POSItiON @ PETOT NG ......ceiviieiirietirieierieere sttt sttt b bbb e b b 1.6 4.8

Net interest income simulation modeling techniques are utilized to monitor a number of interest rate scenarios for their impact on
net interest income. These techniques include both rate shock scenarios, which assume immediate market rate movements by as
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much as 200 basis points, aswell as scenariosin which ratesrise or fall by as much as 200 basi s points over atwelve month period.
The following table reflects the impact on net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques:

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Projected change in net interest income (reflects projected rate movements on July 1

and January 1):
Change resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increase in the yield curve.............. $ 226 8% $ 162 7%
Change resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve.............. (179) @ (234 9)
Change resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increase in the yield curve.............. 421 15 283 11
Change resulting from a gradual 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve.............. (353) (13) (442 (18)
Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on July 1 and
January 1):
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve®®...... (192) @) (216) 9
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve ....... 347 13 247 10
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve....... (322) (12 (381) (15)
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve ....... 636 23 432 18
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve....... (528) (19) (627) (25)

@ With the continued period of low interest rates, some of the above decrease scenarios have become less meaningful . We are adding a new scenario for an
immediate 50 basis point decrease in rates to reflect the impact of a potential sharp declinein interest rates to future income.

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonabl e estimate of interest rate
sensitivity, actual results will differ from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

Capital Risk/Sensitivity of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some
reported capital balances and ratios. The mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities is recorded on a tax effected
basisto accumulated other comprehensiveincome (loss). Thisvaluation mark isincluded in twoimportant accounting based capital
ratios: total shareholders equity to total assets and common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets. Under the final rule
adopting the Basel 111 regulatory capital reforms, the valuation mark is being phased into common equity Tier 1 capital over five
years beginning in 2014. As of June 30, 2015, we had an available-for-sal e securities portfolio of approximately $33,085 million
with a positive mark-to-market adjustment of $83 million. An increase of 25 basis pointsin interest rates of all maturities would
lower the mark-to-market by approximately $277 million to a net loss of $194 million with the following results on our capital
ratios:

June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Actual Proforma® Actual Proforma®
Total shareholders equity to total 8SSEtS..........oeeeerererciererecee e 10.50% 10.43% 9.14% 9.10%
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets.........ccovveevreenen. 11.77 11.70 10.33 10.27

@ Proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.
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Market Risk Management Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, including foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices, interest rates, credit spreads and equity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios. Exposure
to market risk is separated into two portfolios:

»  Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market-making and warehousing of customer-derived positions.

* Non-trading portfolios comprise positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of our retail and
commercia banking assets and liabilities and financial investments classified as available-for-sale and hel d-to-maturity.

There have been no material changes to our approach towards market risk management since December 31, 2014. See “Risk
Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to market risk.

Value at Risk VaR isatechnique that estimates the potential 10sses on risk positions as aresult of movementsin market rates and
prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. VaR is calculated for all trading positions and non-trading
positions which are equally sensitive to market moves regardless of how we capitalize those exposures. VAR is calculated at a
99 percent confidence level for a one-day holding period.

Trading Portfolios Trading VaR generates from the Global Markets unit of the GB&M business segment. Portfolios are mainly
comprised of foreign exchange products, interest rate swaps, credit derivatives, precious metals(i.e. gold, silver, platinum) in both
North America and emerging markets.

Daily VaR (trading portfolios), 99% 1 day (in millions):

The following table summarizes our trading VaR for the six months ended June 30, 2015:

Foreign
exchange and Portfolio
commodity Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)

At June 30, 2015......ccoireene e $ 5 % 3 % 5 % 9 $ 4
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

AVEIAZE.......oiiiicie s 5 5 8 (11) 7
MEXTMUM....oviiiriieneeeeee e 6 10 15 10
MINIMUM e 2 5 4
At December 31, 2014 .........cccoeeverveerererieeinens $ 5 % 3 3 6 $ 8 $ 6

@ Portfolio diversification is the market risk dispersion effect of holding a portfolio containing different risk types. It represents the reduction in unsystematic
market risk that occurs when combining a number of different risk types, for example, foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread, together in one
portfolio. It is measured as the difference between the sum of the VaR by individua risk type and the combined total VaR. A negative number represents the
benefit of portfolio diversification. Asthe maximum and minimum occur on different daysfor different risk types, it isnot meaningful to calculate aportfolio
diversification benefit for these measures.

@ Thetotal VaR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects. For presentation purposes, portfolio diversification of the VaR for trading
portfolios includes VaR-based risk-not-in-VaR.

Backtesting In the six months ended June 30, 2015, we experienced one backtesting exception. This loss exception occurred in
January when the Swiss Central Bank surprised the markets and lifted the Swiss Franc currency peg to the Euro. The move of the
currency pair was more extreme than any dates used in the historical VaR calculation.

We daily validate the accuracy of our VaR models by back-testing them against hypothetical profit and loss that excludes non-
model ed items such asfees, commissions and revenues of intra-day transactions from the actual reported profit and loss. We would
expect on average to see two to three profits, and two to three losses, in excess of VaR at the 99 percent confident level over aone-
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year period. The actual number of profits or losses in excess of VaR over this period can therefore be used to gauge how well the
models are performing. To ensure a conservative approach to calculating our risk exposures, it isimportant to note that profitsin
excess of VaR are only considered when backtesting the accuracy of models and are not used to cal culate the VaR numbers used
for risk management or capital purposes.

Backtesting of trading VaR against our hypothetical profit and loss (in millions):

Non-trading Portfolios Non-trading VaR predominantly relates to Balance Sheet Management ("BSM™) and represents the
potential negative changesin the investment portfolio market value (which includes available for sale and held to maturity assets)
and associated hedges. Our investment portfolio holdings are mainly comprised of U.S. Treasuries and U.S. agency mortgage
backed securities. Our non-trading VaR exposure is driven by interest rates, mortgage spreads, and asset swap spreads.

The following table summarizes our non-trading VaR for the six months ended June 30, 2015:

Portfolio
Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)

AL JUNE 30, 2015 .ot e e eee e seeneeseesenn $ 38 $ 27 $ (14) $ 51
Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

AVEIAGE .....cocvviiit et 47 29 (22) 54
IVEBXTMIUIM ...ttt sttt se e 65 37 65
IMINEMUM ettt e 30 24 38
AL DECEMBDEN 31, 2014 ...t $ 47 % 26 $ 28) $ 45

@ Refer to the Trading VaR table above for additional information.

Non-trading VaR also includesthe interest rate risk of non-trading financial assets and liabilities held by the global businesses and
transferred priced into BSM which has the mandate to centrally manage and hedge it. For a broader discussion on how interest
rate risk is managed, please refer to the “ Risk Management - Interest Rate Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Trading Portfolio MSRs Trading occursin mortgage banking operations as a result of an economic hedging program intended to
offset changes in the value of mortgage servicing rights. Economic hedging may include, for example, forward contracts to sell
residential mortgages and derivative instruments used to protect the value of MSRs.

MSRs are assets that represent the present value of net servicing income (servicing fees, ancillary income, escrow and deposit
float, net of servicing costs). MSRs are separately recognized upon the sale of the underlying loans or at the time that servicing
rights are purchased. MSRs are subject to interest rate risk, in that their value will decline as a result of actual and expected
acceleration of prepayment of the underlying loansin afalling interest rate environment.

Interest rate risk is mitigated through an active hedging program that uses trading securities and derivative instruments to offset
changes in value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using a number
of risk assessment techniques.
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Thefollowing table reflects the modeling techniques, primarily rate shock analyses, used to monitor certain interest rate scenarios
for their impact on the economic value of net hedged M SRs:

June 30, December 31,
2015 2014
(in millions)
Projected change in net market value of hedged M SRs portfolio (reflects projected rate
movements on July 1 and January 1):

Value of hedged M SRS POIFOlI0.......ccueuiieirieiriere bbb $ 158 $ 159
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve:

Change limit (N0 WOISE than) ..........ccouueiiueiiiciici s (10) (10)

Calculated change in net market ValUe.............coocovviiiiiiiiii s ) —
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point increase in the yield curve:

Change limit (N0 WOrSe than) ..........ccoviiiiiiiii s 4) 4

Calculated change in Net Market VAIUE...........ccooviiiiiiiic e 1 —
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve:

Change limit (N0 WOrSE than) ..........couueiiueiiiciici s (6) (6)

Calculated change in net Market VAIUE.............ooiieecicecece e 5 3

The economic value of the net hedged M SRs portfolio is monitored on adaily basis for interest rate sensitivity. If the economic
value declines by more than established limits for one day or one month, various levels of management review, intervention and/
or corrective actions are required.

The following table summarizes the frequency distribution of the weekly economic value of the M SR asset during the six months
ended June 30, 2015. This includes the change in the market value of the MSR asset net of changes in the market value of the
underlying hedging positions used to hedge the asset. The changesin economic value are adjusted for changesin M SR valuation
assumptions that were made during the course of the year.

Below $(2) $0 $2 Over
Ranges of mortgage economic value from market risk-related activities $(2) to $0 to $2 to $4 $4

(dollars are in millions)

Number of trading weeks market risk-related revenue was within
the StAted FraNQE........ocveee e — 8 18 — —

Fiduciary Risk To better position the Fiduciary Risk Officer/Specialist to oversee fiduciary compliance across the fiduciary
businesses in a more consistent manner, the Fiduciary Risk Officer/Specialist transitioned from reporting to the U.S. Head of
Operationa Risk to reporting to the U.S. Head of Regulatory Compliance beginning in 2015. Further, the Fiduciary Risk
Management Committeeis now chaired by the U.S. Head of Regulatory Compliance. There have been no other material changes
to our approach toward fiduciary risk since December 31, 2014.

Operational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward operational risk since December 31, 2014.
Compliance Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward compliance risk since December 31, 2014.
Reputational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward reputational risk since December 31, 2014.
Strategic Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward strategic risk since December 31, 2014.

Security and Fraud Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward security and fraud risk since December
31, 2014.

Model Risk There have been no material changes to our approach to model risk since December 31, 2014.
Pension Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward pension risk since December 31, 2014.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

Thefollowing table summarizes the quarter-to-date and year-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets,
liahilities and shareholders equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid, presented on ataxable
equivalent basis, which resulted in increases to interest income on securities of $2 million and $6 million during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, and increases to interest income on securities of $4 million and $8 million during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively. Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net interest income by the
average interest earning assets from which interest income is earned. Loan interest for the three and six months ended June 30,
2015 included fees of $18 million and $33 million, respectively, compared with fees of $15 million and $34 million during the

three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits With Danks ...........ccccoveeenieeeninieenereens . $ 35270 $ 23 26% $ 27,229 17 .26%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements.............. 3,179 3 42 1,525 3 .69
Trading SECUMTIES ...ttt 12,433 91 2.92 12,060 65 214
Securities 48,702 225 1.85 48,183 198 1.65
Loans:
COMMENCIB] ...ttt 62,763 334 213 52,156 295 227
Consumer:
Residential MOMQagES ........c.erereeueerireee sttt 17,171 142 3.32 16,019 136 343
HOME eqUity MOMJAgES. .....c.covrveueeririeiereeieieeree ettt 1,705 14 3.27 1,928 16 3.35
CrEAIL CAITS........ceeeeeceeteereeee et 684 18 10.60 677 17 10.07
OthEr CONSUMES ......oviiireteietie et 512 7 5.70 545 7 5.30
TOtEl CONSUME ...t 20,072 181 3.63 19,169 176 371
TOAl TOBNS... ettt 82,835 515 2.49 71,325 471 2.65
OLNEY ..t 2,685 14 2.16 3,314 12 1.29
Total INtErest arniNg aSSELS........covrreririeererieeeres et seenas 185,104 $ 871 1.89% 163,636 766 1.88%
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ...t (689) (559)
Cash and due from DanKS ..........ccccieeiieicire e 876 938
OLNEN @SSELS......vueeeeeieeteeretie ettt 15,453 21,173
TOLAI ASSELS ...ttt "$ 200,744 '$ 185,188
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Depositsin domestic offices:
SAVINGS AEPOSIES ......ovueeeieiicie ettt nnenas $ 44507 $ 20 19% $ 43,049 13 .12%
THIME OEPOSIES. ..ttt ettt 26,855 28 43 18,416 20 A4
Other interest bearing dePOSItS. ..ot 4,579 3 .25 4,060 1 .10
Depositsin foreign offices:
Foreign banks dEPOSITS. ......c.coirururiririrererieiee e 6,695 1 .03 6,846 — .03
Other interest bearing dePOSItS. .......ccoreirrireiree e 4,959 2 13 5,808 2 A1
Total interest DEAriNG dEPOSITS. ......c.cueeririeirerireiree e 87,595 54 .25 78,179 36 .19
ShOrt-term DOMTOWINGS .....c.cveririreeiee e 16,941 11 .25 24,505 10 .16
LONG-OMM DL ...ttt 30,121 173 2.30 22,426 152 272
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ..o 134,657 238 71 125,110 198 .64
Tax liabilities and OthEr ..........ocieeureeieeirc e 705 5 1.92 1,065 (1209) (41.18)
Total interest bearing [1abilities..........cccveeiiricercceee e 135,362 243 72 126,175 89 .28
Net interest income/Interest rate spread $ 628 1.17% 677 1.60%
NONINtErest DEAIMNG QEPOSILS.........coervveereseeeeeeseeeseseseesesseeeseesseeseessseesseeseeeeens 31015 — 29,728 -
Other [18DIITIES......cveieeeeerictee e 12,426 12,440
Total sharehOlders’ EQUILY.........cccrirureerrieererire et 21,041 16,845
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity...........cccccevrerrrreenseeeeeeieens "$ 200,744 "$ 185,188
Net interest Margin on average EarNiNg aSSELS ................vveereeeeereerseeeseeseesnne - 1.36% 1.66%
Net interest income to average total @SSELS.........oveirereeririsenenire e T 1.26% T 146%
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2015 2014
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits With banks ............ccccviriincce $ 33,005 $ 42 26% $ 24446 $ 31 .26%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements.............. 2,530 6 48 1,387 5 .65
Trading SECUMTIES ....ceuvevreersiieceti et 13,432 186 2.79 12,319 113 184
SECUMTIES ..ottt bbb 48,102 429 1.80 52,124 409 1.58
Loans:
COMMENCIBL ..ot 61,554 654 2.14 50,819 582 231
Consumer:
Residential MOMGAgES ........cuuverieemerreieintiie e 17,036 283 3.35 15,988 272 3.43
HOME EQUItY MOMgagES......cvrvreerererireeereeiereesee e see e ssesene s 1,725 28 3.32 1,949 33 3.40
CrEit CAITS.......vvevreeeeee ettt 687 37 10.79 687 34 10.08
Other consumer ... . 519 14 5.64 551 14 521
TOtEl CONSUMET ...ttt 19,967 362 3.66 19,175 353 3.72
TOLA 1OBNS.....ooeetie et 81,521 1,016 251 69,994 935 2.70
Other ..o . 2,981 29 1.92 3,436 22 124
Total iNtErest @arNING ASSELS.......vuevreerreeerererrerererereereseressesesseessesssssessesssssessensanens 181,571 $ 1,708 1.90% 163,706 $ 1,515 1.87%
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ........ovirreririrerrrs s (690) (575)
Cash and due from banks..... . 875 949
ONEE BSSELS......ucvevseeeitiese sttt 16,089 21,207
TOAI @SSELS ...ttt m m
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Depositsin domestic offices:
SAVINGS AEPOSITS ... $ 43782 % 35 16% $ 43025 $ 26 .12%
Time deposits.........coceveenenees . 26,940 57 43 16,702 39 A7
Other interest bearing dePOSITS........c.ceurveieiririririeieeei e 4,501 4 17 4,059 2 12
Depositsin foreign offices:
Foreign banks dePOSIES.........covi e 6,812 1 .03 7,579 1 .03
Other interest bearing deposits 4,232 3 13 5,519 3 12
Total interest bearing dePOSIES.........ovurvrererirrerirerereres s 86,267 100 .23 76,884 71 .19
Short-term borrowings . 16,951 22 .25 25,354 16 13
LONG-EM AL ...ttt 30,378 340 2.26 22,620 322 2.87
Totd interest bearing deposits and debt ...........cvvvrererirricrreeee s 133,596 462 .69 124,858 409 .66
Tax liahilitiesand other..........ccocvverneee . 762 8 1.81 1,075 (94) (17.67)
Total interest bearing liaDilitieS..........covvvverirrecrre s 134,358 470 .70 125,933 315 .50
Net interest income/Interest rate spread $ 1,238 1.20% $ 1,200 1.37%
Noninterest bearing deposits 31,104 — - 2992 —
Other @I lItIES.......cveeereceiiee s 13,216 12,630
Total shareh0lders’ EQUITY.........cvuverererereriresirersreses et 19,167 16,772
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity.... . m m
Net interest Margin on average €arning aSSELS ...............ovveeerreeesssreessssseeenne - 1.38% ~ 1.48%
Net interest income to average total assetS.........coovveverererereneniresissenessesesenenens T 1.26% T 131%

@ Rates are calculated on amounts that have not been rounded to the nearest million.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item isincluded within Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operationsin the Risk Management section under the captions "Interest Rate Risk” and "Market Risk".

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities
ExchangeAct of 1934, asamended (the "Exchange Act"), isrecorded, processed, summarized and reported on atimely basis. Our
Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent non-executive directors,
provides oversight to our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by thisreport. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by thisreport so asto alert themin atimely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There hasbeen no changein our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2015 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

PART II

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 19, “Litigation and Regulatory Matters,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements beginning on page 75
for our legal proceedings disclosure, which isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosures pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each
i ssuer registered with the SEC to discloseinitsannual or quarterly reportswhether it or any of itsaffiliateshave knowingly engaged
in specified activities or transactions with persons or entitiestargeted by U.S. sanctions programsrelating to Iran, terrorism, or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the
U.S. by non-U.S. affiliatesin compliance with local laws and regulations.

In order to comply with this requirement, HSBC has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period
covered by thisForm 10-Q, HSBC USA Inc. did not engagein any activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section
13(r) other than those activities related to frozen accounts and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs
described under “ Frozen Accounts and Transactions” below. The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in
response to Section 13(r):

Loans in repayment Between 2001 and 2005, the Project and Export Financedivision of the HSBC Group arranged or participated
in aportfolio of loans to Iranian energy companies and banks. All of these |oans were guaranteed by European and Asian export
credit agencies, and they have varied maturity dateswith final maturity in 2018. For thoseloansthat remain outstanding, the HSBC
Group continues to seek repayment in accordance with its obligations to the supporting export credit agencies and, in all cases,
with appropriate regulatory approvals. Details of these loans follow.

At June 30, 2015, the HSBC Group had 11 loans outstanding to an Iranian petrochemical company. These loans are supported by
the official Export Credit Agencies of the following countries: the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain, The Netherlands,
South Korea and Japan. The HSBC Group continues to seek repayments from the company under the existing loansin accordance
with the original maturity profiles. All repayments made by the Iranian company have received alicense or an authorization from
relevant authorities.
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Bank Mélli and Bank Saderat acted as sub-participants in three of the aforementioned loans. The repayments due to these banks
under the loan agreements were paid into frozen accounts under licenses or authorizations from relevant European governments.
No such payments were made in the second quarter of 2015.

Relevant authorizations have been obtained from the competent authorities of the European Union with respect to the above
transactions.

Estimated gross revenue to the HSBC Group generated by theseloansin repayment for the second quarter of 2015, which includes
interest and fees, was approximately $261,000, and net estimated profit was approximately $190,000. While the HSBC Group
intends to continue to seek repayment under the existing loans, it does not intend to extend any new loans.

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guaranteesto anumber
of itsnon-lranian customersin Europe and the Middle East for various business activitiesin Iran. In anumber of cases, the HSBC
Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees
required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities
included Bank Tejarat, Bank Mélli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

The HSBC Group has worked with relevant regulatory authorities to obtain licenses where required and ensure compliance with
laws and regul ationswhil e seeking to cancel the guarantees and counter indemnities. Nonewere cancel ed during the second quarter
of 2015 and approximately 20 remain outstanding.

There was no measurable gross revenue to the HSBC Group for the second quarter of 2015 under those guarantees. The HSBC
Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The
HSBC Group is seeking to cancel al relevant guarantees and does not intend to provide any new guarantees involving Iran.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S. -sanctioned I ranian banks not covered el sawherein thisdisclosure
includes the following:

*  TheHSBC Groupmaintainsseveral frozenaccountsintheU.K. foranlranian-owned, U.K.-regulated financial institution.
InApril 2007, the U.K. government issued alicense to allow the HSBC Group to handle certain transactions (operational
payments and settlement of pre-sanction transactions) for thisinstitution. In December 2013, the U.K. government issued
a new license allowing the HSBC Group to deposit certain check payments. There was some licensed activity in the
second quarter of 2015. Estimated counter revenue to the HSBC Group in the second quarter of 2015 for this financial
institution, which includes fees and/or commissions, was approximately $(53,000). This customer relationship has
generated negative revenue to the HSBC Group, given a negative interest rate assessed by the European Central Bank.
The HSBC Group is currently paying the negative interest rate on behalf of its customers. In the second quarter of 2015,
the HSBC Group wasissued alicense from the U.K. government to collect the negative interest rate from thisinstitution
and will commence collecting the negative interest rate in the third quarter of 2015.

* TheHSBC Group actsasthetrustee and administrator for apension schemeinvolving two employeesof aU.S.-sanctioned
Iranian bank in Hong Kong. Under the rules of these schemes, the HSBC Group accepts contributions from the Iranian
bank each month and allocates the fundsinto the pension accounts of the Iranian bank employees. The HSBC Group runs
and operates the pension scheme in accordance with Hong Kong laws and regulations. Estimated gross revenue to the
HSBC Group in the second quarter of 2015 generated by this pension scheme, which includes fees and/or commission,
was approximately $860.

For the Iranian bank activity discussed in this section, the HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions
and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The HSBC Group intends to continue to wind down this Iranian
bank-related activity and not enter into any new such activity.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13224 The HSBC Group maintainsafrozen personal account for anindividual sanctioned
under Executive Order 13224, and by the U.K. and the U.N. Security Council. Activity on this account in the second quarter of
2015 was permitted by alicenseissued by the U.K. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profits generated in the second
quarter of 2015.

The HSBC Group maintained an account for an individual customer that was sanctioned under Executive Order 13224 in the
second quarter of 2015. The HSBC Group settled the outstanding credit bal ance due from the customer and closed the account in
the second quarter of 2015. There was no gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group in the second quarter of 2015.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13382 In the second quarter of 2015, the HSBC Group maintained non-U.S. currency
accounts for an individual customer sanctioned under Executive Order 13382. The HSBC Group isin the process of exiting the
customer relationship. There was no gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group in the second quarter of 2015.

Other activity The HSBC Group holds alease of branch premisesin London which it entered into in 2005 and is due to expirein
2020. Thelandlord of the premisesisowned by the Iranian government and isaspecially designated national under U.S. sanctions
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programs. The HSBC Group has exercised abreak clausein thelease and isin the process of exiting the property. Therelationship
will be terminated in 2015 and the HSBC Group closed the branch in the third quarter of 2014. There was no gross revenue or net
profit to HSBC in the second quarter of 2015.

The HSBC Group maintains an account for a corporate customer in France that made a payment to the Iranian Civil Aviation
Authority to settle flight-related expenses. This activity was permitted by alicenseissued by France. There was no gross revenue
or net profits to HSBC in the second quarter of 2015.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA maintain several accounts that are frozen under
relevant sanctions programs and on which no activity, except as licensed or otherwise authorized, took place during the second
quarter of 2015. In the second quarter of 2015, the HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA also froze payments where required under
relevant sanctions programs. There was no gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group or HSBC Bank USA.

Item 6. Exhibits

3(1)

3(ii)

12

31

32

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3
(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3 to
HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits 3.2
and 3.3to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006).

Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 29, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2015).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred
Stock Dividends.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document™

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document®

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document™
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document®
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document®

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document®

@ pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2015, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive datafiles: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015
and 2014, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders
Equity for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014,
and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Index

Assets:
by business segment 45
consolidated average balances 136
fair value measurements 59
nonperforming 19, 24, 26, 116
trading 10, 87
Asset-backed commercia paper conduits 50
Asset-backed securities 11, 61, 73, 128
Balance sheet:
consolidated 5
consolidated average balances 136
review 84
Basel | 120
Basel Il 121
Basel 111 48,120
Basis of reporting 83
Business:
consolidated performance review 80
Capital:
2015 funding strategy 123
common equity movements 120
consolidated statement of changes 7
regulatory capital 47
selected capital ratios 48, 81, 121, 132
Cash flow (consolidated) 8
Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements 78
Collateral — pledged assets 55
Collateralized debt obligations 68, 73, 128
Commercial banking segment results (IFRSs) 46, 103
Compliancerisk 129, 135
Controls and procedures 138
Credit card fees 93
Credit quality 110
Credit risk:
adjustment 57
component of fair value option 38
concentration 26, 117
exposure 129
management 129
related contingent features 35
related arrangements 51
Current environment 80
Deferred tax assets 101
Deposits 88, 120
Derivatives:
cash flow hedges 33
fair value hedges 32
notional value 36
trading and other 34
Equity:
consolidated statement of changes 7
ratios 48, 81, 121, 132

Equity securities available-for-sale 11
Estimates and assumptions 9
Executive overview 80

Fair value measurements:

assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on arecurring basis 61

assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis 70

control over valuation process 126
financial instruments 59
hierarchy 57, 126
transfersinto/out of level one and two 63
transfersinto/out of level two and three 63
valuation techniques 71
Fiduciary risk 129, 135
Financial assets:
designated at fair value 36
reclassification under IFRSs 46, 83
Financial highlights metrics 80
Financial liabilities:
designated at fair value 36
fair value of financial liabilities 59
Forward looking statements 78
Funding 123

Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives 38

Gains (losses) from securities 15, 93
Global Banking and Markets 46, 105
Geographic concentration of receivables 118
Goodwill 30
Guarantee arrangements 51
Impairment:
available-for-sale securities 14
credit losses 27, 91
nonperforming loans 19, 24, 26, 116
impaired loans 20, 23

Income (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value, net 38

Income tax expenses 3, 101
Intangible assets 29
Interest rate risk 129, 131
Interna control 138
Key performance indicators 80
Legal proceedings 138
Liabilities:
commitments, lines of credit 124
deposits 88, 120

financial liabilities designated at fair value 36

trading 10, 87
long-term debt 37, 42, 59, 88, 120
short-term borrowings 37, 42, 59, 88, 120
Liquidity and capital resources 119
Liquidity risk 129, 130
Litigation and regulatory matters 75
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Loans:
by category 17, 85
by charge-off (net) 27, 115
by delinquency 25, 113
criticized assets 24
geographic concentration 118
held for sale 28
impaired 20
nonperforming 19, 24, 26, 103
overal review 84
risk concentration 26, 117
troubled debt restructures 20

Loan impairment charges — see Provision for credit losses

Loan-to-deposits ratio 81
Loantovaue (LTV) 85
Market risk 129, 133
Market turmoil:
exposures 133
impact on liquidity risk 119
Monolineinsurers 14, 127
Mortgage lending products 17, 85
Mortgage servicing rights 29
Net interest income 89
New accounting pronouncements 77
Off balance sheet arrangements 124
Operating expenses 98
Operational risk 129, 135
Other revenue 93
Other segment results (IFRSs) 46, 108
Pension and other postretirement benefits 41
Performance, developments and trends 80
Pledged assets 55
Private banking segment results (IFRSs) 46, 107
Profit (loss) before tax:
by segment — IFRSs 46
consolidated 3
Provision for credit losses 27, 91
Ratios:
capital 48, 81, 121, 132
charge-off (net) 80, 111
credit lossreserve related 111
delinquency 113
earnings to fixed charges — Exhibit 12
efficiency 80, 99
Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP resultsto IFRSs 83
Refreshed loan-to-value 85
Regulation 47, 120, 138
Related party transactions 42

Reputational risk 129, 135
Results of operations 89
Residential Mortgage Revenue 97

Retail banking and wealth management segment results (IFRSs) 46, 102

Risk elements in the loan portfolio 117
Risk management:
credit 129
compliance 129, 135
fiduciary 129, 135
interest rate 129, 131
liquidity 129, 130
market 129, 133
model 129, 135
operational 129, 135
pension 129, 135
reputational 129, 135
security and fraud risk 129, 135
strategic 129, 135
Securities:
amortized cost 11
fair value 11
impairment 14
maturity analysis 16
Segment results - IFRSs basis:
retail banking and wealth management 46, 102
commercial banking 46, 103
global banking and markets 46, 105
private banking 46, 107
other 46, 108
overall summary 46, 102
Selected financial data 80
Sensitivity:
projected net interest income 131
Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 7
Statement of changes in comprehensiveincome 4
Statement of income 3
Strategic risk 129, 135
Stresstesting 119, 121
Table of contents 2
Tax expense 3, 101
Trading:
assets 10, 87
derivatives 10, 87
liabilities 10, 87
portfolios 10
Trading revenue (net) 95
Troubled debt restructures 20
Valueat risk 133
Variableinterest entities 49
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC USA Inc. has duly caused thisreport to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 3, 2015

HSBC USA INC.

By: /s MARK ZAESKE
Mark Zaeske
Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financia Officer
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Exhibit Index
3(i) Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3
to HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits
3.2 and 3.3to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC
USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006).
3(ii) Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 29, 2015 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2015).
12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and
Preferred Stock Dividends.
31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document”
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document”
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document®
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document”
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document™®
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document®

@ Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2015, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive datafiles: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015
and 2014, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders
Equity for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and 2014,
and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HSBC USA INC.
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Six Months Ended June 30,
2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)
Ratios excluding interest on deposits:

INncome from CONtINUING OPEFaLiONS........ccveuiiieirieeeriee ettt sttt b $ 251 $ 283
INcome taX eXPENSE (DENEFIL) ..vviveieiicieresee e sne e eenrens 174 (57)
Less: Undistributed eqUItY EaIMINGS........ccoureriririrere st e s sbe b e et e seenean — —
Fixed charges:

Interest on:
S o a1 0 000111 SRS 22 16
LONG-TEIM AEDL ...ttt bbb e e e 340 322
ONEISP .ottt 8 (94)
One third of rents, net of income from SUDIEASES............coiriiiiiieie e 14 14
Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dEPOSIES........cccvvvreriereririere e 384 258
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges, net of undistributed equity
L2 T 1T o ST SESTTS ST ST 809 484
Ratio of earningSto fiXed CharQgesS. ... ..oooi e e 2.11 1.88
Total preferred stock dividend FACIOr™ ............c..oviieeeeeeeeeeeee et eees $ 57 $ 59
Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor ... $ 441 $ 317
Ratio of earnings from continuing operations to combined fixed charges and preferred stock
(0T =00 L 1.83 1.53

Ratios including interest on deposits:

Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dePOSITS.........cccvveiririririereeree s $ 384 % 258
Add: INLErESt ON AEPOSITS. ....cueieiiteie ettt et e se et e et be st sbesbesbeseesbesbeseans 100 71
Total fixed charges, including interest 0N dePOSITS.........ccvirriririrrereeree s $ 484 $ 329

Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges, net of undistributed

S U= 1 T o SRR $ 809 $ 484
Add: INEErESt ON AEPOSITS. ....cueitiiieie ettt st s se e et se b s st ebesbesbeseesbesbeseans 100 71
10 1 $ 909 $ 555
Ratio of earningSto fiXed Charges. ..o e 1.88 1.69
Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor ..........ccoeveeecercccecc e $ 441 % 317
Add: INEErESt ON AEPOSITS. ....ceeieiieie ittt st e e e et sesae st ebesbesbeseesbesbeseans 100 71
Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor and interest on deposits................... $ 541 $ 388
Ratio of earnings from continuing operations to combined fixed charges and preferred stock
TIVIGENAS ...t bbbt e et e b bt e bRt s b 1.68 1.43

@ Preferred stock dividends grossed up to their pretax equivalents.

@ During the second quarter of 2014, we concluded certain state and local tax audits resulting in the settlement of significant uncertain tax positions covering
anumber of years. As aresult, we released tax reserves previously maintained in relation to the periods and issues under review. In addition, we released
our accrued interest associated with the tax reserves released which resulted in a$120 million benefit to interest expense in 2014.



EXHIBIT 31

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financia statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure control s and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 3, 2015

/9 PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Mark Zaeske, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financia reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financia reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the eff ectiveness of the disclosure controlsand procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materialy affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financia reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financia reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknessesin the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 3, 2015

/s MARK ZAESKE

Mark Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: August 3, 2015

/s PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Mark Zaeske, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: August 3, 2015

/94 MARK ZAESKE

Mark Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to

HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



	Cover Page
	Table of Contents
	Part I
	Item€1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)
	Consolidated Statement of Income
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Balance Sheet
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	1. Organization and Presentation
	2. Trading Assets and Liabilities
	3. Securities
	4. Loans
	5. Allowance for Credit Losses
	6. Loans Held for Sale
	7. Intangible Assets
	8. Goodwill
	9. Derivative Financial Instruments
	10. Fair Value Option
	11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
	12. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
	13. Related Party Transactions
	14. Business Segments
	15. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements
	16. Variable Interest Entities
	17. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Collateral
	18. Fair Value Measurements
	19. Litigation and Regulatory Matters
	20. New Accounting Pronouncements


	Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Forward-Looking Statements
	Executive Overview
	Basis of Reporting
	Balance Sheet Review
	Results of Operations
	Segment Results - Group Reporting Basis
	Credit Quality
	Liquidity and Capital Resources
	Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations
	Fair Value
	Risk Management
	Consolidated Average Balances and Interest Rates

	Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
	Item 4. Controls and Procedures

	Part II
	Item 1. Legal Proceedings
	Item 5. Other Information
	Item 6. Exhibits

	Index
	Signatures
	Exhibit Index
	Exhibit 12
	Exhibit 31 - CEO Patrick Burke
	Exhibit 31 - CFO Mark Zaeske
	Exhibit 32 - CEO Patrick Burke
	Exhibit 32 - CFO Mark Zaeske

